

# **D2WARN System Manual**



# For: Public Television Stations Project: D2WARN

Rev. 11, August 2023

Main Support Contact: Jessica Colyer, Director Customer Care D2D Technologies Office.904-323-4777x105 Mobile/text.619-248-0618 jessica.colyer@d2dtechnologies D2DTechnologies.com D2 Care Customer Portal (JIRA): https://d2dtech.atlassian.net/servicedesk/customer/portal/1

# Contents

1	GETT	ING STARTED	5
1.1		INTRODUCTION	5
1.2		FEATURES	5
1.3		Manual	5
1.4		REQUIREMENTS	6
1.5		WARN CARD LAYOUT	6
1.6		Additional installation requirements	7
1.7		POWERING UP	7
1.8		INSTALLATION	7
1.9		BACKPLANE AND CONNECTORS	8
1.10	)	D2WARN TCP/IP - CONTROL PORT SETUP	8
1.11	-	IP ADDRESSES AND LOGIN INFO	9
1.12	2	SETTING UP THE SATELLITE RECEIVER CARDS	9
1.13	3	Assigning the IP address for the openGear Frame	11
1.14	ŀ	SETTING UP THE OPENGEAR INTERNAL IP ADDRESS AND SYSTEM GATEWAY	13
1.15	5	IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth 1" Port (Rear Panel)	13
1.16	, ,	GENERAL SETTINGS	14
1.17	7	SNMP SETTINGS	15
1.18	}	SETTING THE NTP SERVER IP ADDRESS (IF APPLICABLE) OR MANUALLY SETTING THE TIME	16
1.19	)	RESTARTING, SHUTTING DOWN, AND RESETTING THE GROOMER	17
1.20	)	SET THE IP ADDRESSES AND SNMP COMMUNITY NAMES OF THE CARDS THE GROOMER NEEDS TO COMMUNICATE WITH.	18
1.21	-	TAKING THE SYSTEM OUT OF BYPASS - ACTIVATING THE SYSTEM AND PUTTING IT INTO OPERATION	19
2	CONF	GURATIONS	22
<b>D</b> 1			าา
2.1		DZWARN ASI SYSTEM CONFIGURATION	22
2.2			22
2.3		A SEE AN OVER A TION	22
2.4	211	ASI FAILOVER CONFIGURATIONS	23 25
	2.4.1	ASI Flow – Fullover Role Prilliury	23 25
	2.4.2	ASI Flow – Fullover Role Duckup	25 26
	2.4.5	ASI Flow – Fullover Role None (Externul Fullover)	20 20
	2.4.4	ASI Flow – Fullover Role Dypuss	20 20
	2.4.5	ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input	2) 20
	2.4.0	ASI Flow - Fullover Role Fillingy - No Broadcast Video Input	20 20
	2.4.7	Asi riow - runover Kole buckup - No broducust video input	21
	2.4.0	SMDTE-210 IN and /or OUT	25 25
25	2.4.7	WIRELESS FMERCENCY ALERT (WFA) SETTINGS	36
2.5	251	Satellite Dish and WARN System in Senarate Locations	30
	2.5.1	L-Rand from the LNR or L-Rand over Fiber Link	37 37
	2.5.3	ASI	37
	2.5.4	TSoIP	39
	2.5.5	ASI and TSoIP	39
	2.5.6	Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds)	39
	2.5.7	Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes)	40
	2.5.8	PID Replacement Options	40
3	OPER	ATION	42
4	FAILS	AFE AND INTERNAL FAILOVER	46
11			۔ مر
4.1 17		AUTERNAL ACI DALLONER	±0 Λ (
4.2 1 2		INTERNAL AST FAILUVER	+0 1 -
4.3 1.1		CONCLUDATIONS WITH FAILOVED SUDDODT	+0 17
т.т 4 Г		CONFIGURATIONS WITH FAILOVER SUFFORT	т/ Д7
т.Ј		GONTIGURATIONS WITH FAILOVER AND FAILSAFE SUFFORT	т/

4.6	EXTERNAL FAILOVER CONFIGURATION	47
5 N	MONITORING	
5.1	FRONT PANEL LED COLOR INDICATORS	48
5.2	D2WARN STATUS VIA THE GUI	
5.3	SNMP System Monitoring and Alerts	52
5.4	SNMP STATUS	54
6 L	JPGRADING THE GROOMER CARDS	55
6.1	PROCEDURE (FOR ASI INTERNAL FAILOVER CONFIGURATION)	55
7 A	ADDING FRAMES TO DASHBOARD, UPDATING THE FRAME FIRMWARE, AND CONFIGURING THE FRA	ME
LIGH	T BAR	
7.1	INSTALLING DASHBOARD	57
7.2	ADDING AN OPENGEAR FRAME USING THE AUTOMATIC DETECTION FEATURE	
7.3	MANUALLY ADDING OPENGEAR FRAMES TO DASHBOARD	
7.4	DETERMINING THE SOFTWARE AND FIRMWARE VERSION	
7.5	UPDATING THE SOFTWARE AND FIRMWARE	
7.0		
<b>8</b> A	AG2600 SATELLITE RECEIVER	65
8.1	Setting the Date and Time	65
8.2	Uploading the Configuration File	66
8.3	ENTERING THE PBS SATELLITE PARAMETERS	69
8.4	DVB-S2 INPUT SPECIFICATIONS	70
8.5	SNMP	70
8.6	PID Filter	71
9 F	RESETTING THE SATELLITE RECEIVER TO FACTORY DEFAULTS	74
10	INTERCONNECT PORTS	75
11	REPLACING A BATTERY IN THE GROOMER CARD	
12	FFATURES PAGE	77
12	DEFECT MANACEMENT AND BLICS	78
10 4		
13.1	REPORTING BUGS, DEFECTS, ISSUES AND PROBLEMS	
13.2	D2D TECHNOLOGIES CONTACT	
14	TROUBLESHOOTING	
14.1	SYSTEM IS UNRESPONSIVE AND THE LIGHT BAR IS FLASHING RED	79
14.2	Wrong IP Address Entered, or You Can No Longer Communicate with the Groomer Cards	79
14.3	IP Address of the Groomer is Unknown	80
14.4	PSU Error	80
14.5	LOUD ALARM EMANATING FROM THE FRONT PANEL	80
14.6	ENABLING AND DISABLING THE AUDIO ALARM	80
14.7	THE FRAME'S IP ADDRESS IS WRONG, OR THE GROOMER CANNOT COMMUNICATE WITH THE OPENGEAR FRAME	81
14.8	WRONG IP ADDRESS ENTERED, OR THE SATELLITE RECEIVER CARD IS CORRUPTED	84
14.9	SATELLITE RECEIVER NOT WORKING PROPERLY	85
14.10	DOWNLOADING THE SENCORE SATELLITE RECEIVER'S DIAGNOSTICS AND LOGS	85
14.11	SWAPPING THE GROOMER CARDS	87
14.12	VIEWING AND DOWNLOADING THE GROOMER'S LOGS	
14.13	GROOMER LOG ALARM MESSAGES AND SNMP TRAP DESCRIPTIONS	90
14.14	SYSTEM FAILS OVER TO BACKUP GROOMER	92
14.15	GROOMER DIAGNOSTICS	92
15	FAN FILTER MAINTENANCE	93
15.1	CLEANING THE AIR FILTER	93
16	CYBER SECURITY	94
16.1	Overview	94

17	FAQS	103
16.5	CHANGING THE SNMP SETTINGS	99
16.4	TURNING OFF THE SENCORE RECEIVER'S SSH ACCESS	95
16.3	SETTING OR CHANGING THE SENCORE SATELLITE RECEIVER'S GUI PASSWORD	95
16.2	CHANGING THE GROOMER'S GUI PASSWORD	94

# **1 Getting Started**

# 1.1 Introduction

The second generation WARN system builds on the foundation of the first generation WARN equipment and adds significant improvements. The second generation system is contained in a single 2RU openGear frame, with complete failover protection, and ensures current and future FCC compliance.

The WARN system includes primary and backup hardware and operates transparently with no impact to your station's video and audio programs. Out of the box, it supports ASI, and optionally SMPTE 310.

### 1.2 Features

- Proven and reliable technology: The system is built around the D2Flex, a fourth generation digital video multiplexer with technology used in hundreds of broadcast stations worldwide
- The 2RU, rack mount openGear oGx frame can be customized as needed by stations to accommodate up to 10 cards
- The system design features a fully redundant satellite receiver and groomer pair that enables continuous monitoring and automatic failover from main to backup
- Failsafe ASI bypass protection ensures that the station programming is not interrupted or disrupted in any way discernable to viewers
- Fail to wire bypass in the event of power failure or groomer card failure
- Upgradable to support multiple transport streams, future enhancements, and ATSC 3.0
- Supports ASI, and can be optioned with SMPTE 310
- Browser interface for M&C, and SNMP status and traps for monitoring and alerting.
- Dual Hot Swappable 600W redundant power supplies and cooling for reliable 24/7 operation.
- User Manual stored on each Groomer which is updated with each firmware release so it is always current and available

## 1.3 Manual

After logging in, the current User's Manual stored on each Groomer may be accessed on the Main Page of the GUI (the D2WARN Status page) by clicking on **Support** on the left margin. See below. This will allow the user to download the manual on to the user's PC or view the manual on a separate tab of the GUI. The manual is updated with each new version of firmware. When new firmware is released, it contains the latest version of the User's Manual.

Instructions on how to log in to each groomer are provided in an upcoming section.

The latest version of the manual may always be found on D2D's web site: www.d2dtechnologies.com/d2warn

🤐 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B 🗙 🛛 🎜	AG2600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.16	8.2.205/d2warnstatus/index			Θ :
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234582	1075 Slot: 2		admin v D C D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 55.74 C 🕑	Max internal Te	mperature: 60.54 C 🕼	Uptime: 3 Days 00:17:12
System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Monitori	ng
Firmware	Broadcast Input 😧	Broadcast Output 😧	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🚱
Logs	18.649 0.74	5 18.649 0.745	[18.667 0.	745 18.666 0.745
+ Features	19.394 Mbps Input from Satellite Receiver @	19.394 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat @	19.412 Mbps Input from Satellite Receiver @	19.411 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat @
Support				
Diagnostics	66.827 Mbps	16s	66.885 Mbps	15s
	Last Alert Message: NONE		Never Dack to Finnary Grownia	
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 😧	Last Alert Message: NONE	
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 😧	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 😧
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 🚱	Groomer Pair Communications: 🕢	Power Supply 1:
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🛛	Alert Message Format: 😧 📃 🔵	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 😧
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 😧 🔹 🌒	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 🕜
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🛛	Video Pid Inserting: Ø	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱 🔹
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🕑	Video Pid Inserting:
			Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast:

Figure 1-1. Accessing the current User Manual

### **1.4 Requirements**

- 2 rack spaces, at least 16" deep with redundant power to install the openGear Frame.
- 5 static IP addresses on the facility's LAN that the openGear Frame will run on.
- 2 RF feeds from Galaxy-16, KU Vertical (a user supplied splitter can be used to feed both)
- A PC or MAC with Chrome, Firefox or Edge.
- ASI of the facility's broadcast stream immediately after the encoder and any PSIP generation, prior to any other data inserting devices (Datacasting, Water-markers, Nielson boxes, etc.).



Figure 1-2. openGear Frame, Front Facing with the Front Door Open.

### 1.5 WARN card layout

Slot 1: Empty – D2D Groomer A IO Card does use Slot 1 backplane.

Slot 2: D2D Groomer A card.

Slot 3 and 4: Sencore AG 2600 Satellite Receiver card A.

Slot 5 and 6: Empty.

Slot 7: Empty – D2D Groomer B IO Card does use Slot 7 backplane.

Slot 8: D2D Groomer B card.

Slot 9 and 10: Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver card B.

Slots 11 through 20: Empty.

NETWORK CONTROLLER

CARD

# Note: The Groomer cards should remain in their assigned slots. Do not attempt to swap the groomer cards without contacting D2D Customer Support.

There are two RF to BNC adapters supplied. These will go on the RF A input of the Satellite Receiver cards.

Also supplied are three BNC female to BNC female jumpers. These jumpers connect the Satellite Receivers to the groomers, and Groomer A ASI-1 OUT to Groomer B ASI-1 IN (internal failover only). The system is shipped with all adapters and cables pre-installed.

### 1.6 Additional installation requirements

The ROSS openGear oGx uses redundant power supplies and takes up two rack spaces. It is 16" deep.

You will need 5 IP addresses and 1 Ethernet cable from your LAN.

The two satellite receiver cards will also require an RF feed from Galaxy-16 Ku Band, Vertical. A user supplied L-Band splitter is required to feed both satellite receivers.

It is recommended that the D2WARN system is installed immediately after the encoder and any PSIP generation, prior to any other data inserting devices (Datacasting, Water-markers, Nielson boxes, etc.).

### 1.7 Powering up

**You MUST have both power supplies connected!** Once you hook up the two power supplies, turn on the openGear Frame with the small, black switches located at either side, (PS 1 and PS 2). After you close the door, you'll hear the fans power up and settle. If there is a power supply *not* hooked up, bad power to one side, or the fan door is left open, a loud alarm will sound until you connect clean power to both sides and close the door.

# 1.8 Installation

Note: The D2WARN system as received will pass the ASI transport stream directly and transparently, with no WARN messages inserted. When powered down, the ASI fail safe relay in both groomers pass ASI directly to the output. When powered up in its initial state (bypass), the groomers will continue to pass ASI directly until manually moved to a normal operating state.

The Primary and Backup Groomers have been pre-configured for ASI Flow – Internal Failover, but in Bypass Mode.

The installation steps, below, assume the station is using internal failover (as opposed to external, such as with chain redundancy). If the station would like to operate external or chain redundancy, the steps below should be completed first. Configuring the D2WARN system for external or chain redundancy will be covered later.

Refer to the ASI internal failover system block diagram shown in the Section: Configurations.

- 1. Mount the openGear Frame with WARN system in a 19-inch equipment rack, being sure to provide adequate ventilation above, below, and on both sides.
- 2. Connect both AC power supplies to a power source.
- 3. Connect the output of the station's encoder to Groomer A, ASI 1 IN.
- 4. Connect the output of Groomer B, ASI 1 OUT to the station's equipment downstream of the WARN system.
- Connect the L-Band feed from the satellite antenna via a user provided 2-way divider to Satellite Receiver A RF-A IN, and Satellite Receiver B RF-A IN using the supplied F to BNC adaptors. The adapters connect to the first BNC from the top of the Satellite Receiver cards.
- You will notice two ASI jumpers going from the ASI OUT connector on the satellite receiver cards to ASI 2 IN on the D2WARN Groomer cards. There is a third jumper connecting the output of Groomer A to the input of Groomer B. Leave them there.



### 1.9 Backplane and Connectors



Figure 1-3. openGear Backplane



Figure 1-4. Groomer Backplane



Figure 1-5. Satellite Receiver Backplane

# 1.10 D2WARN TCP/IP – Control Port Setup

As received from the factory the system is configured with default, static IP addresses. To access the system's GUI and configure the IP addresses you will need a standalone PC (not on your LAN) connected to the Ethernet port of the openGear frame. The Ethernet cable is plugged in to the port on the back of the frame, lower left side. See the picture shown above.

You will need:

- 1. One Ethernet cable (CAT 5 or CAT 6).
- 2. A PC that has a wired Ethernet port and has either Chrome, Firefox or Microsoft Edge installed. These are the browsers supported by the D2WARN system.
- One dedicated port and 5 dedicated static IP addresses from your IT or Network Facilities Administrator. All addresses must be on the same subnet. The Administrator should also supply the subnet mask.

## 1.11 IP addresses and Login Info

The openGear Frame contains an internal network hub. All the openGear cards in the D2WARN system connect directly to the internal network hub. This allows all the cards to be accessed through the openGear Ethernet port.

Set your PC to the following parameters: IP address: 192.168.2.150, Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0, Gateway: 192.168.2.1.

#### Note: The PC settings above are intended for a <u>locally</u> connected PC during the initial setup process.

Note: A Windows PC or Mac may be used, however a Mac will quarantine the downloaded file and create a new file in addition to the downloaded file. Care must be taken so that the downloaded file is uploaded, not the newly created file. This issue was fixed with firmware released in June 2021.

The D2WARN System's Default IP addresses, and username/passwords are:

- 1. The D2WARN Groomer "A" card in slot 2: 192.168.2.205 admin/admin
- 2. The Satellite Receiver A card in Slots 3 and 4: 192.168.2.207 admin/ [password blank\*]
- 3. The D2WARN Groomer "B" card in slot 8: 192.168.2.206 admin/admin
- 4. The Satellite Receiver B card in Slots 9 and 10: 192.168.2.208. admin/ [password blank\*]
- 5. openGear Frame in slot 21 (all the way on the left side when viewed from the rear): 192.168.2.209
- 6. The external IP address of the Groomer A card (This Groomer's "Eth 1" port) is 192.168.1.205
- 7. The external IP address of the Groomer B card (This Groomer's "Eth 1" port) is 192.168.1.206

\*Some Sencore Receivers with newer firmware have a default Password set. The password on those receivers is: mpeg101.

Note: Changing the Groomer and Satellite Receiver Passwords is recommended. Complete instructions are provided in the Section: Cyber Security.

Note: If the user wants to change the IP settings, the addresses must be changed in the order they appear in this document:

- 1. Satellite Receiver cards
- 2. openGear Frame. This step MUST be completed before changing the IP addresses of the Groomer cards.
- 3. D2WARN Groomer cards
- 4. Set the IP addresses of the cards the groomers communicate with

Connect an Ethernet cable from the PC to the Ethernet port on the openGear backplane. The Ethernet cable is plugged in to the port on the back of the frame, lower left side.

### 1.12 Setting up the Satellite Receiver Cards

The Groomer and Satellite Receiver cards are configured through the openGear Frame Ethernet port. Open a browser and type 192.168.2.207, it will open on the login screen. Select **admin**. Leave Password blank (some Sencore receivers with newer firmware have a default password set, in which case enter **mpeg101**). Click **Login**.

🚨 Login	
User:	admin 👻
Password:	I
	🔑 Login

Figure 1-6. Satellite Receiver Login

Once on the main page, click on the Admin tab. Then click on the settings icon by Static.

← → C ▲ Not secure	192.168.1.201						\$	Θ:
Sencore A	G2600							
Logged in as: admin	Main Admin eporting	About			Temperat	ure: 36.0 C (96.8 F)	System Status	all Logout
	Change Password Profile	; 💽 SNMP MIBs 💿 Diagr	nostics	📑 Update Unit 📲	🏢 Reboot 🛛 🤹 Reset to Defaults 🛛	Enable UID		
	General Settings							
	ig Configure General Settings							
	Unit Alias: Protect BISS-E Injected ID: PID Display Mode:	(No Alias) Yes Decimal						
	😹 Unit Network Configurati	on				۲		
	Onfigure Nameservers	Primary Nameserver: 172.16.	0.86 Secondary Nameserver:	172.16.0.153				
	Mode IP Address	Subnet Mask Gat	eway Hostname	MAC				
	Static 192.168.2.20	255.255.255.0 192	168.2.1 (none)	00:06:4D:01:CC:7B				

Figure 1-7. Satellite Receiver Admin Screen

SNMP MIBs 💿 Dia	gnostics		📑 Update Unit	🛒 Reboot	3
Decimal	Configure TCP Set	tings			
DD.	Mode:	Static	~		
Primary Nameserver: 172.1 Subnet Mask G 255.255.255.0 1	Hostname: Static Settings IP Address: Subnet Mask: Gateway:	(none) 192.168.2.207 255.255.255.0 192.168.2.1			
ature		Apply	Cancel	Supported	3
				Yes	ι

Figure 1-8. Satellite Receiver Static IP Address

From there you can configure the TCP settings to your facility's LAN. Click Apply.

Mode: Static Hostname: (none) Static Settings IP Address: 192.168.2.207 Subnet Mask: 255.255.0 Subnet Mask: 192.168.2.21	Configure TCP Set	tings	
Hostname: (none) Static Settings IP Address: 192.168.2.207 Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0	Mode:	Static	~
Static Settings           IP Address:         192.168.2.207           Subnet Mask:         255.255.255.0	Hostname:	(none)	
IP Address: 192.168.2.207 Subnet Mask: 255.255.25	Static Settings		
Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0	IP Address:	192.168.2.207	
0.100.400.0.4	Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0	
Gateway: 192.168.2.1	Gateway:	192.168.2.1	
		Apply	Cancel

Figure 1-9. Changing the Satellite Receiver Card's IP Address

Perform the same process to set the IP address for the other Satellite Receiver card at 192.168.2.208.

### 1.13 Assigning the IP address for the openGear Frame

Open a browser and type 192.168.2.205, it will open on the login screen. Enter admin for the **Username**, and admin for the **Password**. Click **Log In**:

D2MANAGE D2WARN d2mux3k_og-040070
Username
admin
Password
Log in

Figure 1-10. Groomer Log In page

Note: With the exception of the External IP Address (this Groomer's Eth 1 Port, described below), all of the IP addresses must be on the same subnet. That is, the Frame, the Internal IP Address, and the System Gateway must all be on the same subnet.

Note: If the openGear Frame's IP address is changed to a subnet different than the groomer cards you will be able to connect to the groomer cards, but the groomer cards will not be able to communicate with the openGear Frame until the groomer card's IP addresses are changed and on the same subnet as the Frame.

Note: If you attempt to enter an invalid IP Address a warning flag will appear in the upper right corner. The user must click the "X" to close the window and correct the error:

Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	× S AG2600	×   ≤ AG2600 ×   +	- 🛛 ×
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.	168.2.205/system/editGige0IP			8 :
= D2Mana	GE Groomer-A openGear Fra	ne ID: 234582075 Slot: 2		D2Manage
NAVIGATION	D2WARN System Settings			System gateway must match subnet address for one of the interfaces.
Ju D2WARN Status	openGear Frame			
D2WARN Configuration	IP Address	Subnet	Gateway	Frame ID
🖁 System Settings	192.168.2.209	255.255.255.0	192.168.2.1	234582075
Firmware	Important: Configure and save this IP add	Iress before configuring the openGear Internal IP A	Address	
Logs	Save openGear Frame			
+ Features				
•	openGear Internal IP Address (use chass	is Ethernet port) 😧		
U Support	Mode	IP Address	Subnet	MAC
Diagnostics	Static Address	192.168.3.205	55.255.255.0	BC:D5:B6:01:9D:C6
	Important: Configure and save the openG	ear Frame IP address (top) before saving the open	nGear Internal IP address	
	System Gateway (Single gateway is used	for all interfaces)		
	Gateway			
	192.168.2.1			
	Save openGear Internal IP and System Gat	sway		

Figure 1-11. Attempting to Enter an Invalid IP Address

The procedure to assign an IP address to the openGear Frame is shown below:

- 1. Log in to 192.168.2.205 and go to the Systems Settings page.
- 2. Enter the desired IP Address, Subnet, and Gateway under **openGear Frame**. Make certain you enter all IP settings including IP address, Subnet Mask and Gateway before saving.
- 3. Click Save openGear Frame.
- 4. The openGear Frame will reset, and after a few minutes the LCD on the front of the frame should display the updated IP address.
- 5. Log in to 192.168.2.206 and go to the **System Setting** page. The IP Address, Subnet, and Gateway of the openGear Frame may already display the correct information. If the addresses are not yet updated, it's OK to enter them now. Make certain you enter all IP settings including IP address, Subnet Mask and Gateway before clicking **Save openGear Frame**.

👥 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B	× 5 AG2600	× S AG2600	×   +	- • ×		
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168	3.2.205/system/editGige0IP				Θ :		
= D2MANAG	E Groomer AugenGear Fra	ame ID: 234582075 Slot: 2			admin v 🗧 2 D		
NAVIGATION	D2WARN System Settings						
D2W RN Status	openGear Frame IP Address	Subnet	Gateway	Frame ID			
器 System Settings	192.168.2.209	255.255.255.0	192.168.2.1	234582075			
FirmiNere	Important: Configure and save this IP ad	2 Configure and save this IP address before configuring the openGear Internal IP Address					
Logs	Save openGear Frame						
+ Features							
Support	openGear Internal IP Address (use chae Mode	IP Address	Subnet	MAC			
Diagnostics	Static Address	192.168.2.205	255.255.255	6.0 BC:D5:B6:01	:9D:C6		
	Important: Configure and save the openGear Frame IP address (top) before saving the openGear Internal IP address						
System Gateway (Single gateway is used for all interfaces) 🚱 Gateway							
	192.168.2.1						
		_					
	Save openGear Internal IP and System Ga	iteway					

Figure 1-12. Assigning the IP Address of the openGear Frame



Figure 1-13. LCD Display on the openGear Frame's Front Panel

## 1.14 Setting up the openGear Internal IP Address and System Gateway

The groomer cards connect to the internal openGear network hub, so they are accessed through the openGear Frame Ethernet port. The procedure to set the internal IP address is shown below:

- 1. Log in to 192.168.2.205 and navigate to the System Settings page.
- 2. The groomer card user interface uses the **openGear Internal IP Address** settings.
- 3. Set the IP address and Subnet of the openGear Internal IP Address for Groomer A.
- 4. Click Save openGear Internal IP Address and System Gateway.
- 5. Enter the System Gateway.
- 6. Click Save openGear Internal IP Address and System Gateway.
- 7. Log in to 192.168.2.206 and repeat for Groomer B.

🚾 Groomer-A	🗙 🕺 Groomer-B	🗙 🛛 🍠 AG2600	× 💋 💋 AG2600	×   +		- 🗆 ×
← → C ③ 192.16	58.2.205/system/editGige0IP					0:
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGe	ır Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 2			ad	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN System Settings					
JU D2WARN Status	openGear Frame					
D2WARN Configuration	IP Address	Subnet	Gateway		Frame ID	
器 System Settings	192.168.2.209	255.255.255.0	192.168.2.	1	234582075	
Firmware	Important: Configure and save this	IP address before configuring the openGear Inter	nal IP Address			
Logs	Save openGear Frame					
+ Features	an an Cara Internal UD Address (usa					
Support	Mode	IP Address	Subnet		MAC	
Diagnostics	Static Address	192.168.2.205	255.255.25	5.0	BC:D5:B6:01:9D:C6	
	Important: Configure and save the	openGear Frame IP address (top) before saving th	ne openGear Internal IP address			
	System Gateway (Single gateway is	used for all interfaces) 😮			)	
	Gateway					
192.168.2.1						
	Save openGear Internal IP and Syste	m Gateway				

Figure 1-14. Setting the Internal IP Address of the Groomer

Note: When you change the Internal IP address you will lose communications with the groomer. You must change the settings on your locally connected PC to the same subnet as the new Internal IP Address. Then you will be able to reconnect to the groomer with the new IP address.

### 1.15 IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth 1" Port (Rear Panel)

This IP address is also known as the external IP address. If you lose communication with the frame and groomer cards, this IP address may be used to connect and communicate directly with each groomer card. This is covered later in the Section: **Troubleshooting**.

#### Note: If you change this address from its default setting, be sure to write it down in case you need it later!

It is important that this address is not on the same subnet as the **openGear Frame** and the **openGear Internal IP** Address. For example, for subnet mask 255.255.255.0, if the **openGear Internal IP** Address is 192.168.2.205, the IP Address of **This Groomer's "Eth 1" Port (Rear Panel)** cannot be on the "2" subnet. It must be on something other than this subnet, such as 192.168.1.205. Configure as required for Groomer A and Groomer B.

🤐 Groomer-A	🗙 👯 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🖉 A	G2600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168.2	205/system/editGige0IP			Θ :
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234582075	i Slot: 2		admin v DOD
NAVIGATION	openGear Internal IP Address (use chassis Ethernet port) (	9		
olio D2WARN Status	Mode	IP Address	Subnet	MAC
D2WADN Configuration	Static Address	192.168.2.205	255.255.255.0	BC:D5:B6:01:9D:C6
-	Important: Configure and save the openGear Frame IP add	ress (top) before saving the openGear Internal IP address		
System Settings	System Gateway (Single gateway is used for all interfaces)	Ø		
Firmware	Gateway			
Logs	192.168.2.1			
+ Fostures				
T reatures	Save openGear Internal IP and System Gateway			
Support				
Diagnostics	IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth1" port (rear panel) 😧			
	Mode	IP Address	Subnet	MAC
	Static Address	192.168.1.205	255.255.255.0	BC:D5:B6:00;9D:C6
	Use this IP address to connect directly to this groomer via	its top port on the rear panel for troubleshooting. Also used	for TSoIP in/out	
	System Gateway (Single gateway address is used for all in	terfaces) 😧		
	Gateway			

Figure 1-15. Setting the External IP Address of the Groomer

### **1.16 General Settings**

A unique Hostname may be assigned to this Groomer if desired (optional). This is a future feature which will allow the user to access the Groomer simply by entering its Hostname, or identifying the groomer in multisystem installations.

Enter a unique Hostname and click Save General Settings.

🤐 Groomer-A	🗙 🚾 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🖌 🌌	G2600 × S AG2600	×   +		- • ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.20	05/system/editGige0IP				Θ:
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234	582075 Slot: 2			
NAVIGATION 10 D2WARN Status	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway				
<ul> <li>D2WARN Configuration</li> <li>System Settings</li> <li>Firmware</li> </ul>	General Settings Hostname d2warn-40390	ASI Out Burst Mode 🖗 Enabled	~		
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>Features</li> </ul>	Save General Settings				
Support	SNMP Settings rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 🚱	trapcommunity	
Diagnostics	public	private	192.168.1.199	public	
	Save SNMP Settings				
	Time Settings 🚱	NTP Server IP	Timezone		
	Tuesday, 23 Mar 2021 08:24:53	0.pool.ntp.org	Eastern	\$	
	Save Time Settings				
	Restart Unit	Shutdown Unit		Reset D2WARN Configuration Settings	
	2021 © D2D Technologies				

Figure 1-16. Setting the Hostname of the Groomer

Note: The Hostname has restrictions. Only a-z, A-Z, 0-9, dot (.), and hyphen(-) are allowed. The Hostname cannot start or end with a hyphen.

The ASI output of the Groomer may be configured for **Burst Mode** or **Byte Mode**. When **Enabled** the Groomer's ASI output operates at full band width (~213 Mbps). **Enabled** is the default setting. **Disabled** configures the Groomer's ASI Output to **Byte Mode**. When **Disabled** the ASI outputs are constrained to ~53 Mbps. This option provides a compatibility mode for older ASI systems which cannot accept a data byte on every ASI clock.

Note: When enabling or disabling Burst Mode it is important that <u>both</u> groomers are configured the same. This is because the Backup Groomer is still monitoring and processing the signal it passes. It is not in bypass mode and will process the output according to how it is configured.

👥 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🛛 🗲 A	52600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 🗆 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.2	205/system/editGige0IP			8
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 2345	82075 Slot: 2		admin v D2D
NAVIGATION	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway			
<ul> <li>D2WARN Configuration</li> <li>System Settings</li> <li>Firmware</li> </ul>	General Settings Hostname 🕑 dzwarn-40390	ASI Out Burst Mode  Enabled	)	
Logs	Save General Settings			
+ Features				
Support	SNMP Settings rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 😧	trapcommunity
Diagnostics	public	private	192.168.1.199	public
	Save SNMP Settings			
	Time @	NTP Server IP 🖗	Timezone	
	Tuesday, 23 Mar 2021 08:24:53	0.pool.ntp.org	Eastern	
	Save Time Settings			
	Restart Unit	Shutdown Unit	Reset D2W	ARN Configuration Settings
	2021 © D2D Technologies			

Figure 1-17. Configuring the ASI output of the Groomer for Burst Mode or Byte Mode

# 1.17 SNMP Settings

The Groomer's alarms may be monitored using SNMP traps. The MIBs may be obtained from D2D, or downloaded from the Groomer. Instructions for downloading the MIBs from the Groomer are provided in the Section: **Monitoring.** 

Enter the trapsink IP address, and click **Save SNMP Settings**. The trapsink IP address is the IP address of the SNMP monitoring system. If a MIB browser is used to monitor the traps, the trapsink is the IP address of the PC being used with MIB browsing software.

The SNMP Community settings for each groomer may also be changed if required by the station's monitoring configuration. More information about changing the SNMP Community settings is provided in the Section: **Cyber Security.** 

Note: If you change the rocommunity it will affect communication between the Primary and Backup Groomers. If you change the rocommunity name for Groomer A, you must also change the corresponding rocommunity name on Groomer B's GUI for "Cards this Groomer Communicates With." This is covered in an upcoming Section.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 🐖 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🖉	AG2600 × S AG2600	×   +		- 🛛 🗙
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168.2.20	05/system/editGige0IP				<b>0</b> :
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234	582075 Slot: 2			admin ~ D2D
NAVIGATION	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway				
<ul> <li>D2WARN Configuration</li> <li>B System Settings</li> </ul>	General Settings Hostname @ d2warn-40390	ASI Out Burst Mode 😡			
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> <li>Logs</li> <li>Features</li> </ul>	Save General Settings				
Support     Diagnostics	SNMP Settings rocommunity public	rwcommunity private	trapsink @ 192.168.1.199	trapcommunity public	
	Save SNMP Settings	NTP Server IP 😡	Timezone		
	Tuesday, 23 Mar 2021 08:24:53 Save Time Settings	0. pool ntp. org	Eastern	5	
	Restart Unit	Shutdown Unit		Reset D2WARN Configuration Settings	

Figure 1-18. Setting the SNMP trapskink

# 1.18 Setting the NTP Server IP Address (if applicable) or Manually Setting the Time.

Setting the Time and selecting the Time Zone is accomplished on the Systems Settings page.

- 1. Log in to 192.168.2.205 and navigate to the **Systems Settings** page. To enter the IP address of the NTP server, scroll to the bottom of the **Systems Settings** page. Enter the address of the NTP server and click **Save Time Settings**.
- 2. To enter the time manually, enter 0.0.0.0 for the NTP Server IP address and click **Save Time Settings**. Then click on the Date and Time in the **Time** box and change as necessary. Click **Save Time Settings**.
- 3. To select the Time Zone, use the **Timezone** drop down box. Scroll down to the desired Time Zone and click **Save Time Settings**.
- 4. Log in to 192.168.2.206 and repeat for Groomer B.

👥 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🖉 AG	52600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.20	05/system/edittime			Θ :
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 2345	82075 Slot: 2		admin ~ D 2 D
NAVIGATION dle D2WARN Status	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway			
<ul> <li>D2WARN Configuration</li> <li>System Settings</li> <li>Firmware</li> </ul>	General Settings Hostname 🕑 d2warr-40390	ASI Out Burst Mode 🖗 Enabled		
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>+ Features</li> </ul>	Save General Settings			
Support     Diagnostics	SNMP Settings rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 🚱	trapcommunity
	Jouni Save SNMP Settings Time © Time © Tuesday, 23 Mar 2021 09:34:45 Save Time Settings Restart too	NTP Server IP  0.0.0 Shutdown Unit	Turconte Eastern e Eastern Central Mountain Practica Astrona Practica Page Roo Guim Page Roo Guim Samoa Wake	N Configuration Set/ gs

Figure 1-19. Setting the Time and Date on the Systems Settings Page

### 1.19 Restarting, Shutting Down, and Resetting the Groomer

The Groomer may be restarted remotely by clicking on the **Restart Unit** button on the bottom of the **Systems Settings** page. This is a soft reset. The Groomer will restart, and you may log back in after a minute or two.

It is recommended that the Groomer be shut down before removing the Groomer card from the openGear frame. This may be accomplished by clicking on the **Shutdown Unit** button. This is a hardware shutdown, and you will not be able to reboot the groomer remotely.

# Note: Do not shut the unit down unless someone is on site to reseat the groomer card or power cycle the system!

The user may reset the groomer to its factory default configuration by clicking on the **Reset D2WARN Configuration Settings** button. Resetting the groomer will not change any of the entries on the **Systems Settings** page. The IP addresses of the associated groomer and receiver will not be changed. The **Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Settings for this Groomer** on the **D2WARN Configuration** page will be reset to **ASI Flow – Failover Role Bypass.** 

兰 Groomer-A	🗙 🚆 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🖉 AG	G2600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.20	5/system/edittime			8
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 23458	32075 Slot: 2		admin v DOD
NAVIGATION	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway			
D2WARN Configuration     System Settings     Firmware	General Settings Hostname 🚱 d2warn-40390	ASI Out Burst Mode 🖗 Enabled		
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>+ Features</li> </ul>	Save General Settings			
<ul> <li>Support</li> </ul>	SNMP Settings rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 🚱	trapcommunity
Diagnostics	public Save SNMP Settings	private	192.168.1.199	public
	Time Settings  Time  Tuesday, 23 Mar 2021 09:34:45	NTP Server IP 🚱	Timezone Eastern 🗢	
	Save Time Settings	Shutdown Unit	Reset D2WAR	N Configuration Settings

Figure 1-20. Restarting, Shutting Down, or Resetting the Groomer Remotely

# 1.20 Set the IP Addresses and SNMP Community Names of the Cards the Groomer Needs to Communicate With

The purpose of this section is to tell Groomer A to monitor the status of Satellite Receiver A, and to tell Groomer A to monitor the status of Groomer B.

Likewise, to tell Groomer B to monitor the status of Satellite Receiver B, and to tell Groomer B to monitor the status of Groomer A.

The IP addresses are entered on the **D2WARN Configuration** page, under **Cards this Groomer Communicates With.** The procedure to set the IP address of the cards this groomer communicates with is shown below:

#### Procedure:

- Set up Groomer A first. Log in to 192.168.2.205 and go to the **D2WARN Configuration** page of Groomer A. Enter what will be the new IP address for Satellite Receiver A (if Receiver A's address will not change, there is no need to change its default IP address). Also enter the new IP address for Groomer B (if Groomer B's address will not change, there is no need to change its default IP address).
- 2. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save** or simply hit **Enter** on your PC to apply settings.
- Now set up Groomer B. Log in to 192.168.2.206 and go to the D2WARN Configuration page of Groomer B. Enter what will be the new IP address for Satellite Receiver B (if Receiver B's address will not change, there is no need to change its default IP address). Also enter the new IP address for Groomer A (if Groomer A's address will not change, there is no need to change its default IP address).
- 4. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save** or simply hit **Enter** on your PC to apply settings.
- 5. You can now use the connection test buttons for satellite and groomer entries on both systems to ensure that the IP addresses are correct.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B	×   🗲 AG2600	×   5 AG2600	×   +	- • ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.2	205/d2warnconfiguration/				9:
= D2MANAG	GE <sup>®</sup> Groomer-/	A openGear Frame ID: 219533	130 Slot: 4		admin v D2D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration	1			
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Cards this Groomer Comr	nunicates With 🚱 Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity 🚱 C	onnection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
器 System Settings	Satellite Receiver	✓ Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.1.201
Firmware	Groomer	✓ Groomer-B	192.168.2.206	public	Check 192.168.1.164
Logs					
reatures     Support	Broadcast Stream Flow a Standard Configurations @	nd Failover Settings for This G	roomer		
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Pr	imary			~
	Broadcast Stream Input 🚱				×.
	Broadcast Stream Output 🕑				
	ASI-1				~

Figure 1-21. D2WARN Configuration Page

The **SNMP rocommunity** name for the corresponding Satellite Receiver and Groomer may also be changed. This is required if the **SNMP rocommunity** name for the corresponding Groomer was changed on that groomer's **Systems Settings** page, or if the corresponding Satellite Receiver's **Read-Only Community** name was changed. The Read Only Community names must match on the groomer and its corresponding groomer or satellite receiver. More information can be found in the Section: **Cyber Security**.

The Sencore receiver's SNMP Community Names are set on the receiver GUI's Admin page. The Read-Only Community is used to communicate with its associated Groomer. The Read-Write Community is used for external monitoring of the receiver, if desired. More information can be found in the Section: **AG2600 Satellite Receiver**.

x SNMP Communities	0
Denfigure SNMP Communities	
Read-Only Community: public	
Read-Write Community: private	



# 1.21 Taking the System out of Bypass - Activating the System and Putting it into Operation

As received from the factory, the Groomers are configured in Bypass mode. The D2WARN status and front light bar will show red until it is taken out of bypass and the groomer sees a valid incoming transport stream. This is normal.

👐 Groomer-A	🗙 🐏 Groomer-B 🗙 🗎 :	🗲 AG2600 🗙 🖌	🗲 AG2600	×   +	- 🗆 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.	2.205/d2warnstatus/				8 :
= D2Manag	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID:	219533130 Slot: 4			admin ~ D 2 D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 65.58 C	0	Max Internal Temperature:	68.29 C 😧	Uptime: 0 Days 00:55:59
🖁 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Bypass Status: Bypass Mode - Ale	ert Messaging Disabled			
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> <li>Logs</li> </ul>	Broadcast Input 🕑	Broadcast Output 🚱			
+ Features	No Sync	No Sync	eartheat <b>Q</b>		
Support     Diagnostics	66.958 Mhree				
• ••••	Last Alert Message: NONE	*3			
	Satellite RX Communications:	Fans: 😧	•		
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 🚱	•		
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 🚱	•		
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message Format: Ø</li> </ul>	•		
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	Alert Message in Primary Broadcas	st: 😧 🔹		
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🕢	Video Pid Inserting: 🚱	•		
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast:	0		

Figure 1-23. D2WARN Status Page in Bypass Mode

The D2WARN system as received from the factory will pass the ASI transport stream directly and transparently, with no WARN messages inserted. The Primary and Backup Groomers have been pre-configured for **ASI Flow** – **Failover Role Bypass**. Once the IP addresses are configured the system is ready to be taken out of bypass and put into operational mode. These steps will describe putting the system into ASI Flow with Internal Redundancy.

In this mode the Broadcast Stream Flow will be ASI in to ASI out, and the cards will operate in a Primary/Backup configuration. This is the most common configuration. Please see the Configurations section for other options.

- 1. Connect to Groomer A and go to the **D2WARN Configuration** page.
- 2. From the **Standard Configurations** drop down menu select **ASI Flow-Failover Role Primary** to set Groomer A as the Primary.
- 3. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click Save.
- 4. Connect to Groomer B and go to the D2WARN Configuration page.
- 5. From the **Standard Configurations** drop down menu select **ASI Flow-Failover Role Backup** to set Groomer B as the Backup.
- 6. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save.**

🔐 Groomer-A	🗙 👑 Groomer-B 🗙 🎽 🍠	AG2600 × S AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.2	05/d2warnconfiguration/			Θ :
= D2MANAG	GE Groomer-A openGear Fra	me ID: 219533130 Slot: 4		admin v DOD
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration			
🗤 D2WARN Status				
A 2000 200 2 10	Cards this Groomer Communicates With	0		
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type Device Na	ime IP Address 🖗	SNMP rocommunity 🕑	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
물 System Settings	Satellite Receiver	r-A 192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.1.201
Firmware	Groomer ~ Groome	er-B 192.168.2.206	public	Check 192.168.1.164
🗎 Logs				
+ Features				
Support	Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Sett Standard Configurations 🚱	ings for This Groomer		
Disguesties	ASI Flow - Failover Role Bypass			~
U Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup			
	ASI Flow - Failover Role None ASI Flow - Failover Role Bypass			
	ASI Flow - Failover Role None - No Broadca ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broad	st Video Input cast Video Input		
	ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup - No Broad Manual Configuration	cast Video Input		
	ASIT			*
	Failover Role 🚱			
	Bypass			~
Firmware				
E coga	Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Ins	ertion Settings		
+ Features	Alert Message Source			~
Support	Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) 🖗			
Diagnostics	40			
	Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) 🚱			
	3			
	PID Replacement Options (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱			
	Replace ETT	Replace EIT	Replace Video	Video PID (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱
	Enabled	Enabled	Enabled	31
	Valid WARN PIDs (hex range 1-1fff, 0 is disabled)			
	911	0	0	0
	Valid Additional WARN Content Types (bit range 0010-1111) 🚱 🕇			
	Save			

Figure 1-24. Taking the Units Out of Bypass

The user may now configure the system to meet the station's requirements. Configuring the system is covered in the following section.

# 2 Configurations

# 2.1 D2WARN ASI System Configuration

The ASI based D2WARN system is designed to reliably insert the designated emergency message PID(s) into the broadcast transport stream with full ASI failsafe and automatic failover capabilities for a fully resilient solution in case of power or component failure. In the unexpected case where the groomer processor fails or power is lost, a failsafe ASI bypass ensures that the broadcast stream is maintained.

## 2.2 Initial Default Configuration:

The D2WARN system as received from the factory will be preconfigured as follows:

- 1. The two Satellite Receivers will be pre-tuned and configured to receive the PBS Ku-band satellite feed (Galaxy-16) that contains the WARN message data in designated PIDs. Details for the configurations may be found in the Section: **Uploading a Configuration File to the Satellite Receiver Card**.
- 2. The D2WARN Groomer cards will be in bypass mode and will remain in bypass mode until configured otherwise by the station engineer(s).
  - 1. The Alert Message Source will be pre-configured to ASI-2.
  - 2. Default IP addresses will be configured in all modules (Satellite Receivers, Groomers, and the openGear frame) as per the Section: **Getting Started**.
  - 3. All D2D provided BNC-F coax jumpers will be in place.

In the Section **Getting Started**, the system was taken out of bypass and configured for internal failover as follows: **ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary** (for the Primary Groomer)

ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup (for the Backup Groomer).

Internal failover is described below.

# 2.3 Theory of Operation

In the preferred configuration where the WARN system is installed after the station's encoder, the groomer "looks" for null packets to use for inserting Alert Messages. The alert messages are inserted into the station's broadcast transport stream, and fed to the station's transmitter for over the air broadcast.

The Alert Messages are typically received from the satellite, and fed into the groomer for insertion.

This section describes the theory of operation for internal failover redundancy when used with the station's ASI or SMPTE-310 broadcast stream.

Refer to the ASI Internal Failover System Block Diagram, below. ASI failover redundancy is accomplished in the D2WARN system by way of a cascaded signal flow from the Primary Groomer to the Backup Groomer. The Primary Groomer inserts the WARN messages, and the Backup Groomer simply passes the station's program transport stream, with messages inserted, out to the station's broadcast chain. If the Primary Groomer fails it will pass the transport stream unaltered, without inserting Alert Messages, on to the Backup Groomer. In this event, the Backup Groomer takes over, and inserts the Alert Messages.

When the Primary Groomer is inserting, the Backup Groomer is not in bypass mode. It is still monitoring the health of the Primary Groomer, and processing the transport stream.

Satellite Receiver redundancy is handled by failing over to the other receiver / groomer pair. If the Primary Satellite Receiver fails, the system will switch to the Backup Satellite Receiver and Backup Groomer.



Figure 2-1. Broadcast Signal Flow, Internal Redundancy Scenario

In its standard equipment configuration, the D2WARN System is shipped with one Primary Groomer in slot 2, and one Backup Groomer in slot 8. Due to the cabling on the backplane, the Groomer card plugged in to slot 2 can only be configured as the Primary Groomer (that is, it cannot be configured as the backup). Likewise, the Groomer card plugged in to slot 8 can only be configured as the Backup Groomer. With non-standard equipment configurations, these slot numbers may change.

Failure of a satellite receiver or groomer is detected via SNMP. The health of the satellite receivers and groomers is monitored by continuously polling. If the Primary Groomer does not receive a status update from the Primary Satellite Receiver and no heartbeat is received by the Primary Groomer from the Primary Satellite Receiver, the system will failover to the Backup Receiver / Groomer pair. If the Primary Groomer is still receiving heartbeats from the Primary Satellite Receiver, it will assume that the Primary Satellite Receiver is actually OK and not failover.

In the case of the groomers, each groomer will unicast its status to the other. If the Primary Groomer stops receiving the status from the backup it will be considered a warning. If the Backup Groomer stops receiving the status from the Primary Groomer <u>and</u> no heartbeat is received by the Primary Groomer from the Primary Satellite Receiver, the system will failover to the Backup Receiver / Groomer pair. If heartbeats are being received by the Primary Groomer, it will assume that Groomer A is actually OK and not failover.

In addition to monitoring its health via SNMP, there is an additional failover trigger for the satellite receivers. Since it is not possible to tell if the loss of satellite PBS heartbeat messages is due to rain fade or some other issue, missing PBS heartbeats will not immediately cause a failover to the backup receiver and groomer. In order to account for both short term rain fade conditions and long-term failure conditions, there will be two time out settings. The first timeout will be measured in seconds. Its default value is 40 seconds. When the seconds timeout is reached it will only issue a warning since it may be an indication of rain fade.

The second timeout will be measured in minutes and should be set for a longer period than a typical rain fade. Its default value is 60 minutes. When the minutes timeout is reached it will be considered a failure and will trigger the backup groomer (if present) to take over. Both the short term and long-term time out values are configurable on the **D2WARN Configuration** page.

NATURATION       Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Settings for This Groomer         Sundard Configurations       Standard Configurations ©         D2WARN Configuration       ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input         Broadcast Stream Input ©       Broadcast Stream Input ©         NoNE       Broadcast Stream Output ©         Logs       ASI-1         Features       Failover Role ©         Primary       Pilmary         Diagnostics       Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings         Atert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) ©       40         Atert Message Heartbeat Failurer Timeout (minutes) @	admin ~ 🧧	
All D2WARN Status       Ast Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input         Ast Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input       Broadcast Stream Input •         Broadcast Stream Input •       NONE         Broadcast Stream Output •       Broadcast Stream Output •         Logs       Asi-1         Features       Failover Role •         Primary       Primary         Diagnostics       Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings         Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings       Alert Message Heartbeat Varining Timeout (seconds) •         40       Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) •		
O 22WARN Configuration       Broadcast Stream Input ●         Broadcast Stream Input ●       NONE         Broadcast Stream Output ●       ASI-1         Freatures       Palover Role ●         Broadcast Stream Output ●       Primary         Broadcast Stream Output ●       ASI-1         Failover Role ●       Primary         Broadcast Stream Output ●       ASI-1         Failover Role ●       Primary         Broadcast Stream Output ●       ASI-1         Failover Role ●       Primary         Broadcast Stream Output ●       ASI-1         Failover Role ●       Primary         Atert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings       Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) ●         Atert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) ●       Atert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) ●		~
System Settings NONE   Firmware Broadcast Stream Output •   Logs ASI-1   + Features Failover Role •   • Support Primary   • Diagnostics Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings Alert Message Source •   • Mireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) •   • Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) •		
Firmware Broadcast Stream Output I   Logs ASI-1   Features Failover Role I   Primary Primary     Image: Diagnostics     Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings   Alert Message Source I   Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) I   40   Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) I		~
Logs       ASI-1         + Features       Failover Role •         > Support       Primary         • Diagnostics       Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings Alert Message Source •         Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) •       40         Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) •		
<ul> <li>Features</li> <li>Support</li> <li>Diagnostics</li> <li>Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout &amp; Insertion Settings Alert Message Source •</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) •</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) •</li> </ul>		~
<ul> <li>Support</li> <li>Diagnostics</li> <li>Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout &amp; Insertion Settings Alert Message Source @</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) @</li> <li>40</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) @</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Diagnostics</li> <li>Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout &amp; Insertion Settings Alert Message Source •</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds) •</li> <li>40</li> <li>Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes) •</li> </ul>		~
Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Insertion Settings Alert Message Source  Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds)  Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes)		
60 PID Replacement Options (hex range 0-1fff) 😧		

Figure 2-2. Configuring the Short (Seconds) and Long (Minutes) Alert Message Heartbeat Timeout

In order to prevent the system from thrashing between groomers, it requires the user to manually switch Alert Message insertion back to the Primary Groomer once it has returned to a healthy state. A "**Revert Back to Primary Groomer**" button on the Backup Groomer's **D2WARN Status** page is used to manually switch Alert Message insertion back to the Primary Groomer. Also shown is the configuration and status of each groomer.

1 Groomer-A x 1 Groomer-B x 🍠 AG2600 x 🖌 4	- 0 :
← → C ③ 192.168.2.206/d2warnstatus/	θ
= D2MANAGE Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8	admin ~ DOD
NAVIGATION D2WARN Status	
D2WARN Status      Ideama Tannarathura: EE 86 0 Hay Internal Tannarathura: E1 40	
D2WARN Configuration	
System Settings Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Monitoring Ready to Revert to Inserting Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Inserting	
Firmware     Broadcast Input      Broadcast Output      Broadcast Output      Broadcast Input      Broadcast Output      Broadcast      Broadcas	
Logs 0.257 (18.653 0.207) (18.663 0.207)	0.740
+ Features         19.300 Mbps         19.300 Mbps         19.401 Mbps	s Heartbeat 🚱
Support	
Diagnostics     66.838 Mops     25s     66.838 Mops     25s     Revert Back to Primary Groomer	
Last Aiert Message: NONE	
Satellite RX Communications:	
Groomer Pair Communications:  Power Supply 1:  Croomer Pair Communications:  Power Supply 1:  Croomer Pair Communications:  Power Supply 1:  P	
openGear Communications:   Power Supply 2:   Power Supply 2:  Power	
Alert Message Buffer Overflow:  Alert Message Format:  Alert Message Format:  Alert Message Format:  Alert Message Buffer Overflow:  Alert Message Buffer Over	
Video PID Available for Inserting:  Alert Message in Primary Broadcast:  Video PID Available for Inserting:  Alert Message rollinat.	ant Q
EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: • Video Pid Inserting: • • • Video Pid Inserting: • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	1012 <b>T</b>
Bypass Lockdown: 😧 🔹 EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 🎯	.0

Figure 2-3. Revert Back to Primary Groomer Button

## 2.4 ASI Failover Configurations

Each of the two D2WARN Groomers can be configured in any of the standard failover configurations, plus one non-standard configuration. The configurations are chosen on the D2WARN Configuration page for each Groomer.

## 2.4.1 ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary

Groomer A is typically configured as the Primary Groomer. When selected, the system's input is set to the ASI-1 IN port of Groomer A in slot 2. The system's output is set to the ASI-1 OUT port of Groomer B in slot 8. The Groomer being configured is designated as Primary (see below).

In normal operation the Primary Groomer will insert Alert Messages into the stations program transport stream and feed the complete transport stream to the Backup Groomer. The Backup Groomer will pass the transport stream unaltered out to the station's broadcast chain.

🤐 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B	× 🖌 💋 AG2600	× 🛛 🕏 AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.20	05/d2warnconfiguration/edit				Θ :
= D2Manac	Groomer-A	openGear Frame ID: 21953	3130 Slot: 4		admin v D2D TECHNOLOGIES
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration				
<ul> <li>D2WARN Status</li> <li>の D2WARN Configuration</li> </ul>	Cards this Groomer Comm	unicates With 🚱	ID Address Q	SNR4D recommunity Q	Connection Test (alia): Says before aliaking Check()
System Settings	Satellite Receiver	Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> </ul>	Groomer	Groomer-B	192.168.2.206	public	Check 192.168.2.206
E Logs					
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and	Failover Settings for This	Groomer		
Support	Standard Configurations 🕢				
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Prim	ary			~
	Broadcast Stream Input 🚱				
	ASPT				~
	Broadcast Stream Output 😧				
	ASI-1				~
	Failover Role 🚱				
	Primary				~

Figure 2-4. Primary Groomer Configuration

In the event of failure or extended periods of missing heartbeats from PBS, the Primary Groomer will failover, and pass the transport stream without Alert Messages to the Backup Groomer. In this event, the Backup Groomer will assume the role of inserting Alert Messages.

Note: Due to the cabling on the backplane, the Groomer card plugged in to slot 2 can only be configured as the Primary Groomer (that is, it cannot be configured as the Backup).

## 2.4.2 ASI Flow – Failover Role Backup

Groomer B is typically configured as the Backup Groomer. When selected, the system's input is set to the ASI-1 IN port of Groomer A in slot 2. The system's output is set to the ASI-1 OUT port of Groomer B in slot 8. The Groomer being configured is designated as the Backup (see below).

In normal operation, the Backup Groomer will simply pass the transport stream from the Primary Groomer unaltered out to the station's broadcast chain.

🤐 Groomer-A	🗙 뺊 Groomer-B	× ≶ AG2600	× 🛛 💋 AG2600	×   +	- 🗆 ×		
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C (S 192.168.2.206)	/d2warnconfiguration/edit				8:		
= D2MANAG	E <sup>™</sup> Groomer-B op	enGear Frame ID: 219533	1130 Slot: 10		admin v D2D TECHNOLOGIES		
NAVIGATION D2WARN Configuration							
D2WARN Status							
D2WARN Configuration	Cards this Groomer Commun Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🔞	SNMP rocommunity @	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)		
🖁 System Settings	Satellite Receiver 🗸	Receiver-B	192.168.2.208	public	Check 192.168.2.208		
Firmware	Groomer 🗸	Groomer-A	192.168.2.205	public	Check 192.168.2.205		
Logs							
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and F	allower Sattings for This (	Secomor				
Support	Standard Configurations @	anover settings for this c	stoonler				
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup	)			~		
	Broadcast Stream Input 🕑						
	ASI-1				~		
	Broadcast Stream Output 🚱						
	ASI-1				~		
	Failover Role 🕢						
	Backup				~		

Figure 2-5. Backup Groomer Configuration

In the event of Primary Groomer failure, the Backup Groomer will assume the role of inserting Alert Messages. If the Backup Groomer fails, it will simply pass the transport stream as received from the Primary Groomer out to the station's broadcast chain.

The Backup Groomer is not capable of failing over to the Primary Groomer. The Groomer card plugged in to slot 8 can only be configured as the Backup Groomer.

### 2.4.3 ASI Flow – Failover Role None (External Failover)

The D2WARN system can be configured with the two Receiver-Groomer pairs independent of each other to allow member stations to run the systems in parallel. This configuration is used for both groomers when no internal failover is desired. A typical example is a station running "chain redundancy," with two broadcast chains (and in some cases, two STLs). An external ASI redundancy switch is used.

In this configuration the following conditions apply:

- 1. PBS member stations are responsible for switching the output stream in case of a component or system failure. No automatic failover is provided by the D2WARN system.
- 2. Any of the supported configurations can be configured as External Failover. See the Section: Failsafe and Failover.

For this configuration, Groomer A is configured as **ASI Flow – Failover Role None**. Groomer B is also configured as **ASI Flow – Failover Role None** (see below).

🥶 Groomer-A 🗙	🤐 Groomer-B	×   🗲 AG2600	×   5 AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C S 192.168.2.205/c	l2warnconfiguration/edit				
≡ D2Manage	Groomer-A ope	nGear Frame ID: 219533130 Sk	ot: 4		admin v DQD
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration				
闧 D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Communit	nates With <b>O</b>			
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity @	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
품 System Settings	Satellite Receiver 🗸	Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
Firmware			_		
🖹 Logs	Broadcast Stream Flow and Fa	ilover Settings for This Groome	r		
+ Features	Standard Configurations 🕑		)		
Support	ASI Flow - Failover Role None				~
Diagnostics	Broadcast Stream Input @				, in the second s
	Presidente Observer Outburt O				
	ASI-1				~
	Failavar Dala				
	None				
	NONG				*

Figure 2-6. Failover Role None

Note that in this configuration, each groomer will only communicate with its associated satellite receiver. It will not "listen" to the status of the other groomer (as it is not required with no internal failover). Only the satellite receiver associated with each groomer will be configured and displayed on the **D2WARN Configuration** page, under **Cards This Groomer Communicates With** (see below).

= D21		Groo	mer-A ope	enGear Frame ID: 21953	33130 Slot: 4		admin v DOD
NAVIGATION		D2WARN Configur	ation				
D2WARN St	atus	Cards this Groomer	Communi	cates With 🛛			
D2WARN Co	onfiguration	Device Type	commun	Device Name	IP Address 🕖	SNMP rocommunity 🚱	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
몲 System Sett	ings	Satellite Receiver	~	Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
Firmware							
🖻 Lone							

Figure 2-7. Cards This Groomer Communicates With when in Failover Role None (External Failover)

The system's input port for the station's A broadcast chain is set to the ASI-1 IN port of Groomer A in slot 2. The output is set to ASI-1 OUT port of Groomer A.

The system's input port for the station's B broadcast chain is set to the ASI-1 IN port of Groomer B in slot 8. The output is set to ASI-1 OUT port of Groomer B.

Satellite Receiver A and Groomer A will add Alert Messages to the station's A transport stream, which is then sent out to the station's primary or A broadcast stream. Satellite Receiver B and Groomer B will add Alert Messages to the station's B transport stream, which is then sent out to the station's backup or B broadcast stream. Refer to the ASI External Failover System Diagram (see below).



Figure 2-8. External Failover

### 2.4.4 ASI Flow – Failover Role Bypass

This configuration is used for both groomers when it is desired to put the D2WARN system in bypass mode. Both groomers are configured as **ASI Flow – Failover Role Bypass**. In this configuration the bypass relay in each groomer is de-energized. The station's program transport stream is passed directly from the input to the output of the D2WARN System with no message insertion.

In some cases, it may be desired to put only one of the groomers in bypass mode. This can be accomplished by configuring only that groomer.

Note: If a groomer is in bypass mode, it will not insert Alert Messages in the event of the other groomer's failure.

Note: In the event of a power failure, the bypass relay will de-energize and put the system in bypass mode.

Note: Removing a groomer card will interrupt the station's broadcast. The system will <u>not</u> go into bypass or failover to the backup groomer. The WARN system must be patched around.

🐖 Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	×   🝠 AG2600	× 🖉 💋 🗴 🗴	×   +	- • ×
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168.2.205	d2warnconfiguration/edit				Θ :
= D2Manag	Groomer-A c	penGear Frame ID: 21953:	3130 Slot: 4		admin ~ D 2 D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration				
D2WARN Status	Cordo this Creamer Commu	miastas With O			
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
System Settings	Satellite Receiver	Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
Firmware	Groomer ~	Groomer-B	192.168.2.206	public	Check 192.168.2.206
🖹 Logs					
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and	Failover Settings for This (	Groomer		
Support	Standard Configurations 🕖				
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Bypa	SS			~
	Broadcast Stream Input 🕜				
	ASI-1				~
	Broadcast Stream Output 😧				
	ASI-1				~
	Failover Role 😧				
	Bypass				*

Figure 2-9. Bypass Mode

# 2.4.5 ASI Flow - Failover Role None - No Broadcast Video Input

This configuration is used for both groomers when it is desired to operate in "No Input Mode." In this mode WARN messages are inserted at a rate that will not exceed 150 kbps. The output of the groomer will also be capped at approximately 150 kbps. This mode is typically used when the output of the system is fed into a multiplexer along with the station's broadcast feed.

Note: In this configuration there is no internal failover redundancy. If internal failover redundancy is desired, the configurations described next should be used.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B	× 🖉 🗲 AG2600	× 🛛 🝠 AG2600	×   +	- 🗆 ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2.2	05/d2warnconfiguration/edit				<b>e</b> :
= D2Manao	GE <sup>™</sup> Groomer-J	A openGear Frame ID: 219533	130 Slot: 4		admin v D2D TECHNOLOGIES
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration	1			
D2WARN Configuration	Cards this Groomer Comr Device Type	nunicates With 🚱 Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity @	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
뭄 System Settings	Satellite Receiver	✓ Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
Firmware					
🗎 Logs	Broadcast Stream Flow a	nd Failover Settings for This G	iroomer		
+ Features	Standard Configurations @	nna - No Broadcast Video Input	)		
Support	Broadcast Stream Input @	ne - No broadcast video input			
Diagnostics	NONE				v
	Broadcast Stream Output 🚱				
	ASI-1				~
	Failover Role 🚱				
	None				v

Figure 2-10. Failover Role None - No Broadcast Video Input. Primary and Backup Configuration

No input mode is typically used when the station's broadcast stream is not passed through the D2WARN system. The output of the D2WARN system, with a message data rate limited to 150 kbps, is multiplexed along with the station's broadcast stream to produce a total output of program and Alert Messages.

### 2.4.6 ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input

This configuration is similar to the configuration described above, however it is used when internal redundancy is desired. The primary groomer is configured for **ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary – No Broadcast Video Input**.

In this mode WARN messages are inserted at a rate that will not exceed 150 kbps. The output of the groomer will also be capped at approximately 150 kbps. This mode is typically used when the output of the system is fed into a multiplexer along with the station's broadcast feed.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	×   5 AG2600	× S AG2600	×   +	- 🗆 ×
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168.2.20	05/d2warnconfiguration/edit				8
= D2Manag	Groomer-A	openGear Frame ID: 219533	130 Slot: 4		admin v D 2 D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration				
D2WARN Status					
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🔞	SNMP rocommunity @	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
₽ System Settings	Satellite Receiver	✓ Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207
Firmware	Groomer	∽ Groomer-B	192.168.2.206	public	Check 192.168.2.206
🖹 Logs					
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow ar	d Failover Settings for This G	roomer		
Support	Standard Configurations 🚱	5			
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Pri	mary - No Broadcast Video Input			~
	Broadcast Stream Input @				
	NONE				~
	Broadcast Stream Output 🕑				
	ASI-1				~
	Failover Role 🚱				
	Primary				×

Figure 2-11. ASI Flow - Failover Role Primary - No Broadcast Video Input

No input mode is typically used when the station's broadcast stream is not passed through the D2WARN system. The output of the D2WARN system, with a message data rate limited to 150 kbps, is multiplexed along with the station's broadcast stream to produce a total output of program and Alert Messages.

### 2.4.7 ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup - No Broadcast Video Input

This configuration is similar to the configuration described above for the primary groomer, however it is used for the backup groomer when internal redundancy is desired. The backup groomer is configured for **ASI Flow – Failover Role Backup – No Broadcast Video Input**.

For internal redundancy with no video input, the primary groomer is configured for ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary – No Broadcast Video Input. The backup groomer is configured for ASI Flow – Failover Role Backup – No Broadcast Video Input.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 🐏 Groomer-B	× 🝠 AG2600	× S AG2600	×   +	- 🛛 🗙
← → C ③ 192.168.2.206	5/d2warnconfiguration/edit				Θ :
= D2Manag	,E <sup>™</sup> Groomer-B op	penGear Frame ID: 21953:	3130 Slot: 10		admin v D2D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration				
du D2WARN Status					
D2WARN Configuration	Cards this Groomer Commun Device Type	nicates With 🕜 Device Name	IP Address 🕑	SNMP rocommunity 🕑 C	onnection Test (click Save before clicking Check)
Hand System Settings	Satellite Receiver 🗸	Receiver-B	192.168.2.208	public	Check 192.168.2.208
Firmware	Groomer 🗸	Groomer-A	192.168.2.205	public	Check 192.168.2.205
🖹 Logs					
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and	Eailover Settings for This	Groomer		
Support	Standard Configurations @	Failover Settings for This	Sidomer		
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Backu	Jp - No Broadcast Video Input			~
	Broadcast Stream Input 🚱				
	NONE				~
	Broadcast Stream Output 🕜				
	ASI-1				~
	Failover Role 😧				
	Backup				Ŷ

Figure 2-12. ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup - No Broadcast Video Input

### 2.4.8 Manual Configuration

The preceding failover configurations (above) are standard configurations. When one of these standard configurations is selected, the Broadcast Stream Input, Output, and Failover Roles are automatically set for the Groomer being configured. They appear in the drop down menu as "read only."

For configurations which do not fit one of the standard configurations, **Manual Configuration** may be selected. Manual Configuration allows the user to select each parameter individually. This allows setting the input and output however you want including **ASI 1**, **IP** or **None** for **Broadcast Stream Input**, and **ASI** or **IP** for **Broadcast Stream Output**. You must first select **Manual Configuration**, then scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save**. Then go back to set the Input, Output, and Failover Roles and click **Save** again.

### 2.4.8.1 Broadcast Stream Input set to None

This configuration is the same as no input mode. In this mode WARN messages are inserted at a rate that will not exceed 150 kbps. The ASI or TSoIP output of the groomer is capped at approximately 150 kbps. This mode is typically used when the output of the system is fed into a multiplexer along with the station's broadcast feed. The output of the D2WARN system is multiplexed along with the station's broadcast stream to produce a total output of program and Alert Messages.

Note: When configured for Input None the output of the groomer is an unrefenced PID at a very low data rate. The stations mux may need to be specially configured to accept this. Check with your equipment manufacturer's Technical Support.

### 2.4.8.2 Broadcast Stream Input set to ASI-1

In this configuration the station's broadcast stream is fed into Groomer A's **ASI-1 IN** port. This is similar to the standard ASI configurations described above, however the output may now be set to **ASI-1** or **IP**.

### 2.4.8.3 Broadcast Stream Input set to IP

Note: Internal Failover is not supported for TSoIP configurations. If the input and/or output are set for IP, only one groomer is used. The other groomer is not used. It may remain in the frame if desired and kept as "warm" spare. The station must provide for redundancy externally. There is no built in redundancy.

This configuration allows the system to be set up for ASI in / TSoIP out, TSoIP in / TSoIP out, or Input None / TSoIP out. To configure the **Broadcast Stream Input**, enter the port and IP address. Choose **Failover Role**: **None** from the drop down menu. Click **Save**.

The IP address may be a Unicast or Multicast address. If a Unicast address is entered, it *must* be on the same subnet as the **Eth1** port.

The physical input port for TSoIP is the groomer's **Eth 1** port on the back of the groomer. The TSoIP input and output share the same physical port.

The D2WARN system supports multicast UDP, 7 packets per frame, with no error correction.



Figure 2-13

Groomer-B × 🥑 AG2600 ٥ × | + ← → C ③ 192.168.2.206/d2warnconfiguration/edit . **D**2D Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8 D2MANAGE D2WARN Configuration NAVIGATION III D2WARN Status Cards this Groomer Communicates With @ D2WARN Configuratio IP Address 🔞 Test (click Save before clicking Ch Device Type 192.168.2.208 묽 System Settings Firmware Logs Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Settings for This Groomer dard Configurations 🕝 + Features Manual Configuration Support Broadcast Stream Input 🕜 UDP Port IP Address Diagnostics 8000 239.250.8. Broadcast Stream Output 🚱 ASI-1 Failover Role 🕜 None

Examples of several configurations are shown below:

Figure 2-14. TSoIP Input Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for TSoIP in Multicast, ASI out. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

🥶 Groomer-B	× 🕏 AG2600	×	+				<b>o</b> –	٥	>
← → C (⊙ 1	92.168.2.206/d2warnconfigurat	tion/edit							:
= D2MAN		er-B openGear Frame ID: 2	234582075 Slot: 8						)
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configurati	ion							
D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Co	ommunicates With 😧							
Svstem Settings	Satellite Receiver	V Receiv	ame er-B	IP Address @	SNMP rocommunity @		Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check) Check 192.168.2.208		
Firmware									
Logs	Broadcast Stream Flov	v and Failover Settings fo	r This Groomer						
+ Features	Standard Configurations	0						~	
Support	Broadcast Stream Input 🕼	•		UDP Port	1	IP Address			
O Diagnostics	IP		~	8000		239.250.8.7			
	Broadcast Stream Output	0		UDP Port		IP Address			
	IP		~	1024		192.168.2.150			
	Failover Role 🚱								
	None							~	

Figure 2-15. TSoIP Input Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for TSoIP in Multicast, TSoIP out Unicast. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

	D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGea	ar Frame ID: 234582156 Slot: 2				
NAVIG	ATION	D2WARN Configuration					
-84	D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Communicates	With 🕑				
0	D2WARN Configuration	Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity @	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)	
00	System Settings	Satellite Receiver 🗸	Receiver-A	192.168.2.207	public	Check 192.168.2.207	
0	Firmware						
	Logs	Broadcast Stream Flow and Failove	r Settings for This Groomer				
+	Features	Standard Configurations 🚱					
0	Support	Manual Configuration					~
		Broadcast Stream Input 🚱		UDP Port	IP Address		
0	Diagnostics	IP	~	5000	192.168.1.205		
		Broadcast Stream Output 🚱		UDP Port	IP Address		
		IP	~	8000	192.168.1.150		
		Failover Role 🚱					
		None					~

Figure 2-16. TSoIP Input Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for TSoIP in, TSoIP out. Unicast. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

### 2.4.8.4 Broadcast Stream Output set to ASI-1

In this configuration the broadcast stream output from the groomer is configured to the **ASI-1 OUT** port. This is similar to the standard ASI configurations described above, however the input may now be set to **ASI-1** or **IP**.

### 2.4.8.5 Broadcast Stream Output set to IP

Note: Internal Failover is not supported for TSoIP configurations. If the input and/or output are set for IP, only one groomer is used. The other groomer is not used. It may remain in the frame if desired and kept as "warm" spare. The station must provide for redundancy externally. There is no built in redundancy.

Note: When configured for Input None the output of the groomer is an unrefenced PID at a very low data rate. The stations mux may need to be specially configured to accept this. Check with your equipment manufacturer's Technical Support.

This configuration allows the system to be set up for ASI in / TSoIP out, TSoIP in / TSoIP out, or Input None / TSoIP out. To configure the **Broadcast Stream Output**, enter the port and IP address of the IP equipment downstream from the WARN system. Choose **Failover Role**: **None** from the drop down menu. Click **Save**.

The IP address may be a Unicast or Multicast address. If a Unicast address is entered, it *must* be on the same subnet as the **Eth1** port.

The physical input port for TSoIP is the groomer's **Eth 1** port on the back of the groomer. The TSoIP input and output share the same physical port. The **Eth1** IP address is the groomer's Source Address.

The D2WARN system supports multicast UDP, 7 packets per frame, with no error correction.

Examples of several configurations are shown below:

🥶 Groomer-B	× 5 AG2600	×   +			o –		
← → C ③ 192.1	58.2.206/d2warnconfiguration/edit					<b>.</b> :	
= D2MANAG	Groomer-B openGear F	Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8			admin ~		
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration						
D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Communicates W Device Type	fith 🕑 Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity 😡	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)		
System Settings	Satellite Receiver 🗸	Receiver-B	192.168.2.208	public	Check 192.168.2.208		
Firmware							
E Logs	Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover S	Settings for This Groomer					
+ Features	Standard Configurations @ Manual Configuration					~	
<ul> <li>Support</li> </ul>	Broadcast Stream Input 🕖						
Diagnostics	ASI-1					~	
	Broadcast Stream Output 🚱		UDP Port	IP Address			
	IP	~	8000	239.250.9.8			
	Failover Role 🚱						
	None					~	

Figure 2-17. TSoIP Output Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for ASI in, TSoIP out Multicast. Failover Role: None.

👥 Groomer-B	× 💅 AG2600	×   +			0 -	
← → C ③ 192.1	68.2.206/d2warnconfiguration/edit					<b>±</b> :
= D2MANAC	GE Groomer-B openGear	Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8			admin ~	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration					
D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Communicates V	Nith 😧	IP Address 🖌	SNMP recommunity	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)	
금품 System Settings	Satellite Receiver	Receiver-B	192.168.2.208	public	Check 192.168.2.208	
Firmware						
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>Features</li> </ul>	Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Standard Configurations @	Settings for This Groomer				
Support	Manual Configuration					~
Diagnostics	ASI-1					~
	Broadcast Stream Output 🕐		UDP Port	IP Address		
	IP	~	8000	192.168.1.150		
	Failover Role 🕜					
	None					~

Figure 2-18. TSoIP Output Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for ASI in, TSoIP out Unicast. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

🔮 Groomer-B	× 5 AG2600	×   +			<b>o</b> –	o ×
← → C ③ 192.16	8.2.206/d2warnconfiguration/edi	it				. :
= D2MANAG	Groomer-B oper	nGear Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8			admin ~	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration					
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration     System Settings	Cards this Groomer Communic Device Type Satellite Receiver	ates With 🕑 Device Name V Receiver-B	IP Address @	SNMP rocommunity  public	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check) Check 192.168.2.208	
Firmware						
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>Features</li> </ul>	Broadcast Stream Flow and Fai Standard Configurations @	ilover Settings for This Groomer				
<ul> <li>Support</li> </ul>	Manual Configuration Broadcast Stream Input 🚱		UDP Port	IP Address		~
Diagnostics	IP	~	8000	239.250.8.7		
	Broadcast Stream Output 🚱		UDP Port	IP Address		
	IP	~	8000	239.250.9.8		
	Failover Role 🚱					
	None					~

Figure 2-19. TSoIP Output Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for TSoIP in, TSoIP out. Multicast. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

•••	Groomer-B		× ≶ AG2600		×   +				0	-	٥	×
$\leftarrow$	→ C ③ 192.1	68.2.2	06/d2warnconfiguration/edi	t								:
≡	D2.MANAG	ЭE	Groomer-B oper	iGear F	rame ID: 234582075 Slot: 8				ac	dmin ~		) Si
NAVI	GATION	D	2WARN Configuration									
.0 ©	D2WARN Status D2WARN Configuration		Cards this Groomer Communica Device Type	ates W	ith 😧 Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity		Connection Test (click Save before clicking Che	eck)		
쁆	System Settings		Satellite Receiver	~	Receiver-B	192.168.2.208	public		Check 192.168.2.208			
٥	Firmware											
8	Logs		Broadcast Stream Flow and Fai	lover S	ettings for This Groomer							
+	Features		Manual Configuration								~	
0	Support		Broadcast Stream Input 🚱									
0	Diagnostics		NONE								~	
			Broadcast Stream Output 🚱			UDP Port		IP Address				
			IP		~	8000		239.250.9.8				
			Failover Role 🚱									
			None								~	

Figure 2-20. TSoIP Output Configuration. Groomer B is Configured for Input None, TSoIP out Multicast. Failover Role: None. External IP Address Eth1 set to 192.168.1.206.

### 2.4.9 SMPTE-310 IN and/or OUT

The D2WARN system will support SMPTE-310 for the Input, the Output, or both. SMPTE-310 support is provided by an optional Ross SMPTE-310 converter module installed in slot 11. Jumpers must be installed to connect the ASI IN and/or ASI OUT between the groomers and the converter card. The Ross SMPTE-310 converter card may be monitored using DashBoard.



Figure 2-21. Ross ASI-310 Converter Block Diagram

If DashBoard is used, DashBoard may be used to configure the Ross Converter card:

🔅 Basic Tree View 🗙 🐂 🖬	🚯 Tally Service - Tally	R NK Switchboard	📏 Global Labels		Frame 21953	i3130 - Slot O - M	IFC-OG3-N	🕑 Frame	219533130 - Slot	11 - ASI-310	×
🗐 🕂 C 🕂 🛅 🗄	Slot 11: ASI-310			4	Settings	ASI To 310	310 To ASI	GPIO	Edit Strings	Alarms	
Filter:	Card state: 🔵 OK			_ <u>'</u>							
Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	Connection: 😑 ONLI	NE									
> 🥑 Slot 1: AG2600											
<ul> <li>Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OG</li> <li>Slot 5: AG2600</li> <li>Slot 5: AG2600</li> </ul>	Product Alarms	GPIO Status Alarm Co	ounters								
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-OG					310 Output B	Bit Rate 💿 1	9.39 Mbps 🔵	38.78 Mbps			
Slot 11: ASI-310					Output Pack	ket Size 🔿 4					
Slot 14: SW #1 Msg Src					Calpat r acr		00				
Slot 18: SW #2 Vid Src Slot 18: SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP)	Product ASI-3	10					204				
Slot 20: Used as DA	Manufacturer Ross	Video Ltd.				○ 2	208				
> 🍓 DashBoard Services	Hardware Rev B				PCR Rest	tamping 💿 (	Dn 🔵 Off				
🗿 Layouts 🛛 🚹 File Navi 🗙 🗖 🗮	Software Rev F				310 Outpu	ut Clock 🔵 L	.ock to 310 Inpu	t 💿 Free-r	unning		
 ₽ + ō	Firmware Rev D				310 Input B	Bit Rate 💿 1	9.39 Mbps 🔵	38.78 Mbps			
Filter:	Rear Module 40										
🔀 empty	Current (mA) 400										
	Serial Number 50221	103003									
			Refresh		Upload		Reboot				Close

Figure 2-22. Configuring the Ross Converter Card using DashBoard

## 2.5 Wireless Emergency Alert (WEA) Settings

The WARN Alert Messages are sent to each station via Galaxy 16, transponder 22 vertical, and carried on PID 0x911 (decimal 2321). The downlinked signal is split and fed into the WARN system. Supported input formats for feeding the Alert Messages into the WARN system are:

- L-Band from the LNB or over a fiber link
- ASI
- TSoIP

Descriptions and configuration instructions for each format are provided below.
### 2.5.1 Satellite Dish and WARN System in Separate Locations

For stations with the satellite dish and WARN system at different locations, Ethernet or fiber links may be used to feed the downlink signal into the WARN system. In all cases where the satellite dish and WARN system are at different locations it is important that the Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receivers remain in their openGear frame slots. If the satellite receivers are removed, the groomers will not be able to communicate with them using SNMP. The system will alarm, and the frame's light bar will flash. Configuring DashBoard to prevent the light bar from flashing on a card fault is not recommended. Doing so will prevent the light bar from flashing for <u>any</u> card faults, including the groomers.

### 2.5.2 L-Band from the LNB or L-Band over Fiber Link

In most installations the L-Band signal from the satellite receive LNB is spilt and fed into each Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver. The ASI output of each Sencore receiver is then fed into the **ASI2** input of its associated groomer. In these installations **ASI-2** is selected under **Alert Message Source** on the **D2WARN Configuration** page:

🔮 Groomer-A	K 🥶 Groomer-B 🗙 🖌 🍠 AG260	0 × S AG2600	×   +	- 🛛 🗙
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C (S 192.168.2.205/	d2warnconfiguration/edit			Θ :
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID	: 219533130 Slot: 4		admin v D2D
NAVIGATION	Primary			~
📶 D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Configuration	Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Tin	neout & Insertion Settings		
器 System Settings	ASI-2			~
Firmware	Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds	) 0		
Logs	40			
+ Features	Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes)	0		
Support	60			
1 Diagnostics	PID Replacement Options (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱 Replace ETT	Replace EIT	Replace Video	Video PID (hex range 0-1fff) 🔞
	Enabled ~	Enabled ~	Enabled ~	31
	Valid WARN PIDs (hex range 1-1fff, 0 is disabled) 🚱			
	911	0	0	0
	Valid Additional WARN Content Types (bit range 001	D-1111) 😧 🕇		
	Save			

Figure 2-23. Alert Messages Source Configuration, ASI input

Stations with the satellite receive dish and WARN system at separate locations, and connected using an L-Band over fiber link would configure the Alert Message Source the same. In these installations the L-Band output from the fiber link would be split and fed into each Sencore receiver.

### 2.5.3 ASI

With the satellite receive dish located separately from the WARN system, a satellite receiver with an ASI output may be used. At the other end of the link, ASI from the downlink can be fed either into the Sencore receivers (recommended) or directly into the groomers. To configure the Sencore receivers to accept ASI, click on the settings icon next to **Input Selection** on the receiver's GUI. A window will open. Select **ASI** and click on **Apply**:

<b>Sencore</b>	AG2600			
Logged in as: admin	Main Admin Reporting About	Temperature: 44.6 C (112.3 F)	System Status	a Logout
	Main Control Panel Inputs Show Jourse Jackwa Joout	R View PSI Tables		
_	Input Selection         Active:         DVB-S2 Port A         Primary:         DVB-S2 Port A         Backup:         None           Image: Image	66.842 Mbps		
	Data Outputs			
	ASI	66.842 Mbps 🛛 🔵		

Figure 2-24. Configuring the Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver for ASI Input

Primary: D	VB-S2 Port A Backup:
Configure Inputs	
Primary Input:	DVB-S2 Port A 🔹
Backup Input:	None
Switch On:	DVB-S2 Port A
Bastara On:	DVB-S2 Port B
Restole OII.	ASI
Switchover (secs.):	10
_	Apply Cancel

#### Figure 2-25. Selecting ASI

Sencore	AG2600						
Logged in as: admin	Main Admin Reporting	About			Temperature: 44.4 C (111.9 F)	System Status	a Logout
	Main Control Panel						
	Inputs						
	🔍 Show Unused Inputs 📑	Switch to Backup Input			View PSI Table	IS	
	Input Selection	Active: ASI	Primary: ASI	Backup: None			
	🎲 ASI	Null Stripped: Disabled			19.394 Mbps		
	Data Outputs						
	Show Unused Outputs						
	🎲 ASI				19.394 Mbps	•	

Figure 2-26. The Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver Configured for ASI Input

If desired, ASI may be fed directly into **ASI2 IN** on the back of each groomer. This is acceptable, however the Sencore receiver cards should remain installed in their openGear slots to avoid the groomers from alarming, and the openGear frame's light bar flashing.

### 2.5.4 TSoIP

With the satellite receive dish located separately from the WARN system, a satellite receiver with TSoIP output may be used. At the other end of the link, TSoIP from the downlink can be fed into the groomers. To configure the groomers to accept TSoIP, select IP under Alert Message Source on the D2WARN Configuration page. Enter the UDP Port and IP Address. Click Save:

≡	D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID:	219533130 Sla	nt: 4				
NAVIG	ATION	Primary						~
oDa	D2WARN Status							
٩	D2WARN Configuration	Wireless Emergency Alert Message (WEA) Tim	eout & Insertior	Settings				
	System Settings	IP	~	8000		239.250.8.7		
٥	Firmware	Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds)	0					
	Logs	40						
+	Features	Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes)						
0	Support	60						
		PID Replacement Options (hex range 0-1fff) 🔞						
0	Diagnostics	Replace ETT	Replace EIT		Replace Video		Video PID (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱	
		Enabled ~	Enabled	~	Enabled	~	31	
		Valid WARN PIDs (hex range 1-1fff, 0 is disabled) 🚱						
		911	0		0		0	
		Valid Additional WARN Content Types (bit range 0010	-1111) 🛛 🕂					
		Save						

Figure 2-27. Alert Messages Source Configuration, TSoIP input

When the alert message source is configured for TSoIP, internal failover is not supported. This is true even with the WARN system configured for ASI In/ASI Out.

### 2.5.5 ASI and TSoIP

A combination of ASI and TSoIP may also be used. For example, ASI out of a remote receiver may be converted to TsoIP for transmission over a fiber link. And then converted back to ASI for feeding into the WARN system, as discussed above.

Note: Alternatively, TSoIP out of the link may also be used to feed the WARN system. However, when the alert message source is configured for TSoIP, internal failover is not supported.

### 2.5.6 Alert Message Heartbeat Warning Timeout (seconds)

This is also referred to as the "short" timeout, and is measured in seconds. It is set to detect the short term disappearance of Alert Message heartbeats most likely caused by rain fade. This value should be set to a number greater than the 30 second period of the Alert Message heartbeats. The default is 40 seconds. When the seconds timeout is reached it will only issue a warning since it may be an indication of rain fade. To set the short term timeout, enter a number and click **Save**.

Note: The value for the "short" timeout should be the same for both Groomer A and Groomer B.

## 2.5.7 Alert Message Heartbeat Failure Timeout (minutes)

This is also referred to as the "long" timeout, and is measured in minutes. It is set to detect the long term disappearance of Alert Message heartbeats caused by a card or other hardware failure (such as a cable or splitter). This value should be set to greater than the length of a typical rain fade. The default is 60 minutes. When the Primary Groomer's minutes timeout is reached it will be considered a failure and failover to the Backup Groomer. To set the long term timeout, enter a number and click **Save**.

Note: The value for the "long" timeout should be the same for both Groomer A and Groomer B.

## 2.5.8 PID Replacement Options

PID Replacement Options settings are found on the D2WARN Configuration page, toward the bottom of the page.

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 🔐 Groomer-B	×   <i>≶</i> AG2600	×   5 AG2600	×   +		- 0 ×
$\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.168.2	2.205/d2warnconfiguration/edit					0
D2MANA	AGE Groon	ner-A openGear Frame ID: 219533130 S	Slot: 4			
VIGATION	Primary					~
D2WARN Status						
D2WARN Configuration	Wireless Emergency	Alert Message (WEA) Timeout & Inserti	on Settings			
묽 System Settings	Alert Message Source	>				~
Firmware	Alert Message Heartbea	at Warning Timeout (seconds) 🚱				
🖹 Logs	40					
+ Features	Alert Message Heartbe	at Failure Timeout (minutes) 😧				
3 Support	60					
	PID Replacement Option	ns (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱				
Diagnostics	Replace ETT	Replace EIT		Replace Video	Video PID (hex range 0-1fff) 🚱	
	Enabled	✓ Enabled	~	Enabled	∽ 31	
	Valid WARN PIDs (hex n	ange 1-1fff, 0 is disabled) 🕜				
	911	0		0	0	
	Valid Additional WARN	Content Types (bit range 0010-1111) 🛛 🕇				
	Save					

Figure 2-25. PID Replacement Options, D2WARN Configuration page

Select which PIDs are used for Alert Message insertion in the event there are not enough "null" packets in the station's broadcast stream for injecting the Alert Messages. PID replacement allows for message insertion by replacing PSIP PIDs or, in a worst case scenario, a video PID.

PID replacement will occur in the following order:

#### Note: All PIDS are listed in Hexadecimal

- Replace ETT: Allows for injecting Alert Messages by the replacing Extended Text Table (Dynamic PSIP) packets. The timeout for ETT replacement is 100 ms for pre-emptive messages, and 5 minutes for normal messages. The configuration choices enabled or disabled.
- Replace EIT: Allows for injecting Alert Messages by the replacing Event Information Table (Dynamic PSIP) packets. The timeout for EIT replacement is 100 ms for pre-emptive messages, and 5 minutes for normal messages. The configuration choices enabled or disabled.

- Replace Video: If enabled allows for injecting Alert Messages by the replacing packets of a video PID. The timeout for Video PID replacement is 200 ms for pre-emptive messages, and 10 minutes for normal messages. The configuration choices enabled or disabled. Entering 0 in the Video PID box will also disable Replace Video.
- 4. Video PID: Specifies the Video PID to be used for Video PID replacement. The value entered here sets which video PID to replace when **Replace Video** is enabled. Entering **0** will disable **Replace Video**.
- 5. Valid WARN PIDS: Configures which PIDs the system will look for to find Alert Messages. The system will always look for PID 911. This entry is read only and cannot be changed. Additional PIDs to use for messages may be entered here (to allow for future functionality).
- 6. Valid Additional WARN Content Types: Clicking on the + will open a new window:

	Groomer-A 2	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	× 🖉 🗲 AG2600	x   3	AG2600	×   +	- 🛛 ×
$\leftarrow$	→ C ③ 192.168.2.205/	/d2warnconfiguration/edit					<b>0</b> :
≡	D2MANAG	E Groome	r-A openGear Frame ID: 2195	33130 Slot: 4			
NAVIO	SATION	Wireless Emergency Al	ert Message (WEA) Timeout	Insertion Settings			
oDo	D2WARN Status	Alert Message Source 🚱					
٢	D2WARN Configuration	ASI-2					~
	System Settings	Alert Message Heartbeat V	Varning Timeout (seconds) 😧				
٥	Firmware	Alert Message Heartbeat F	ailure Timeout (minutes) 🚱				
	Logs	60					
+	Features	PID Replacement Options	(hex range 0-1fff) 🚱		0010		
•	Cunnert	Replace ETT	Repl	ace EIT	0011 0100		
	Support	Enabled	~ E	abled	0101 0110		
0	Diagnostics	Valid WARN PIDs (hex rang	ge 1-1fff, 0 is disabled) 🚱		0111 1000		
		911	0		1001		
		Valid Additional WARN Con	ntent Types (bit range 0010-1111	0+ 🗕 🗕	1100		
		Content Type Name			1110 1111		
		Name			0010		~ ×
		-					
		Save					

Figure 2-26. Currently Undefined Additional WARN Content Types (Future Expansion)

7. Valid WARN Content Types: Configures which Content types the system will look for in Alert Messages. The system currently supports CMAC and CAP message types. The Content Type Name may be entered. The drop down selection shows 14 other binary combinations possible with a 4 bit field. These are currently undefined for future expansion.

# **3 Operation**

Once the D2WARN system has been installed and configured for the desired signal flow and failover scenario, operation is straightforward. In normal use, the user logs in to Groomer A and observes the system status on the **D2WARN Status** page. Four browser windows can be opened so that Groomer A, Groomer B, Satellite Receiver A and Satellite Receiver B are available.

D2MANA(	GE Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234582	2075 Slot: 2		admin v
GATION	D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Status	Internal Temperature: 56.23 C 🖗	Max Interna	Temperature: 60 54 C 🖌	Untime: 2 Days 05:49:42
D2WARN Configuration		mux morna	remperature. 00.04 0 U	opune. 2 bays 00.49.42
System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Moni	toring
Firmware	Broadcast Input @	Broadcast Output 🙆	Broadcast Input @	Broadcast Output 🙆
Logs	18.620 0.7	18 18 620 0.7	78 138 613	0.776 18.613
Features	19.398 Mbps	19.398 Mbps	19.389 Mbps	19.388 Mbps
Support	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱
Diagnostics	66.865 Mbps	98	66.833 Mbps	98
	Last Alert Message: NONE		Revert Back to Primary Groomer	
	Satellite RX Communications: @	Fans: 😧	Last Alert Message: NONE	
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 🚱	Satellite RX Communications: @	Fans: 😧
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 😧	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1:
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 😧	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2:
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🔞	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🕖	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 😧
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🕑	Video Pid Inserting: 🚱	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🕑	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱
	Bunaas Laakdaum A		EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🕑	Video Pid Inserting: 🕢

Figure 3-1. Groomer A Status page with both Groomers and both Satellite Receivers Available

Optionally, a fifth browser window may be opened for the Frame, although this is usually not necessary.

The status of each groomer is shown at the top of the **D2WARN Status** page. Also shown is the Role of each Groomer (for example, Primary or Backup).

👥 Groomer-A	🗙 🕮 Groomer-B 🗙 🖌	🗲 AG2600 🛛 🗙 🖉 A	G2600 ×   +	-	o ×
← → C ③ 192.16	58.2.205/d2warnstatus/				Θ:
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 23458	2075 Slot: 2		admin ~ 🧧	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Status					
D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 55.61 C 🕢	N	tax Internal Temperature: 60.54 C 😧	Uptime: 2 Days 06:04:53	
🏶 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Monitoring		
Firmware	prodeast input @	Broadcast Output @	Browleast input @	Broadcast Output 🚱	
Logs	18.417 0	48 18 697	0.748 (18.642 0.75)	9 18 642	0.749
+ Features	19.385 Mbps	19.385 Mbps	19.391 Mbps	19.391 Mbps	
Support	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	_
Diagnostics	66.818 Mbps	19\$	66.842 Mbps	185	
	Last Alert Message: NONE		Revert Back to Filmary Groomer		_

Figure 3-2. D2WARN Status

Groomer A's status page will display the status of both Groomer A and B when the system is configured for internal failover:

Groomer-A	🗙 🕺 Groomer-B 🗙 🖌 ≤	✓ AG2600 × S AG2600	×   +	-	o ×
← → C ③ 192.16	58.2.205/d2warnstatus/				•
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 23458	2075 Slot: 2		ədmin ~	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 55.61 C 🕢	Max internal Te	mperature: 60.54 C 🕢	Uptime: 2 Days 06:01:08	
System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Monitoring	1	
<ul><li>Firmware</li><li>Logs</li></ul>	Broadcast Input 🖗	Broadcast Output 🚱	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🕑	0.764
+ Features  Support	19.403 Mbps	19.403 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat @	19.393 Mbps	19.393 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat @	
Diagnostics	66.881 Mbps Last Alert Message: NONE	Ss	66.851 Mbps Revert Back to Primary Groomer	45	
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 🚱 🔹	Last Alert Message: NONE		_
	Groomer Pair Communications:	Power Supply 1:  Power Supply 2:  Power	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 🚱	
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: @	openGear Communications: 🕢 🔹	Power Supply 2: 🚱	•
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🕑	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱 🛛 🌑	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 🚱	•
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🚱	Video Pid Inserting: 🚱	Video PID Available for Inserting:	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱	
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 🚱 🛛 🌑	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 🚱	•

Figure 3-3. D2WARN System Configured for Internal Failover

Groomer A's status page will only display the status of Groomer A when the system is not configured for internal failover. In these cases, the status of Groomer B must be observed on its D2WARN Status page by opening its GUI (window).

🔐 Groomer-A	🗙 🕺 Groomer-B	× 🕏 AG2600	×   💋 AG2600	×   +	- 0 ×
← → C ③ 192.16	8.2.206/d2warnstatus/				Θ :
= D2MANAG	Groomer-B openGear Frame I	D: 234582075 Slot: 8			admin v D2D vectorecores
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 5	6.48 C 😧	Max Internal Tempo	rature: 61.40 C 😧	Uptime: 2 Days 05:51:17
System Settings	Groomer-B Role: None Status: Alert Message In	serting			
Firmware	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🕑			
Logs	18.612	0.788 18.612	0.787		
Support	Input from Satellite Receiver 😧	Satellite Receiver Ale	rt Message Heartbeat 😧		
<ul> <li>Diagnostics</li> </ul>	66.872 Mbps		18s		
	Last Alert Message: NONE				
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 🕑	•		
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🕜	Power Supply 1: 🕑	•		
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2:	•		
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message Forma</li> </ul>	at: 🚱 📃		
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 😧	<ul> <li>Alert Message in Prir</li> </ul>	nary Broadcast: 😧 🛛 🔵		
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting:	Video Pid Inserting: (	•		
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing	in Broadcast: 🥝 📃 🔵		

Figure 3-4. D2WARN System Configured for Failover Role None

The configurations where both groomers will be displayed on the **D2WARN Status** page are below: ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary ASI Flow – Failover Role Backup ASI Flow – Failover Role Primary – No Video Input ASI Flow – Failover Role Backup – No Video Input Manual Configuration – Failover Role Primary Manual Configuration – Failover Role Backup

The configurations where only one groomer will be displayed on the **D2WARN Status** page are shown below: ASI Flow – Failover Role None ASI Flow – Failover Role Bypass ASI Flow – Failover Role None – No Video Input Manual Configuration – Failover None Manual Configuration – Failover Bypass

When configured for internal failover, Groomer A's status page can be used for all monitoring of both groomers. In the event of a failover, the **Revert Back to Primary Groomer** button on Groomer B's status page is used once the event has cleared.



Figure 3-5. The Revert Back to Primary Groomer Button on the Backup Groomer's Web Page

Once an event which caused a failover has been cleared, the **Revert Back to Primary Groomer** button will turn red. The user must click on this button on Groomer B's **D2WARN Status** page to restore normal operation.

If the Groomers cannot communicate with each other, the status pane for one of groomers will be "greyed out." This only applies to groomers that are in Primary or Backup role. The groomer which does not receive an update from its associated groomer will "grey out" the associated groomer's status pane.

🧱 Groomer-A	🗙 🚆 Groomer-B	≶ AG2600 ×	AG2600 ×   +	- 0 >
← → C ③ 192.16	8.2.206/d2warnstatus/			Θ
= D2MANAG	Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 23	14582075 Slot: 8		admin ~ D C D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 56.11 (	0	Max Internal Temperature: 61.40 C 😡	Uptime: 2 Days 05:36:55
System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inse	rting (Groomer has timed out)	Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert N	lessage Monitoring Degraded
Firmware	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🚱	Broadcast Input 🕑	Broadcast Output 🚱
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>+ Features</li> </ul>	(18.679 19.391 Mbps	0.712 18.681 19.393 Mbps	0.7) 2 (18.641 19.393 Mbps	0.752 (18.640 0.752 0.752 0.752
Support	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat	Input from Satellite Receiver	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱
Diagnostics		17s	66.846 Mbps Revert Back to Primary Groomer	265
	Last Alert Message: NONE		Last Alert Message: NONE	
	Satellite RX Communications: 🔞	Fans: 🚱		
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1:	Satellite RX Communications:	Paner Sumhrit
	openGear Communications: 🕢	Power Supply 2:	openGear Communications: 0	Power Suppy 1.
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🔞	Alert Message Format: <sup>(2)</sup>	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: @	Alert Message Format: @
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱</li> </ul>	Video PID Available for Inserting: @	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast:
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting:	Video Pid Inserting:	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: @	Video Pid Inserting:
	Bypass Lockdown: 😡	EIT/ETT PId Missing in Broadcast:	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast:

Figure 3-6. Groomer B is not Receiving Updates from Groomer A

Various alarm indicators are displayed on the **D2WARN Status** page. The meaning of each alarm can be found by placing the cursor over that alarm's Tool Tip:

For example, the Tool Tip for Groomer Pair Communications is: If alarmed, Groomer B cannot communicate with Groomer A.

A complete description of all status indications, alarms, and indicators is provided in the Section: Monitoring.

# 4 Failsafe and Internal Failover

The D2WARN system has the ability to detect hardware failures and faults, and failover to the backup or place itself in bypass mode if it meets certain requirements. The details are provided in this section.

# 4.1 ASI Failsafe

The system is built around the D2Flex digital video multiplexer (groomer) that handles the PID insertion, grooming, monitoring and alerting of the broadcast stream. In the unexpected case where the D2Flex processor fails or power is lost, a failsafe ASI bypass ensures that the broadcast stream is maintained.

#### **ASI Failsafe Conditions:**

1. Power Failure: If the groomer loses power, the ASI bypass relay de-energizes and directly connects the ASI-1 Input to the ASI-1 Output.

2. Processor Watchdog: In the unusual circumstance where the embedded Linux operating system becomes unresponsive, the ASI bypass relay de-energizes and directly connects the ASI-1 Input to the ASI-1 Output.

If one of the groomers goes into ASI Failsafe mode, the D2WARN Automatic Failover system design still ensures insertion of the designated message PID(s).

### 4.2 Internal ASI Failover

The D2WARN system can be configured for internal redundancy switching. Its operation is described in Section: **Configurations.** 

### 4.3 Failover Specifications

#### **Startup Mode**

At startup, Groomer A and Groomer B will attempt to communicate with each other. Startup does not check for any error conditions other than Groomer Pair communications. As soon as Groomer Pair Communications are established, Monitor Mode is started.

#### **Monitor Mode**

Monitoring checks for failover error events and initiates a failover if necessary. This section describes the error causes for a failover event, conditions required to activate the failover, and the requirements for ending the failover event and reverting insert operations to Groomer A.

#### Failover Error Causes:

- Groomer-A Receiver Input Error Satellite Receiver Failure (Heartbeat Failure "long" Timeout)
- Groomer-A Receiver Input Error Satellite Receiver Warning (Heartbeat Warning "short" Timeout) and no status update received from its associated receiver
- Groomer-A Alert Message Source Input Error (Alert Messages) Input from Satellite Receiver Failure (Heartbeat "long" Failure Timeout)
- Groomer-A Alert Message Source Input Error (Alert Messages) Input from Satellite Receiver Warning (Heartbeat Warning "short" Timeout) and no status update received from its associated receiver
- Groomer A Failure

Note: Failover will occur only if there are no Groomer B Receiver Input Errors.

#### **Revert Back to Primary Groomer Button Enable:**

- Groomer A has no Satellite Receiver input errors
- Groomer A has valid Satellite Receiver Pair communications

#### **Revert Back to Primary Groomer Activation:**

• Revert Button is clicked on Groomer B's D2WARN Status page

### 4.4 Configurations with Failover Support

At this time internal failover is only supported with ASI signal flow configurations, or SMPTE-310 with the converter. There is no redundancy for the SMPTE-310 converter. Internal failover for TSoIP configurations is not supported.

### 4.5 Configurations with Failover and Failsafe Support

The following configuration are supported with failover and failsafe protection as noted below.

Video In	Video Out	WARN Source	Notes
ASI	ASI	Sat RX, ASI	
ASI	310	Sat RX, ASI	D2WARN-310M card required
310	ASI	Sat RX, ASI	D2WARN-310M card required
310	310	Sat RX, ASI	D2WARN-310M card required
None	ASI	Sat RX, ASI	
None	310	Sat RX, ASI	D2WARN-310M card required

# 4.6 External Failover Configuration

The D2WARN system can be configured with the two Receiver-Groomer pairs independent of each other to allow member stations to run the systems in parallel.

PBS member stations are responsible for switching the ASI, SMPTE-310 or TSoIP output stream in case of a component or system failure. No automatic failover is provided by the D2WARN system.

# 5 Monitoring

The D2WARN system provides multiple methods for monitoring the health of the system, including front panel light bar, browser-based status page, and SNMP traps.

## 5.1 Front Panel LED Color Indicators

The D2WARN system controls the front panel light bar of the openGear frame. The light bar provides a visual indication of the overall health of the system. If DashBoard is installed, the user has the option to configure the color as desired. For instructions on how to configure the light bar colors using DashBoard, see the Section: **Updating the openGear Frame Firmware and Configuring the Frame Light Bar**.

Note: If the Frame cannot communicate with the Groomers, the light bar will not function correctly.

As received from the factory the default colors are:

#### Blue = All Good. Everything is working.



Figure 5-1. Blue Indicates the System is Fully Functional with no Alarms



### Yellow = Warning. System still functional but degraded. Check SNMP or GUI.

Figure 5-2. Yellow Indicates You Should Check the Groomer for Alarms

Red = Failure. One or both of the Groomers is configured in Bypass, or the system is non-functional and requires Immediate attention. Check SNMP or GUI.



Figure 5-3. Red Indicates Immediate Attention is Required

### 5.2 D2WARN Status via the GUI

The D2WARN Status page shows the overall health of the system, including **Internal Temperature**, **Max Internal Temperature** reached since the last time the groomer was restarted, and **Uptime**. Groomer status, signal presence and data rate, and alarms can also be seen at a glance.

Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🔤	🗲 AG2600 🛛 🗙 🖉 AG2600	×   +	- <b>o</b> ×
← → C ③ 192.168.2	2.205/d2warnstatus/index			Θ :
= D2MANAGE	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 21953	13130 Slot: 4		admin ~ D 2 D recruix covers
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status	Groomer Status	]	
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 66.93 C 😡		nperature: 68.41 C 😡	Uptime: 0 Days 01:01:52
器 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message M	Ionitoring
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> <li>Logs</li> </ul>	Broadcast Input 😧	Broadcast Output	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🚱
+ Features	19.410 Mbps	19.411 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	18.648 19.407 Mbps Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	0.759 (18.648 0.757) 19.405 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱
<ul><li>Support</li><li>Diagnostics</li></ul>	66.884 Mbps	185	66.866 Mbps	165 Message
	Last Alert Message: 03/25/21 10:02:36: WARN System T	est Prio <del>city.</del> Normal	Last Alert Message: 12/31/69 20:52:39: WARN Sy	ystem Test Priority: Normal
Signal Presence	Satellite RX Communications: Groomer Pair Communications:	Fans: 😧	Satellite RX Communications.	Fans: 😧
and Data	openGear Communications: 🕑	Power Supply 2:	Gropmer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1:
itate	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: @	Alert Message Format:  Alert Message in Primary Broadcast:	Aler Message Buffer Overflow: @	Alert Message Format:
	EIT/ETT Bis inserting: <b>@</b>	Video Pid Inserting: 🖗	video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast:
Alarms	Bypass Lockdown: 😧	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 😧	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: @ Bypass Lockdown: @	Video Pid Inserting:      EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast:

Figure 5-4. D2WARN Status GUI Page

#### Note: The gray portion of the data rate bar indicates the null packets.

All status indicators will display GREEN if they are receiving proper signals, and RED if there is an issue.

The Groomer cards are linked together and will display both the Primary and Backup status in real time when configured for internal redundancy (see the Section: **Operation**).

Below is an explanation of the possible Groomer Status indications:

- 1) Alert Message Inserting (Green for primary/yellow for backup): normal operating mode for primary, warning mode if backup is inserting.
- 2) Alert Message Monitoring (Green color): normal operating mode for back up card with no alarms present.
- 3) Alert Message Inserting Degraded (Yellow color): Still inserting but has issues such as failed power supply/fan.
- 4) Alert Message Monitoring Degraded (Yellow color): Still monitoring but has issues such as failed power supply/fan.
- 5) Alert Message Failure (Red color): Not inserting messages which occurs when no heartbeat being received.
- 6) **No Broadcast Signal Detected** (Red color): This is the worst failure which occurs when no signal is detected on broadcast input. System most likely off air.

7) Alert Message Detected in Broadcast Input (Red color): This indicates that the broadcast stream coming into the system already contains PID 911. This will happen if two systems are both inserting, and one feeds the other. Once the issue has been corrected, it will take 11 minutes for the alarm to clear and turn green.

The most likely cause is another WARN system is inserting messages upstream from this system.

8) **Groomer Locked intoBypass mode. System Reset Required** (Red color): This indicates that the system has gone into Bypass mode due to an instability. The groomers must be restarted, or in some cases power cycled, to clear the event.

If the system is configured for internal failover, and Groomer A goes into **Bypass Lockdown**, the system will fail over to Groomer B. This will require the user to **Revert Back to Primary Groomer** following restart.

9) Groomer Has Timed Out: No update has been received from this groomer.

Below is an explanation for the Signal Presence and Data Rate indicators:

- 1) **Broadcast Input:** Displays the Sync status and overall bitrate of incoming broadcast transport stream whether it be ASI or IP.
  - a) Red when input is not detected. In this state system is most likely off air and requires immediate attention. Check cabling and verify input source.
  - b) When input sync is achieved the total bitrate is displayed under the status bar with Green representing the bitrate of data packets (Non-Null) and Gray representing bitrate of Null packets.
- 2) **Broadcast Output:** Displays the Sync status and overall bitrate of the outgoing broadcast transport stream whether it be ASI or IP.
  - a) Red when input is not detected. In this state system is most likely off air and requires immediate attention. Check cabling and verify input source.
  - b) When output sync is achieved the total bitrate is displayed under the status bar with Green representing the bitrate of data packets (Non-Null) and Gray representing bitrate of Null packets.
- 3) Input from Satellite Receiver: Displays the Sync status and overall bitrate of the satellite receiver transport stream whether it be ASI or IP.
  - a) Red when input is not detected. In this state the groomer is not receiving a signal from its associated receiver. Check satellite receiver settings. This alarm is a failure on a primary groomer and a warning on a backup groomer.
  - b) When output sync is achieved the total bitrate is displayed under the status bar with Green representing the bitrate of data packets (Non-Null) and Gray representing bitrate of Null packets.
- 4) Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat: Displays the heartbeat time in seconds since the last Alert Message heartbeat was received. The bar will remain Green as long as Alert Message heartbeats are being received. It will turn Red once the heartbeat seconds counter has been reached. In this state the groomer is not receiving alert message heartbeats.

The seconds will continue to count below the status bar. Once the seconds timeout has been reached it will be considered a rain fade event and will be classified as a warning. If weather indicates a rain fade this warning should be temporary and resolve on its own once weather clears.

Once the minutes timeout has been reached an equipment failure is assumed, and will be classified as a failure on a primary groomer and a warning on a backup groomer. Check for obstructions to the satellite dish, the splitter, cables, and verify Satellite Receiver settings.

5) Last Alert Message: Displays timestamp and message type of the last Alert Message received. This is an indication of an actual alert message received. Heartbeat messages do not display in this status indicator.

Below is an explanation of the Alarms:

- 6) **Satellite Receiver Communications:** Indicates if the groomer can communicate with its Satellite Receiver pair. If alarmed, verify Satellite Receiver IP address on the **D2WARN Configuration** page.
- 7) **Fans:** Displays the status of the openGear frame fans. If alarmed, verify front door of openGear frame is closed. This is a warning on both primary and backup groomers.
- 8) **Groomer Pair Communications:** Indicates if groomer can communicate with its groomer pair. If alarmed, verify groomer pair IP address on the **D2WARN Configuration** page and check status of groomer pair.
- 9) **openGear Communications:** Indicates if the groomer card can communicate with the openGear frame. If alarmed, verify IP setting of openGear frame on the **D2WARN Systems Settings** page.

#### Note: If the Frame cannot communicate with the Groomers, the light bar will not function correctly.

- 10) **Power Supplies 1 and 2:** Displays the status of the openGear frame power supplies. If alarmed, replace openGear power supply. This is a warning on both primary and backup groomers.
- 11) Alert Message Buffer Overflow: Indicates an Alert Message Buffer Overflow has occurred. If alarmed, verify there is enough bandwidth to inject Alert messages. Consider enabling PID replacement options if not already enabled. This is a warning on both primary and backup groomers.
- 12) Alert Message Format: Indicates an Alert Message Format error has occurred such as a CRC error or invalid message type. If alarmed, verify signal strength of Satellite Receiver. This is a warning on both Primary and Backup Groomers.
- 13) Video PID Available for Inserting: Indicates if transport stream packets of the Video PID configured for PID replacement has not been seen for at least 30 seconds. If alarmed, verify the Video PID replacement setting on the D2WARN Configuration page. This is a warning on both primary and backup groomers.
- 14) Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: This indicates that the broadcast stream coming into the system already contains PID 911. This will happen if two systems are both inserting, and one feeds the other. Once the issue has been corrected, it will take 11 minutes for the alarm to clear and turn green.

The most likely cause is another WARN system is inserting messages upstream from this system.

- 15) **EIT/ETT PID Inserting:** This alarm indicates that the ETT and, if necessary, the EIT PIDs are being replaced by Alert Message PIDs. This occurs if there are not enough Null packets available for normal insertion.
- 16) Video PID Inserting: This alarm indicates that the video PID is being replaced by Alert Message PIDs. This is a worst case scenario and occurs if there are not enough Null, ETT, and EIT packets available for normal insertion.
- 17) **Bypass Lockdown:** This alarm indicates that the system has gone into bypass mode due to an instability. The groomers must be restarted, or in some cases power cycled, to clear the event.
- 18) **EIT/ETT PID Missing in Broadcast:** This alarm indicates that there are no EIT or ETT PIDs found in the broadcast stream input. This alarm is activated if EIT/ETT PIDs are not detected for 10 minutes.

### 5.3 SNMP System Monitoring and Alerts

The health of the D2WARN system can be continuously monitored with SNMP status for remote monitoring and traps for alarm conditions. All failsafe and failover scenarios are detected and alerted by the groomers in the system.

The Groomer's alarms may be monitored using SNMP traps. The MIBs may be obtained from D2D, or downloaded from the Groomer.

To download the MIBs currently loaded onto the groomer, click on Support on the left margin of the GUI:

🤲 Groomer-A	🗙 🔮 Groomer-B	×   ∮ AG2600	×   ≤ AG2600	×   + – –
← → C (S 192.16	8.2.205/d2warnstatus/			e
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear	Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4		admin v D2 TECHNOLO
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 6	6.32 C 🤪 Max Inter	nal Temperature: 69.03 C 🕢	Uptime: 1 Day 01:46:33
🗄 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert N	Aessage Inserting	Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Aler	t Message Monitoring
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> <li>Logs</li> </ul>	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🕑	Broadcast Input 🕑	Broadcast Output 😧
+ Features	19.390 Mbps	0.610 18.780 0 19.390 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbea Q	19.396 Mbps t Input from Satellite Receiver @	0.597 (18.799 0.59 19.396 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat
Diagnostics	66.815 Mbps	15	66.831 Mbps Revert Back to Primary Groomer	18
	Last Alert Message: 03/25/21 10:23:00	5: WARN System Test Priority: Normal	Last Alert Message: 12/31/69 21:13	3:09: WARN System Test Priority: Normal
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans:      Power Supply 1:	Satellite RX Communications:	Fans: 😧
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 🚱	Groomer Pair Communications:	Power Supply 1:
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message Format: 😧</li> </ul>	openGear Communications:	Power Supply 2:
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: </li> </ul>	Alert Message Buffer Overflow:      Video PID Available for Inserting:	Alert Message Format:
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting:	Video Pid Inserting:	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting:	Video Pid Inserting:
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT PIG MISSING IN Broadcast: @	Bypass Lockdown: 🕑	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 2

Figure 5-5. Downloading the MIBs from the Groomer

The D2D-MIB.txt and the D2D-WARN-MIB.text file may be downloaded to the user PC:

🥶 Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	×   🥩 AG2600	×   🝠 AG2600	$\times  $ +	- 🗆 ×
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.1	68.2.205/support/				<b>8</b> :
= D2MANAG	GE Groomer-A open	Gear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4			admin ~ D2D
NAVIGATION	Support				
D2WARN Status	Manuals				
D2WARN Configuration	Download D2WARN Manual PDF (	Rev 5, March 2021)			
岩 System Settings					
Firmware					
🖹 Logs	Download D2D-MIR txt /Rev 1.0.S	apt 2010)			
+ Features	Download D2D-Mib.txt (Nev 1.0, S	ept 2019)			
<ul> <li>Support</li> </ul>	Download D2D-WARN-MIB.txt (Re	v 1.2, March 2021)			
Diagnostics					
	2021 © D2D Technologies				
D2D-WARN-MIB.txt	▲ D2D-MIB.txt	$\sim$			Show all X

Figure 5-6. Downloading the MIBs from the Groomer

The manual may also be downloaded from the **Support** page. This manual was current at the time of the firmware release.

Note: A revised manual may be released before new firmware is released. The most current manual may always be found and downloaded here: http://www.d2dtechnologies.com/d2warn/

# 5.4 SNMP Status

The D2WARN system includes SNMP and GUI status of the following:

Status	SNMP	GUI	Comments
Most Recent Alert Heartbeat message received.	Walk	Status	Progress bar shows this,
Most Recent Alert message received	Wolk.	Statuc	Most recent Date/Time
NOST Recent Alert message received.	VVAIK	Status	and Type displayed
Status for both Groomer A and Groomer B	Tran	Status	SNMP traps on any
	Пар	Olalas	status changes
Total non-null packet bit rate of both Broadcast Stream and Satellite	Walk	Status	Progress bar shows this.
Stream.			will turn red if problems.
Total non-null packet bit rate of output stream for both Groomer A and	Walk	Status	Progress bar shows this,
Groomer B.			will turn red if problems.
Broadcast Sync: Loss of sync on Broadcast stream input to the Groomer	Trap	Status	Progress bar shows this,
A		_	will turn red if problems
Broadcast Sync: Loss of sync on Broadcast stream input to the Groomer	Trap	Status	Progress bar shows this,
	<b>T</b>	01-11-1	will turn red if problems
Receiver Sync: Loss of sync on Satellite stream from receiver to	Trap	Status	Progress bar shows this,
Groomer A	Trop	Ctotuo	Will turn red il problems
Groomer B	пар	Status	will turn red if problems
Receiver Heartheat: No Alert Heartheat (PID 0x911) within the Alert	Tran	Status	Progress bar shows this
Heartbeat Timeout from the satellite receiver stream to the Groomer A	пар	Otatus	will turn red if problems
Receiver Heartbeat: No Alert Heartbeat (PID 0x911) within the Alert	Trap	Status	Progress bar shows this
Heartbeat Timeout from the satellite receiver stream to the Groomer B	Παρ	Clarao	will turn red if problems
Input Heartbeat: No Alert Heartbeat (PID 0x911) within the Alert	Trap	Alarm	
Heartbeat Timeout on the Broadcast input of the Groomer B.	- 1		
Alert Buffer Overflow: If the 32MB Alert Message buffer fills up and	Trap	Alarm	
overflows.			
Alert Message Format: An error is detected in the Alert Message Format for the following conditions:	Trap	Alarm	
<ol> <li>Protocol Version: Any value except 0x2h will set the alarm state.</li> <li>CRC32 Error: If the CRC32 is not correct, the message is not inserted</li> </ol>			
and the alarm is set.			
3. Length Error: If the message length is not correct, the message is not inserted and the			
alarm is set.			
4. The Alarm state is cleared on the next valid message.			
Missing Video PID: The replacement video PID has been missing for more than 30 seconds on the input of Groomer A	Trap	Alarm	
Missing Video PID: The replacement video PID has been missing for	Trap	Alarm	
more than 30 seconds on the input of Groomer B	_		
Power Supply 1 Failure	Trap	Alarm	There are separate
			alarms for each power supply
Power Supply 2 Failure	Trap	Alarm	
Fan Failure: One or more of the frame fans has failed.	Trap	Alarm	
Groomer Pair Communications failed	Trap	Alarm	
Alert Message found in Primary Broadcast. An Alert Message packet	Trap		
was found in the primary broadcast feed	-		
Satellite RX communication failure. Groomer cannot communicate with	Trap	Alarm	
Ine satellite receiver	Tran	Alore	
each other	пар	Alarm	

# **6 Upgrading the Groomer Cards**

Note: This could cause a minor on air hit. It is recommended that you upgrade one groomer at a time, starting with Groomer B. It may be prudent, although not necessary, to patch around the system depending on your broadcast chain.

Note: Both groomers must be running the same firmware version. It is not recommended or supported to run diferent versions of firmware on each groomer.

Note: A Windows PC or Mac may be used, however a Mac will quarantine the downloaded file and create a new file in addition to the downloaded file. Care must be taken so that the downloaded file is uploaded, not the newly created file. This issue was fixed in June 2021.

### 6.1 Procedure (for ASI Internal Failover Configuration)

1. Download the firmware version received and place it on the hard drive (or other storage device) of the PC used to log in to the D2WARN system.

2. Log in to Groomer B and go to the Firmware page.

V 🕅 Groomer P

$\leftarrow \rightarrow C$ (9) 192 168 2 20		<b>A</b> :
	Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 10	admin ~ DCD TECHNOLOGIES
NAVIGATION	Firmware Update	
D2WARN Status		
D2WARN Configuration	Serial Number	
	40070	
ਤੱਤ System Settings	Firmware Build Date	
Firmware	2021-03-19_18-24-15	
Logs	FPGA Version	
+ Features	03/18/2021 16:20:16	
Cumment	Latest Update Firmware Result	
U Support	Firmware: d2mux3k_og_update-2021-03-19_18-24-15.sh. Success	$\frown$
Diagnostics	Lipland Ermune	Province
	oykoa i niimale	Diowse
	Upload	
	$\smile$	

#### Figure 6-1. Firmware Page

\*\*\* c +

- 3. Browse to the firmware file received (d2mux3k\_og\_update-xxxx-xx-xx\_xx-xx).
- 4. Click Upload
- 5. When the upload is finished, click Yes to restart the unit.

Reset Unit ×

File was successfully uploaded. Would you like to reset this unit?





– n ×

- 6. Log back into Groomer B and check that there are no alarms.
- 7. Log in to Groomer A and place groomer A in bypass mode. This will force failover to groomer B after a delay of about 30 seconds.
- 8. Check that Groomer B is inserting by viewing Groomer B's GUI, **D2WARN Status** page. Groomer B's status will indicate: **Alert Message Inserting Degraded** in yellow.

= D2MANAC	Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 21	9533130 Slot: 10				admin v Da	2.00
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status						
olt         D2WARN Status           ③         D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 59.92 (	0	Max Internal Temperature:	63.98 C 🖗	Uptime: 1	Day 07:24:50	
😤 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Bypass Status: Bypass Mode - Alert	Messaging Disabled	Groon	ner-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Messag	ge Inserting Degraded		
Firmware	Broadcast Input 😧	Broadcast Output 😧	Br	oadcast Input 🕖	Broadcast Outp	ut 😧	
<ul> <li>Logs</li> <li>Features</li> </ul>	No Sync	No Sync Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbea	t 😧 Int	19.403 Mbps	0.589 18.943 Satellite Receive	0.45 19.397 Mbps er Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	54
<ul><li>Support</li><li>Diagnostics</li></ul>	66.839 Mbps	5s m Test Priority: Normal	_	66.857 Mbps Revert Back to Primary Groomer	_	58	
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 🚱	La	st Alert Message: 12/31/69 21:13:09: WAR	RN System Test Priority: Normal		
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 😧	Sa	tellite RX Communications: 🚱	🔵 Fans: 😧	•	•
	openGear Communications: 🛛	Power Supply 2:	Gr	oomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1:	0	
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 🕑	• op	enGear Communications: 🕑	Power Supply 2:	0	
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 😧	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast:	• Ale	ert Message Buffer Overflow: 🕜	<ul> <li>Alert Message F</li> </ul>	Format: 🚱 🔹	
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🕑	Video Pid Inserting: 🕖	• Vie	deo PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	<ul> <li>Alert Message i</li> </ul>	n Primary Broadcast: 🚱 🛛 🧧	
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	● EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: ❷	• EII	pass Lockdown: 😧	Video Pid Insert     EIT/ETT Pid Mis	sing in Broadcast: 🖗	

Figure 6-2. Groomer B's GUI, D2WARN Status Page

Note: Because Groomer A is in bypass mode, you must log in to Groomer B's GUI to see the status of both groomers. Also, there will be a Groomer Pair Communications alarm.

- 9. Upgrade groomer A (using steps 3 through 5, above). Allow groomer A to reset.
- 10. Log in and take Groomer A out of bypass. Check that there are no alarms.
- 11. Click Revert back to Primary Groomer using groomer B's GUI.

# 7 Adding Frames to DashBoard, Updating the Frame Firmware, and Configuring the Frame Light Bar

Many member stations already use DashBoard to control other equipment, and DashBoard will provide some functionality when connected to the D2WARN system. This functionality is limited to showing and changing system IP addresses, upgrading the openGear frame software and firmware, and configuring the frame's Light Bar. Full monitoring and control of the D2WARN system using DashBoard is not supported.

# 7.1 Installing DashBoard

DashBoard and its User Manual may be downloaded at: https://www.rossvideo.com/support/software-downloads/dashboard/ https://www.rossvideo.com/support/product-documentation/dashboard/

Please refer to the User Manual for complete setup instructions.

### 7.2 Adding an openGear Frame Using the Automatic Detection Feature

Note: The PC running DashBoard must be on the same subnet as the openGear frame. If the PC is not on the same subnet, it must first be configured to be on the same subnet as the frame to be added.

When the frame to be detected is on the same subnet as the computer running DashBoard, it will be automatically discovered when DashBoard is launched. By default, the DashBoard queries the network for new frames every 10 seconds.

Confirm the Automatic Discovery feature settings by selecting **Window** > **Preferences**. If Automatic Discovery is not enabled, enable it in the window which opened. Make sure **All Network Interfaces** is enabled. Click **Refresh**, and then **OK**. See below:



Figure 7-1. Confirm Automatic Discovery is Enabled

## 7.3 Manually Adding openGear Frames to DashBoard

As with Automatic Detection, the PC running DashBoard must be on the same subnet as the frame to be added. Below are the steps to manually add an openGear frame to DashBoard :

Click + on the Tree View toolbar to open the Select Equipment or Service Type to Add dialog box:

File Edit Layous Views Window Help	Mam	
	Mam:	
Manelbuilder Edit Mode V Switchboard V Global Labels	wient.	🔐 Current User: (none)
op Basic Tree W., x T → X Walkabout O Frame 1 - Slot 8 - IP-ASI Gateway O Frame 1 - Slot 18 - SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP) x O Frame 1 - Slot 20 - Used as DA 💆 Frame 1 - Slot 16 - SW #2 Vid Src		-•
Control Card Name Log		
Card state:  Card		
Slot 0: MFC-0G3-N     Connection     ONLINE		
Stott: ASI-310		
<ul> <li>SIOt #: U2P(E0CFU)</li> <li>SIOt #: U2P(E0CFU)</li> <li>SIOt #: U2P(E0CFU)</li> </ul>		
Slot & IP-ASI Gatew		
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-C		
Slot 11: Ad2500     Remote Control Enabled		
Solo in Solo and an angle     Solo ti EDA 9002     Input A Unlocked		
Slot 18: SW #3 Out     Product CD-9121     Input B Unlocked		
Slot 20: Used as DA Manufacturer Cobalt Digital Inc. Input A Reclock Disabled		
Cratter     Construct Software Release Number 7     Input B Roctock Disabled     Construct Software Release Number 7		
PIC Software Build Number 143 Output Status Unlocked, Routing Input B to output		
Temperature 29.60 C / 85.28 F Output Input B		
Input Current 265 mA Failover Mode Non-Reventive 💌		
Input Voltage 11.9 V Failover Manual Return To Primary Input		
Power 3.1 W		
Serial Number 450944		
Failover Alam OK		
Refesh Upload Reboot		Close

Figure 7-2. Adding a Frame Manually



Figure 7-3. Selecting an openGear Frame to Add

Expand the **openGear / DashBoard Connect** node, select **TCP/IP DashBoard Connect or openGear Device**, and then click **Next**:

02 New			
Select Equipment or Service Type to Add			
Wizards:			
type filter text			
> 🗁 NK Router Series		,	^
> 🗁 Robots			
> > XPression			
<ul> <li>OpenGear / DashBoard Connect</li> <li>Frame Damo (from file)</li> </ul>			
Import openGear Help Files			
TCP/IP DashBoard Connect or openGear Device			,
< Back Next > Finish		Cancel	

Figure 7-4. Adding an openGear Frame

The New TCP/IP DashBoard Connect/openGear Frame dialog box appears. Type the IP address of the frame in the IP Address box. The Detect Frame Information button becomes available. Click on Detect Frame Information. The frame attributes will be detected. Click Finish:

Mew TCP/IP DashBoard Connect/openGear Device – 🗆 X						
TCP/IP Da	shBoard Connect/openGear Device					
This wizard openGear [	allows you to create a connection to a DashBoard Connect or Device through TCP/IP. The wizard should be used when your					
IP Address:	192.168.1.206 Detect Frame Information					
	Automatically track updates to frame information					
Display Nan	re: Frame 234582075					
Protocol:	● OGP ○ JSON					
Port:	5253 🗸					
	Remember connection settings for this frame					
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel					

Figure 7-5. Detecting the Frame Information

# 7.4 Determining the Software and Firmware Version

After launching DashBoard and the Frame has been automatically discovered, click on > **Frame** which will display its installed devices.



Figure 7-6. Click on > Frame

Click on Slot 0. The software and firmware versions will be displayed.



Figure 7-7. openGear Frame Software and Firmware Versions

# 7.5 Updating the Software and Firmware

You will need to contact Ross Technical Support to download the latest software and firmware versions. Download the file to your PC or other storage device. Select **Slot 0** and click on the **Upload** button.

🖨 Basic Tree View 🗙 🗖 🗖	📀 Frame 219533130 - S 🗙 📀 Frame 219	533130 - S 🥑 Frame :	e 219533130 - S 🕜 Frame 219533130 - S 🥍 2	- =
	Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	Setup Network	Data Safe SNMP Frame Glow Security	
	Card state: 🔵 OK	Fans Installed	d 🔽	Ĥ
Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	Connection: 🔵 ONLINE	Fan Speed	d Auto 👻	
<ul> <li>Slot 1: AG2600</li> <li>Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OG</li> </ul>		Notify on Card Fault	+	
> Slot 5: AG2600	Hardware Power	Notity on Cald Fault		
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-OG	Product Network	Notity on PSOT Fault		
Slot 11: ASI-310		Notify on PSU2 Fault	t	
Slot 14: SW #1 Misg Src Slot 16: SW #2 Vid Src	Frame Name Frame 210522120	Eactory Settings	s Restore	
Slot 18: SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP)		i deterj ecanigo		
> to DashBoard Services	Frame S/N 50219533130		Licensable Features	
	Product MFC-UG3-N	SNMP Request Code	e S-PY7VE-Q3M94-44KB1	
	Frame Product OGX	SNMP Feature Key	y Enter Key Here	
	Supplier Ross Video Ltd.		Card Slot Names	
	Board Rev 5	Slot 1	1	
	Board S/N 50219397014	Slot 2		
	MAC Address 00.0f.9b.03.8a.f6	Slot 3	3	
	Software Rev 3.03a beta	Slot 4	4	
	Firmware Rev 7	Slot 5		
		Slot 6		
		Slot		
				-
		Refresh	Upload Reboot Cli	bse

Figure 7-8. Uploading Firmware

Browse to the file which you previously downloaded to your PC hard drive or other storage device. It should be in the format of MFC-OG3-N-v3\_03a.

🕸 Basic Tree View 🗙 🗖 🖬	Fran Select File Upload			3130 - <b>S</b> <sup>»</sup> 2	
三 一 二 🖉 🗐 🗐	Slot 0: Please select the file that contai	ins the software to upload.		Glow Security	
Filter:	Card of				
✓ ■ Frame 219533130	File:		Browse		
> Slot 1: AG2600	Connet		^	<b>*</b>	
Slot 4: D2Flex5			×		
<ul> <li>Slot 8: IP-ASI (</li> <li>Slot 10: D2Flex</li> </ul>	, « Ross » openGear » software	✓ <sup>2</sup>			
⊘ Slot 11: ASI-31 ⊘ Slot 14: SW #1	lew folder	8== -			
Slot 16: SW #2 Slot 18: SW #3	^ Name	Date modified	Туре		
Slot 20: Used a This PC	MFC-OG3-N-v3_03.bin	4/29/2020 9:40 AM	BIN File		
> 🏀 DashBoard Service 📑 3D Objects	MFC-OG3-N-v3_03a_beta.bir	n 8/3/2020 1:02 PM	BIN File		
Desktop			×		
Documents					
Music			-		
Pictures			Cancel		
Videos					
🛀 Windows (C	0				
DATA (D:)	v <		>		
	File name: MFC-OG3-N-v3_03a_beta.bin	<ul> <li>All valid types (*.oem)</li> </ul>	, *.key, *.b ∨		
		Open	Cancel		
		Refresh Upl	oad Reboot		Close
<u> </u>					

Figure 7-9. Browsing to Firmware File

Click on the file to highlight it, and click **Open**. Click on **Finish:** 

🕸 Basic Tree View 🗙 🗖 🖬	🕑 Frame 219533130 - S	🗙 🥑 Frame 219533130 - S	🥑 Frame 219533130 - S	🥑 Frame 2195331	30 - S <sup>&gt;&gt;</sup> 2	- =
■ 3 3 + 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Slot 0: M 📧 Upload Softw	vare Wizard		– 🗆 X	ow Security	
Hilter: ▼ ■ Frame 219533130 ● Slot 0: MFC-0G3-N > ● Slot 1: AG2600 ● Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OG	Card stat Connectic Please select the	<b>pload</b> file that contains the software to upl	oad.			ĺ
	Ha File: Pro Warnings: Frame N Frame Pro Frame Dro	C:\Ross\openGear\software\MFC-O Upload may not be newer File Summary: File Name: MFC-OG3 File Type: Main bo Load Size: 5052778 Creation Date: Fri Jul CRC: Sabi	G3-N-v3_03a_beta.bin than current software -N-v3_03a_beta.bin ard software (bytes) 31 10:12:36 EDT 2020	Browse		
0 8 2 1 1	Sup Board Board MAC Add Software	< Back	Next > Finish	Cancel		
	Firmware Rev 7		Slot 5 Slot 6 Slot 7			
		Refresh	Upload	Reboot		Close

Figure 7-10. Updating Firmware

A window will open, click on **OK.** A new window will open. Click on **Yes** to reboot now:

Basic Tree View ×	<ul> <li>Frar Slot 0</li> <li>Please select the file that contains</li> <li>Card s</li> <li>Uploading to Selected Devices</li> <li>Uploading to Selected Devices</li> <li>DashBoard is uploading files. If you woul</li> <li>Uploading to 1 device(s)</li> <li>Progress:</li> <li>0 of 1 uploads remaining</li> <li>Uploads remaining</li> <li>Uploade complete</li> <li>Automatically close when complete (rel</li> </ul>	s the software to upload. Id like to continue using Dash Frame 219533130: Upload Su poot devices if necessary) Run in Back	Board, please select "Run i cceeded	n Background". Reb	S	533130 - Slot 16 - S – – –
	Bo Bo MAC Address Software Rev 7	< Back Ne	xt > Finish Slot 3 Slot 4 Slot 5 Slot 6 Slot 7 Upload	Cancel		Close

Figure 7-11. Updating Firmware

## 7.6 Using DashBoard to Configure the Frame's Light Bar

The Frame's light bar may be configured to show the status of the WARN system. Configuration is accomplished using DashBoard. Click on **Slot 0**. If not already selected, click on **Setup**. See below:

	🖨 Basic Tree View 🗙 🗧 🖬	Frame 21953	3130 - Slot 0 - M 🗙 🕑 Fi	ame :	219533130 - Slot 20 - U	. 🥑 Frame	219533130 - Slot 14	l - S	🥑 Frame 219533130 - Slot 16 - S	
	■ 🐼 🗙 🕇 · 亩 🗄	Slot 0: MFC-00	33-N	1	Setup Network	Data Safe	SNMP Fram	ne Glow	/ Security	
	Filter:	Card state:			Fans Installed					Î
/	<ul> <li>Slot 1: AG2600</li> <li>Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OG</li> </ul>		ONLINE	1	Fan Speed Notify on Card Fault	Auto		•		
	<ul> <li>Slot 5: AG2600</li> <li>Slot 8: IP-ASI Gateway</li> <li>Slot 10: D2Elex5k-OG</li> </ul>	Hardwar Product	re Power Network		Notify on PSU1 Fault					
	<ul> <li>Slot 11: ASI-310</li> <li>Slot 14: SW #1 Msg Src</li> </ul>			1	Notify on PSU2 Fault					
	<ul> <li>Slot 16: SW #2 Vid Src</li> <li>Slot 18: SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP)</li> </ul>	Frame Name	Frame 219533130		Factory Settings	Restore				
	Slot 20: Used as DA 3 DashBoard Services	Frame S/N	50219533130			Lice	nsable Features			
		Product	MFC-OG3-N		SNMP Request Code	4-74MH4-WM	9MO-4BKOW			
	🙆 Layouts 🗙 🎦 File Navi 🧮 🗖	Frame Product	OGX		SNMP Feature Key	Enter Key Her	re			
		Supplier	Ross Video Ltd.			Ca	rd Slot Names			
		Board Rev			Slot 1					
		Board S/N	50219397014		Slot 2					
		MAC Address	00.0f.9b.03.8a.f6		Slot 3					
		Software Rev	3.03a beta		Slot 4					
		Firmware Rev			Slot 5					
					Slot 6					
					Slot 7					-
				R	efresh	Upload	Reboot			Close

Figure 7-12. Frame Setup Tab

Under the Setup tab, ensure that the following boxes are checked. With this configuration a fault or alarm from any card will trigger the light bar:

#### Notify on Card Fault Notify on PSU1 Fault Notify on PSU2 Fault

Under the **Frame Glow** tab, ensure that the **Frame Status** box is checked. The Frame Glow options may be selected as desired.



Figure 7-13. Frame Glow Tab

If an alarm is reported, for example by Groomer A, the status button next to **Slot 0** (the Frame) will turn yellow or red. The status button next to **Slot 4** (Groomer A) will also turn yellow or red. This does not indicate a Frame fault. It is merely Groomer A reporting its fault to the Frame.

🕸 Basic Tree View 🗙 🗖 🖬	1) Frame 2 19533130 - S 🗙 🥑 Franie 21	95331	30 - S 🥑 Frame 2	219533130 - S 🥑 Frame 21953313	0-s <sup>»</sup> ₂ <sup>−</sup> ■
■ 🐼 C 🕂 🖬 🗉	Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N		Setup Network	Data Safe SNMP Frame Glo	w Security
Filter:	Card state: 💛 Frame status Card Warning		Fans Installed	✓	1
1 Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N Slot 1: 0.62600	Connection: 😑 ONLINE		Fan Speed	Auto 👻	
<ul> <li>Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OG</li> </ul>			Notify on Card Fault		
Slot 5: AG2600 Slot 8: IP-ASI Gateway	Handstere Power		Notify on PSU1 Fault		
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-OG Slot 11: ASI-310	Product Network		Notify on PSU2 Fault		
Slot 14: SW #1 Msg Src					·
Slot 16: SW #2 Vid Src Slot 18: SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP)	Frame Name Frame 219533130		Factory Settings	Restore	
Slot 20: Used as DA Slot 20: Used as DA	Frame S/N 50219533130			Licensable Features	
	Product MFC-OG3-N		SNMP Request Code	S-PY7VE-Q3M94-44KB1	
🙆 Layouts 🗙 隆 File Navi 🦳 🗐	Frame Product OGX		SNMP Feature Key	Enter Key Here	
	Supplier Ross Video Ltd.			Card Slot Names	-
	Board Rev 5		Slot 1		
	Board S/N 50219397014		Slot 2		
	MAC Address 00.0f.9b.03.8a.f6		Slot 3		
	Software Rev 3.03a beta		Slot 4		
	Firmware Rev 7		Slot 5		
			Slot 6		
			Slot 7		
			efresh I	Upload Reboot	Close

Figure 7-14. Groomer A Reporting a Warning Alarm to the Frame

# 8 AG2600 Satellite Receiver

### 8.1 Setting the Date and Time

The Date and Time settings are found on the **Admin** page of the Sencore Satellite Receiver's GUI. It is important that the receiver's date and time settings are accurate. The diagnostics and log files show the date and time, and these must be accurate if needed for troubleshooting.

To check the setting for the date and time, log in to the receiver's GUI, and click on the Admin tab:

Sencore	AG2600											
Logged in as: admin	Mair Admin Admin Contract r	Reporting	About						Temperature:	44.8 C (112.6 F)	System Status	a Logout
	🔑 Change Passw	ord Profile	es 🛛 🔊 SNMP MIE	Bs 💿 Diagnost	ics		📑 Update Unit	🛒 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Default	s 🔘 Enable UID		
	General Se	ettings eneral Settings								Ô		
	Unit Alias: Protect BISS-E Inj PID Display Mode	jected ID: ::	(No Alias) Yes Decimal									
	🔊 Unit Netwo	ork Configurati	on							0		
	Configure Na	ameservers	Primary Namese	rver: 192.168.10	.1 Secondary N	ameserver: 0.0.0.0						
	Mode I	IP Address	Subnet Mask	Gateway	Hostname	MAC						
	Static	192.168.1.203	255.255.255.0	192.168.1.1	(none)	00:06:4D:03:C3:E5						

Figure 8-1. Satellite Receiver Card Admin Tab

On the Admin page, scroll down to Date/Time:

te / Time
Manual 2023-07-26 99:05:40 
te Ma 20 09

Figure 8-2. Date/Time Settings

The receiver's date and time are either entered manually, or synced to an NTP source. To change, click on the Settings icon for **Configure Date/Time**:

👮 Date / Tin	ne	0
🎲 Configure 🛛	Jate / Time	
Update Mode:	Manual	
Current Date:	2023-07-26	
Current Time:	09:05:40	
NTP Server:	0.0.0.0	

Figure 8-3. Configure Date/Time Settings

A box will open. Using the drop down menu you can choose to enter the date and time manually, or use NTP:

Jpdate Mode:	Manual
NTP Server:	0.0.0.0
Date:	2023-07-26
Time <sup>.</sup>	09.12.22

Figure 8-4. Enter Date and Time Manually

👰 Configure D	ate / Time
Update Mode:	NTP
NTP Server:	0.0.0.0
Date:	2023-07-26
Time:	09:17:26
Note: Changing	time may prompt you to log-in.
	Apply Cancel

Figure 8-5. Configure NTP

For manual settings, enter the current date and time and click on **Apply**. For NTP enter the address of the NTP server and click on **Apply**.

### 8.2 Uploading the Configuration File

The Satellite Receiver cards come preconfigured for the correct Input Selection and the PBS Galaxy-16 Ku Band/Vertical satellite parameters. These steps can be used if you ever need to reload the settings. You must first obtain the profile from D2D Customer Support and download it to your PC.

Log into the Satellite Receiver card. Click on the Admin tab:

<b>Sencore</b>	AG2600			
Logged in as: admin	Mali Admin keporting About	Temperature: 39.5 C (103.1 F) (	System Status	a Logout
	Inputs Skitch to Backup Input	🗿 View PSI Tables		
	Input Selection         Active:         DVB-S2 Port A         Primary:         DVB-S2 Port A         Backup:         None           a         OVB-S2 Port A         12140.0 MHz         Level:         -66 dBm         C/N:         20.1 dB         Link Margin:         12.2 dB	66.842 Mbps		
	Data Outputs			
	Show Unused Outputs	66.842 Mbps 🛛 🌒		

Figure 8-6. Satellite Receiver Card Admin Tab

On the Admin page click on the Profiles:

Sencore	AG2600	
Logged in as: admin		Temperature: 39.4 C (102.9 F) 🕘 System Status 🙇 Logout
	Main Admin Reporting About	
	Admin Control Panel	
	Anage Password Profiles SNMP MIBs Diagnostics	nit 👼 Reboot 😤 Reset to Defaults 🛞 Enable UID
	🗊 General Settings	0
	Configure General Settings	
	Unit Allas: (No Allas) Protect BISS-E Injected ID: Yes PID Display Mode: Decimal	
	// Unit Network Configuration	0

Figure 8-7. Satellite Receiver Card Admin Page

That will bring up the Profile Manager box. Click on Upload:

La	st Profile Ap	oplied:
Download	Rename	Delete
Apply	, C	lose
	La: Download	Last Profile Ap

Figure 8-8. Satellite Receiver Card Profile Manager

The File manager box will appear. Navigate to the file named "PBS\_AG2660\_Profile.pfl" which you previously downloaded to your PC hard drive or other storage device. Highlight the file and click **Open**.

	500								
Logged in as: admin	Open							×	Temperature: 39.4 C (102.9 F) 🕘 System Status 🙇 Logout
Main	$\leftarrow \rightarrow \lor \uparrow$ 📕 > This PC > Data (E:) > Sencore > Profiles 🗸				Search Profiles			م	
Admin	Organize - New folder				i= • 💷 🕜			?	
	SMIDB	^	Name	Date modified	Туре		Size		Reboot 🛛 🚭 Reset to Defaults 🛛 Enable UID
🗐 Ge	🍠 This PC		PBS_AG2600_Profile.pfl	4/3/2023 10:56 AM	PFL File			18 KB	
Co	3D Objects								
Unit Ali	Desktop     Documents								
Protect PID Dis	Downloads								
	Music								
🔊 Ur	Pictures								
	Windows (C:)								
Mo	Data (E:)								
ige St	Network	~ <						>	
AT 🔦	File	name:	PBS_AG2600_Profile.pfl		All Files			$\sim$	۵
	r			(	Open		Cancel		
199 Li	cense Information				-				0

#### Figure 8-9. File Manager



Figure 8-10. Profile Uploaded Successfully

Click **OK**. Once the file is uploaded, highlight it and click **Apply**:

Sencore	AG2600							
Logged in as: admin					Temperature: 39.6	5 C (103.3 F) 🛛 🔵	System Status 🛛 🚨	Logout
	Main Admin Reportin	g About						
	Admin Control Panel							
	Change Password Provide Pro	ofiles 🛛 💿 SNMP MIBs	Diagnostics	📑 Update Unit 🛛 📑 F	Reboot 🛛 🤹 Reset to Defaults	Enable UID		
	🗐 General Settings					a^		
	Configure General Settings	;	Profile Manager					
	Unit Alias:		🔇 Add 🧯 Upload	Last Profile Applied:				
	Protect BISS-E Injected ID: PID Display Mode:		Profile Name 🕇	Download Rename Delete				
			PBS_AG2600_Profile	1 0 ×				
	💋 Unit Network Configur	ation				$\odot$		
	🔅 Configure Nameservers	Primary Nameserver	c.					
	Mode IP Address	Subnet Mask Ga	at					
	Static 192.168.1.202	255.255.255.0 1	92					
	🏓 TACACS+ Configuratio	n		Apply		$\diamond$		
	🎲 Configure TACACS+		e	Apply Close				
				<u> </u>				
	🗐 License Information					0		
	Apply License Key							
					Supported State	Instances		

Figure 8-11. Click Apply to Complete Upload Process

### 8.3 Entering the PBS Satellite Parameters

If preferred, the user can enter the satellite parameters manually by clicking on the Main tab.

Clicko go forward, hold t	o see history AG2600		
Logged in as: admin		Temperature: 39.8 C (103.6 F)	System Status 🛛 🚨 Logout
	Main Admin Reporting About		
	Main Control Panel		
	Inputs		
•	Show Unused Inputs 😹 Switch to Backup Input	View PSI Tables	
	Input Selection Active: DVB-S2 Port A Primary: DVB-S2 Port A Backup: None		
	DVB-S2 Port A         12140.0 MHz         Level: -66 dBm         C/N: 20.1 dB         Link Margin: 12.2 dB	66.842 Mbps 🧶	
	Data Outputs		
	Show Unused Outputs		
	ASI	66.842 Mbps 🛛 🔘	

Figure 8-12. Satellite Receiver Main Control Panel

Next click on the settings icon next to **DVB-S2 Port A**. A configuration window will open where the satellite parameters may be entered manually. Enter the parameters and click **Apply**.

Configure DVB-S2 Port A				
Port:	Enabled	Ŧ		
Mode:	Auto	-		
Satellite Frequency (MHz):	12140			
Wide Search:	Disabled	~		
LO Offset (MHz):	10750.0	Ŧ		
Symbol Rate Mode:	Manual	-		
Symbol Rate (MSps):	30			
PL Scrambling Code:	0			
LNB Power:	Off	Ŧ		
22kHz Tone:	Disabled	~		
22kHz Tone: Disabled   Apply Gancel				

Configure DVB-S2 Port A				
Port:	Enabled	Ŧ		
Mode:	Auto	~		
Satellite Frequency (MHz):	1390			
Wide Search:	Disabled	~		
LO Offset (MHz):	0.0	w		
Symbol Rate Mode:	Manual	~		
Symbol Rate (MSps):	30			
PL Scrambling Code:	0			
LNB Power:	Off	w		
22kHz Tone:	Disabled	~		
Apply Cancel				

Figure 8-13. Entering Satellite RF Parameters Manually

Figure 8-14. Entering Satellite L-Band Parameters

Note: Either the satellite's downlink RF frequency, or the LNB's output L-Band frequency may be entered. To enter the RF frequency, select your LNB's LO frequency in the LO Offset (MHZ) drop down menu. To enter the LNB's output L-Band frequency, select zero for the LO Offset (MHZ).

The parameters for the PBS satellite are shown below:

#### **PBS Satellite Parameters**

Note: These are accurate as of April 2023. Subject to change.

Satellite – Galaxy 16 Polarization – Vertical Receive Orbital Location - 99° W Ku-Band Transponder - 22 Bandwidth - 36 MHz Downlink Frequency - 12140 MHz L-Band - 1390 MHz DVB-S2, 8-PSK, 3/4, 188 Byte data packets Symbol Rate - 30 MHz

### 8.4 DVB-S2 Input Specifications

### 8.5 SNMP

The Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver uses SNMP to communicate its status to its associated Groomer. For this purpose the Read-Only Community is used. This is covered in Section 1: **Getting Started**.

If desired, SNMP may also be used by the station to monitor the Sencore Receiver. If the station wishes to monitor the receiver the Read-Write Community would be used. For more information please contact D2D Technical Support.

To rename a SNMP Community click on settings icon under **SNMP Communities** on the receiver's Admin page:

式 SNMP Communities	G
Configure SNMP Communities	
Read-Only Community: public	
Read-Write Community: private	

Figure 8-15. SNMP Communities on Admin page

A window will open where the new community name(s) may be entered, and applied:



Figure 8-16. Changing the SNMP Community Names

### 8.6 PID Filter

The "raw" output of the AG2600 Satellite Receiver is approximately 66 Mbps. For those cases where the satellite receiver(s) and groomer(s) are installed at separate locations, it may be necessary to reduce the data rate from the AG2600 Satellite Receivers. For example, the satellite dish and receivers are located at the main studio and the WARN system is located at the transmitter some distance away. If the STL or fiber link cannot accommodate the full 66 Mbps receiver output, PID filtering may be used to reduce the data rate out of the satellite receiver(s).

The AG2600 Satellite Receiver is capable of filtering PIDs with the addition of the AG 26928 PID Filtering License. Contact D2D or Sencore Technical Support for information on purchasing and installation.

Below is an example of the PID filter configuration used to reduce the AG2600 output data rate from 66 Mbps to 3 Mbps. A PCR must be present in order for the Groomer's Satellite Receiver Input to stay in sync. In this example PCR PID 241 from service 15 was included because that Service had the lowest bandwidth.

Also shown below is a screen shot of the Groomer's GUI showing the Input From the Satellite Receiver data rate.

Finally, a screen shot of the Transport Stream Analyzer is below, which shows the PID filtered output of the AG2600 Satellite Receiver in this example.

Select PID	PID Filter Configuration	ı	Available Services			
PID Filter 1 PID Filter 2	Stream Mode:	CBR	~	Refresh	Ritrate (Mhne)	
PID Filter 3 PID Filter 4	TS Bitrate (Mbps): Table Processing Mode:	3 SI (DVB)	~	Service/PID	13.388	
PID Filter 5	Selected Services/PIL           Add Service         Ad           Selection         Ad           PID 0         PID 17           PID 48         PID 64           PID 80         PID 96           PID 192         PID 224           PID 240         PID 241           PID 500         Sole	Ds Estimated Bitrat	e: 2.784 Mbps       Remove       Image:	Image: Constraint of the service of	13.388 13.623 8.624 3.593 2.832 3.593	
	PID 2321		<b>•</b> •			
				Арр	ly Cancel	

Figure 8-17. AG2600 PID Filter Configuration

Groomer-A Role: None Status: Alert	Message Inserting
Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 😧
18.423 0.974	18.423 0.974
19.397 Mbps	19.397 Mbps
Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🕢
2.781 0.219	
3.000 Mbps	
	10s

Figure 8-18. Groomer A GUI Showing Data Rate from AG2600
۲	Home	Decoding	TR 101 290	Recording	View	Teletext
	info (39)					
	<b>PAT</b> (9)	6 kbps / 0.5%)				
······································	7 Unkno	own (14.1 kbr	os / 0.07%)			
4	8 PMT	(98 kbps / 0.59	%)			
🗄 😤 4	9 AVC/I	1.264 Video	(0 bps / 0.00%)			
🗄 👰 5	2 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
🗄 😤 5	3 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
🗈 😤 5	4 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
6 🗇 🗇	4 PMT	(96 kbps / 0.59	%)			
🗄 😤 6	5 AVC/H	1.264 Video	(0 bps / 0.00%)			
🗈 😤 6	8 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
🗄 😤 6	9 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
1 🗄 😤 7	0 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
	O PMT	(196 kbps / 1.0	)%)			
	1 AVC/H	1.264 Video	(0 bps / 0.00%)			
	4 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
	5 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
	0 AC-3	Audio (0 bps	/ 0.00%)			
	AC-5	(06 kbps / 0.59	7 0.00%) %)			
		<b>- 264 Video</b>	/%) (0 bps / 0.00%)			
	00 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
□ <i>C</i> ~S ' □ □ <mark>□</mark> □ <mark>□</mark> 1	01 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
	02 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
⊕ - 🗖 1	92 PMT	(96 kbps / 0.	5%)			
1	93 AVC	/H.264 Video	(0 bps / 0.00%	5)		
1 🕀 🙀 1	96 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
🗄 强 1	97 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
🕀 😤 1	98 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
🖶 🗔 2	24 PMT	(96 kbps / 0.	5%)			
🖽 😤 2	25 AVC	/H.264 Video	(0 bps / 0.00%	5)		
🕀 😤 2	28 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
🖻 😤 2	29 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
🗄 😤 2	30 AC-3	Audio (0 bp	s / 0.00%)			
⊞… 🗔 2	40 PMT	(96 kbps / 0.	5%)			
	41 AVC	/H.264 Video	(16.9 Mbps / 8	37.4%)		
	44 MPE	G-1 Audio (0	bps / 0.00%)			
	UU Unki	nown (84 kbp	s / 0.4%)			
	101 No	known (0 pps	7 0.00%) 17 Mbps / 7.6%	)		
			+/ wups / 7.0%	)		
	_					
	PID	TS Grid				
Deede						

 $\frown$ 

Figure 8-19. PID Filtered Output from AG2600

## 9 Resetting the Satellite Receiver to Factory Defaults

If a satellite receiver appears to not be functioning resetting it to its factory defaults may fix the issue. All settings will be returned to the factory defaults except the network management port's TCP/IP settings. All event logs will be cleared. To reset all settings to default click the **Reset to Defaults** button. The AG 2600 will prompt the user to confirm the reset. The unit will reboot once the reset is confirmed.

- 1. Log into the receiver and click on the Admin tab.
- 2. Click Reset to Defaults on the right side of the page.

Main Admir	Reporting A	bout						
Admin Control	Panel							
🔑 Change Pass	word 📄 Profiles	🔁 SNMP MIBs 🛛 📀	Diagnostics		📑 Update Unit	📑 Reboot	🕏 Reset to Default	ts 🔵 Enable UI
General S	ettings						$\smile$	
Configure	General Settings							
Unit Alias:		(No Alias)						
Protect BISS-	E Injected ID:	Yes						
PID Display M	ode:	Decimal						
😹 Unit Netv	vork Configuration							8
🔅 Configure	Nameservers Pri	mary Nameserver: 1	72.16.0.86 Second	ary Nameserver:	172.16.0.153			
Mode	IP Address	Subnet Mask	Gateway	Hostname	MAC			
🔅 Static	192.168.1.201	255.255.255.0	192.168.1.1	(none)	00:06:4D:01:CC:7B			
🛃 License I	nformation							*
🧔 Apply Licer	nse Key							
Option						Supported	State	Instances
AG 26916 - DV	/B-S2 Advanced Feat	ıre				Yes	Unlicensed	0

Figure 9-1. Satellite Receiver Admin Page

3. Confirm that you want to reset everything to defaults:



Figure 9-2. Resetting the Satellite Receiver to Factory Defaults

Once the satellite receiver has been reset to its Factory Defaults, the **Input Selection** and **DVB-S2 Port A** must be configured (see **Manually Setting the Satellite Receiver Input** and **Entering the PBS Satellite Receiver Parameters** in the preceding section).

## **10** Interconnect Ports

The following table provides a list of the external interconnect ports available to configure the D2WARN system for ASI or IP applications

Component	Port	Description	Physical
OG Frame	ETHERNET	The openGear Ethernet port is used as the single control port for the D2WARN system (cable supplied by user)	RJ45
AG-2600 Rec A	RF A	The RF input for the satellite receiver (cable supplied by user)	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec A	RF B	Unsupported	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec A	ASI In	Unsupported	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec A	ASI-OUT	The ASI output from the satellite receiver A connected to the Groomer (cable supplied by D2D)	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec B	RF A	The RF input for the satellite receiver (cable supplied by user)	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec B	RF B	Unsupported	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec B	ASI In	Unsupported	BNC-F
AG-2600 Rec B	ASI-OUT	The ASI output from the satellite receiver B connected to the Groomer B Groomer (cable supplied by D2D)	BNC-F
Groomer A	ASI-IN1	The ASI Input of the broadcast stream	BNC-F
Groomer A	ASI-IN2	The ASI Input of the WARN data from Satellite Receiver A	BNC-F
Groomer A	ASI-OUT1	The ASI Output of the broadcast stream cascade to Groomer B ASI-IN1 on ASI systems, internal failover systems (cable supplied by D2D).	BNC-F
Groomer A	ASI-OUT2	Reserved	BNC-F
Groomer A	GIGE-Eth 1	Optional dedicated control port for the Groomer, and TSoIP	RJ45
Groomer A	GIGE-Eth2	Reserved	RJ45
Groomer B	ASI-IN1	The ASI Input of the broadcast stream from Groomer A	BNC-F
Groomer B	ASI-IN2	The ASI Input of the WARN data from Satellite Receiver B	BNC-F
Groomer B	ASI-OUT1	The ASI Output of the broadcast stream	BNC-F
Groomer B	ASI-OUT2	Reserved	BNC-F
Groomer B	GIGE-Eth 1	Optional dedicated control port for the Groomer, and TSoIP	RJ45
Groomer B	GIGE-Eth2	Reserved	RJ45
ASI-310 Card	ASI-IN	The ASI input that is converted to SMPTE-310 on the 310- OUT port	BNC-F
ASI-310 Card	310-OUT	The SMPTE-310 converted output from the ASI-IN port	BNC-F
ASI-310 Card	310-IN	The SMPTE-310 input that is converted to ASI on the ASI- OUT port	BNC-F
ASI-310 Card	ASI-OUT	The ASI converted output from the 310-IN port	BNC-F

### 11 Replacing a Battery in the Groomer Card

The Groomer cards have a CR 2032 battery that keeps the real time clock active if the NTP is not selected and the unit shuts down or reboots. If your groomer card does not remember the time after a power cycle, the battery needs to be replaced.

- 1. Determine which cards need the battery and take note of which slot it is in the frame
- 2. Open the door and remove the groomer card by firmly pressing on the top of the white retaining tab
- 3. The card will pop out enough to grab hold of it
- 4. Remove the card and set it on a static resistant surface
- 5. CAREFULLY use a small flathead screwdriver to pry the battery up while holding the black retaining clip back
- 6. Remove the battery. Be very careful not to lift up or break the tab under the battery.
- 7. Slide the new battery in its place
- 8. Make certain that it is seated correctly
- 9. Reinsert the card in the same slot



Figure 11-1. Retaining Tab.



Figure 11-2. Groomer Card Battery Removal

### **12 Features Page**

The Features Page is only used to add future capabilities to the WARN system. From here a license may be loaded into each groomer. If a new license is available it may be obtained from D2D and downloaded onto the user's PC. The license may then be uploaded to the groomer by browsing to the file, and clicking on the **Upload** button.

兰 Groomer-A	🗙 🚾 Groomer-B 🛛 🗙 🛛 🍠	AG2600 × S AG2600	×   +	-	o ×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\odot$ 192.16	8.2.205/d2warnstatus/				•
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219533	130 Slot: 4		admin ~	
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Status				
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Internal Temperature: 68.53 C 🕢	Max Internal Tem	perature: 69.64 C <b>Q</b>	Uptime: 0 Days 00:22:30	
🖁 System Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserting		Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message Monitoring	1	
<ul> <li>Firmware</li> <li>Loos</li> </ul>	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🕑	Broadcast Input 🛛	Broadcast Output 🕑	
+ Features	18.777 0.61 19.396 Mbps Input from Satellite Receiver 🕢	9 18.777 0.619 19.396 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	18.907 0.50 19.412 Mbps Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	5 18.905 19.410 Mbps Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🚱	0.505
<ul><li>Support</li><li>Diagnostics</li></ul>	66.832 Mbps	12s	66.885 Mbps	11s	
	Last Alert Message: NONE		Revert back to Phintary Groomer		
	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱	Fans: 🚱 📃 🔵	Last Alert Message: NONE		
	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 1: 🚱 🛛 🔵	Satellite RX Communications: 🚱 🔹	Fans: 😧	•
	openGear Communications: 🚱	Power Supply 2: 🚱 🛛 🔵	Groomer Pair Communications: 🚱 🔹	Power Supply 1: 🚱	•
	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱	Alert Message Format: 🚱 📃 🔵	openGear Communications: 🛛 🔹	Power Supply 2: 🚱	•
	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 😧 🛛 🔵	Alert Message Buffer Overflow: 🚱 🔷 🌑	Alert Message Format: 🚱	•
	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 🚱	Video Pid Inserting: 🚱 🛛 🔵	Video PID Available for Inserting: 🚱 🔹	Alert Message in Primary Broadcast: 🚱	•
	Bypass Lockdown: 🚱	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 😧 🛛 🌒	EIT/ETT Pid Inserting: 😧	Video Pid Inserting: 🕑	•
			Bypass Lockdown: 🚱 🛛 🔵	EIT/ETT Pid Missing in Broadcast: 🚱	•

Figure 12-1. Features Page for Uploading New Licenses



Figure 12-2. Uploading a License on the Features Page

### **13 Defect Management and Bugs**

### 13.1 Reporting Bugs, Defects, Issues and Problems

Defects, Bugs and problems should be reported via the D2CARE JIRA portal at: <u>https://d2dtech.atlassian.net/servicedesk/customer/portal/1</u>

All users and testing personnel will be added to this portal, also known as JIRA. The web portal will gather data and assign the appropriate D2D Engineer for resolution.

### 13.2 D2D Technologies Contact

9140 Golfside Drive 1S Jacksonville, FL 32256 USA Main: 904-607-4177 • Fax.904-363-0967 D2DTechnologies.com Sales@D2DTechnologies.com

### 14 Troubleshooting

#### 14.1 System is Unresponsive and the Light Bar is Flashing Red

In the unlikely event that an instability is detected in one or both groomers, the system will automatically go into bypass to ensure the station's on air programming is not interrupted. In this case an alarm on the groomer's GUI will turn red, and the status will indicate that the groomer has locked itself into bypass mode. The user will have to restart the affected groomer(s) or power cycle the system.

If the system is configured for internal failover, and Groomer A went into bypass mode, the system will fail over to Groomer B. This will require the user to Revert Back to the Primary Groomer following restart. See the Section: **Monitoring** for more information.

## 14.2 Wrong IP Address Entered, or You Can No Longer Communicate with the Groomer Cards

If you entered a wrong address or the openGear frame is no longer communicating with a groomer card, you may be able to connect to the groomer directly.

1. When shipped from the factory the **IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth 1" port (rear panel)** on the **System Settings** page for Groomer A is 192.168.1.205. For Groomer B it is 192.168.1.206. If these addresses have not been changed you can connect to the groomer directly with your PC.

### Note: If you change this address from its default setting, be sure to write it down in case you need it later!

- 2. Plug an Ethernet cable into the Eth 1 port of the groomer card. It is the top port.
- 3. Connect to your PC and set the subnet mask to 255.255.255.0. Set the PC to an address in the same subnet (e.g., 192.168.1.150).
- 4. Open a browser and enter the **IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth 1" port (rear panel)** on the **System Settings** page. From the factory, Groomer A is 192.168.1.205. Groomer B is 192.168.1.206.
- 5. From there you can set the other IP addresses manually.



Figure 14-1. Eth 1 Port Located on the Back of the Groomer Cards

Groomer-A	🗙 兰 Groomer-B	×   5 AG2600	× 5 AG2600	×   +		- 🛛 🛛
← → C ③ 192.16	58.2.205/system/					<b>9</b> :
= D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear	Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4				admin v D2D
NAVIGATION	openGear Internal IP Address (use ch	assis Ethernet port) 🚱				
D2WARN Status	Mode	IP Address	Subnet		MAC	
D2WARN Configuration	Static Address	192.168.2.205	255.255.25	5.0	BC:D5:B6:01:9C:87	
System Settings	Important: Configure and save the op System Gateway (Single gateway is u	enGear Frame IP address (top) before saving sed for all interfaces) 🚱	the openGear Internal IP address			
Firmware	Gateway					
🗈 Logs	192.168.2.1					
+ Features	Save openGear Internal IP and System	Goterius				
Support						
Diagnostics	IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth1" p	ort (rear panel) 😧				
	Mode	IP Address	Subnet		HAC	
	Static Address	192.168.1 205	255.255.25	5.0	BCD5:B6:00:9C:87	
	Use this IP address to connect direct	y to this groomer via its top port on the rear p	aanel for troubleshooting. Also used for TSoIP in/o	ut		
	System Gateway (Single gateway add	ress is used for all interfaces) 🚱		/		
	Gateway					

Figure 14-2. IP Address of This Groomer's "Eth 1" port (rear panel)

#### 14.3 IP Address of the Groomer is Unknown

If you cannot connect to the Groomer directly, it may be necessary to discover the Groomer's IP address. In some cases DashBoard can be used to display and set the Groomer's IP address. Contact D2D Customer Support for assistance.

#### 14.4 PSU Error

If you are getting Power Supply (PSU) errors:

- 1. Check your software on the openGear Frame and make certain that it is version 3.02a or higher. See the Section: **Upgrading the openGear Frame and Configuring the Light Bar.**
- 2. Contact D2 Care at 904-607-4177

#### 14.5 Loud Alarm Emanating From the Front Panel

- 1. Make certain both power supplies are plugged in and turned on. Look for a green light on each one at each end.
- 2. Double check that the door is closed properly, and it has snapped into place.

#### 14.6 Enabling and Disabling the Audio Alarm

You may disable the audio alarm if desired. An **Alarm Mute** button is identified as (1) in the picture of the Network Controller card, shown below. The Network Controller card is located all the way on the right when viewing the WARN system from the front. The **Alarm Mute** button mutes the audio alarm for two minutes. If a fault condition is still present when the mute time-out ends, the card re-activates the audio alarm.



Figure 14-3. openGear Frame Network Controller Card

To permanently disable the audio alarm, the jumpers identified as (2) may be set to 2 + 3:



Figure 14-4. Setting the Jumper PINs on the Frame's Network Controller Card

#### 14.7 The Frame's IP Address is wrong, or the Groomer Cannot Communicate with the openGear Frame

If there is an **openGear Communications** alarm on one or both of the groomers, it is most likely due to a wrong IP address for the Frame. The frame's IP address may have been incorrectly entered on the groomer's **System Setting** page, or the frame's IP address was change somehow. The frame's IP address may be on a different subnet than the groomer. In all cases the frame's correct IP address is shown on the frame's front panel LCD display.

DashBoard may be used to set the frame's TCP/IP settings. More information on downloading, configuring and using DashBoard are in the Section: **Updating the openGear Frame Firmware and Configuring the Frame Light Bar.** 

Note: This issue can only be corrected locally. The PC running DashBoard must be on the same subnet as the openGear frame. If the PC is not on the same subnet, it must first be configured to be on the same subnet as the frame to be added. The PC must be connected directly to the main Ethernet port on the back of the openGear frame.

To change the Frame's IP address back to its correct subnet and address perform the following procedure:

- 1. Connect a local PC to the main Ethernet jack on the rear of the WARN system.
- Change the PC's Network Connections so that the IP settings are on the same subnet as the frame's IP address as shown on its front panel LCD display. This will allow you to connect to the frame using DashBoard.

Note: If the PC is on a different subnet than the groomers and receivers, you will temporarily lose communications with the Groomers and Receivers.

**3.** The DIP switches SW1 and SW2 identified as (3) on the Network Controller card must both be set to the OFF (User Settings) position:



Figure 14-5. openGear Frame Network Controller Card



SW1	SW2	Controlled via	Descriptions
Position	Position	DashBoard	
OFF	OFF	YES	The card network settings can be set by the user from the DashBoard Network tab. (default). DHCP Mode is assumed until the user changes the settings in DashBoard.

Figure 14-6. Setting the DIP Switches on the Network Controller Card

- 4. Close DashBoard, and reopen it. DashBoard will detect the frame.
- 5. Double click on the Network Controller card in slot 0:

DashBoard by Ross Video	ndow Help			- o ×
Image: Section of the section of	NelBuilder Edit Mode 🛛 😵 Switchboard 💊 Global Labels	Frame 1 - Slot 18 - SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP)     Frame 1 - Si	المعنى المعنى المعنى المعنى	<sup>®</sup> Current User: (none C-OG3-N × <sup>■</sup>
At 5         III III IIII         IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Hof MFC-CGSN ard state: Frame status Card fault omnectors O ONLINE Product Network Hardware Power Frame Name Frame 234582075 Frame SN 50224682075 Product MFC-CGSN Board Rev 5 Board Rev 5 Board Rev 5 Board Rev 5 Board Rev 5 Board Rev 5 Board SN 50224978044 Ac Addres 80 009180.05.1/f Software Rev 3.03a Framea Software 3.03a	Stup     Network     Data Safe     SMMP     Frame Cite       Frans Installed     ✓       Frans Installed     ✓       Frain Specified     Auto     ✓       Notify on PSUI Fault     ✓     ✓       Notify on PSUI Fault     ✓     ✓       Factory Settings     Restore     Loensable Features       SNMP Feature Key     Card Slot Names       SNMP Feature Key     Card Slot Names       Slot 3     Slot 3        Slot 4     Slot 3        Slot 5     Slot 4        Slot 7     Slot 8        Slot 9     Slot 9	w Security	

Figure 14-7. Selecting the Network Controller Card on DashBoard

6. Click on Network in the top tool bar:

DashBoard by Ross Video File Edit Layouts Views Window Help	1			
🔛 🖳 🔞 🖿 🔻 📔 PanelBuilder Edit Mode 🛛 🧣 Switchboard 💊 Global Labels				
🜣 Basic Tree V 🗙 🗖 🛢 💥 Walkabout 🛛 😣 Frame 1 - Slot 8 - IP-ASI Gateway 🔗 Frame 1 -	Slot 18 - SW #3 Out Se	elect (ASI vs IP) 🛛 🥺 F	rame 1 - Slot 20 - Used as DA	🔤 Fram
🔍 🐼 😋 🕂 🗸 亩 🔚 Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	▲ Setup Network	rk Data Safe SNMP	Frame Glow Security	
Filter: Card state: O Frame status Card fault	Frame Name	Frame 234582075		
Frame 1	NTP Server	192.168.2.94		
Slot 1: ASI-310	Current DIP Switch	User Settings		
Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OC Product Network Hardware Power	Addressing Mode	Static DHCP		
> 🥑 Slot 5: AG2600	, taileboing mous			
Slot 8: IP-ASI Gatew	IP Address	192.168.1.206		
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-C	Subnet Mask	255.255.255.0		
> Slot 11: AG2600	Default Gateway	192.168.1.1		
Slot 14: SW #1 Msg				
Stot 10: DA 9002				
Slot 20: Lised as DA				
✓ Stot 261 0504 db 071 ✓ Strame 2 Frame S/N 50234582075				

Figure 14-8. Configuring the Network Settings using DashBoard

7. Enter the frame's desired IP address, Subnet Mask, and Default Gateway, and click on Apply:

DashBoard by Ross Video		
File Edit Layouts Views Window Help		
🖳 🖳 💼 🖿 📘 PanelBuilder Edit Mode 🛛 🗣 Switchboard 💊 Global Labels		
🌣 Basic Tree V 🗙 🧮 🗮 💥 Walkabout 🛛 😣 Frame 1 - Slot 8 - IP-ASI Gateway	⊘ Frame 1 - Slot 18 - SW #3 Out Select (ASI vs IP) ⊘ Frame 1 - Slot 20 - Used as DA	Frame 1 - Slot 16 - SW #2 Vid Src
📃 🐼 C 🕂 - 🛅 🔚 Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	Setup Network Data Safe SNMP Frame Glow Security	
Filter: Card state: 🔴 Frame status Card fault	Frame Name Frame 234582075	
Connection: ONLINE	NTP Server 192.168.2.94	
Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N	Current DIP Switch User Settings	
Slot 4: D2Flex5k-OC Product Network Hardware Power	Addressing Made	
> Ø Slot 5: AG2600	Addressing Mode Stand Drop	
Slot 8: IP-ASI Gatew	IP Address 192.168.1.206	
Slot 10: D2Flex5k-C	Subnet Mask 255.255.255.0	
> Slot 11: AG2600	Default Gateway 192.168.1.1	
Slot 14: SW #1 Msg	Click 'Apply' to save the user settings and for them	
Slot 18: SW #3 Out	to take effect.	
Slot 20: Used as DA	Click Cancel to revert to the previous settings. Note: These settings only take effect when the	
✓		
Slot 0: MFC-OG3-N Product MFC-OG3-N		
> Slot 3: AG2600 Frame Product OGX		
Slot 8: D2Flex5k-OC     Supplier Ross Video Ltd.     Supplier Ross Video Ltd.		

Figure 14-9. Entering the Network Settings using DashBoard

You may now change the PC's IP settings back to their original settings, and communicate with the groomer on its original, correct IP Internal IP address.

#### 14.8 Wrong IP address Entered, or the Satellite Receiver Card is Corrupted

If the Satellite Receiver's IP Address, Subnet, and/or Gateway are unknown, DashBoard may be used to set the receiver's TCP/IP settings. More information on downloading, configuring and using DashBoard are in the Section: **Updating the openGear Frame Firmware and Configuring the Frame Light Bar.** 

To set the satellite receiver's TCP/IP settings using DashBoard, click on **AG2600** for that receiver in the left margin. Enter the desired **IP Address, Subnet Mask,** and **Default Gateway**, and then click on **Apply Network Settings**.

Note: It may be necessary in some cases to repeat this procedure before the changes will take effect.



Figure 14-10. Using DashBoard to configure the Satellite Receiver's Network Management Port's TCP/IP Settings

If the satellite receiver card becomes corrupted you can reboot to the recovery image. Remove the card from its slot, and then reinsert the card while pressing and holding down the **Boot to Recovery Image** button shown below. The user must hold the button down until the blue LED (UID) light stops flashing (about 10 seconds).



Figure 14-11. Boot to the Recovery Image

The user can also reset the card. Press the Card Reset button shown above.

#### 14.9 Satellite Receiver not Working Properly

If a satellite receiver appears to not be functioning resetting it to its factory defaults may fix the issue. Refer to the Section **Resetting the Satellite Receiver to Factory Defaults.** All settings will be returned to the factory defaults except the network management port's TCP/IP settings. All event logs will be cleared.

Once the satellite receiver has been reset to its Factory Defaults, the **Input Selection** and **DVB-S2 Port A** must be configured. Refer to the Sections **Manually Setting the Satellite Receiver Inputs** and **Entering the PBS Satellite Parameters.** 

Receivers running later versions of software may occasionally not function properly. Symptoms include inability to sign in to the User Interface (GUI), or the User Interface not displaying correctly. Clearing the browser's cache will solve this issue. With Windows 10 and higher this may be accomplished by typing Ctrl + Shift + R, or Ctrl + F5. Either will clear the cache. If that does not work, then the cache may be cleared by using the browser's settings.

#### 14.10 Downloading the Sencore Satellite Receiver's Diagnostics and Logs

Note: The receiver's date and time must be accurate in order for the log's time and date stamp to be accurate. The receiver's date and time can be viewed on its Admin page. Complete instructions for setting the date and time can be found in the Section: AG2600 Satellite Receiver, under Setting the Date and Time.

On the Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver's GUI, click on the Admin tab, and then click on Diagnostics:

Logged in as: admin						Tempe	rature: 39.4 C (102.9 F) 🔘 System Status	a Logout
	Man Admin Reporting About							
	Admin Control Panel							
	🔑 Change Password 📄 Profiles 🛛 SNMP MIBs 💿 Diagnostics	📑 Update Unit	📑 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Defaults	Enable	e UID		
	AG 26928 - P1D/Service Hiter License		res	uniicenseu	U			
	AG 26991 - DVB-CI Multi-Service Descrambling		No	Unlicensed	0			
	😳 Date / Time				*			
	ight Configure Date / Time							
	Update Mode: Manual							
	Current Date: 07/31/2023							
	Current Time: 13:19:33							
	NTP Server: 0.0.0.0							
	ENIMD Communities							
	as swap communicies				2			
	Configure SNMP Communities							
	Read-Only Community: public							
	Read-Write Community: private							
	CINID Teen Manageme							
	SNMP Hap managers				2			

Figure 14-12. Downloading the AG2600 Receiver's Diagnostics and Log File

The diagnostics file will download, and a window will confirm when completed. Click on **OK**:



Figure 14-13. Diagnostics Download Completed

The diagnostic file will download to your PC, and you can send it to D2D for analysis.:

Logged in as: admin					Te	mperature: 39.1 C (102.4 F)	System Status	🚨 Logo	put
	Main Admin Reporting About								
	Admin Control Panel								
	🔑 Change Password 📄 Profiles । SNMP MIBs 💿 Diagnostics	📑 Update Unit	📑 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Defaults	Enabl	e UID			
	AG 26928 - PID/Service Hiter License AG 26991 - DVB-CI Multi-Service Descrambling		No	Unlicensed	0	-			
	ft Date / Time								
	Onfigure Date / Time					2			
	Update Mode:         Manual           Current Date:         07/31/2023           Current Time:         13:31:44           NTP Server:         0.0.0								
	si SNMP Communities				\$				
	Configure SNMP Communities								
	Read-Only Community: public Read-Write Community: private								
	snMP Trap Managers				\$	3			
	() Configure SNMP Managers								
	SNMP Managers								
	Systeg				8	Ţ			
diagnostics (8).txt								Show all	×

Figure 14-14. Diagnostics File Downloaded to PC

The user can also download and view the receiver's log using Notepad or similar application. On the Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receiver's GUI, click on the **Reporting** tab, then click on **Logs**, and then click on **Download**:

<b>Sencore</b>	AG26	600								
Logged in as: admin	_					Temperature:	43.2 C (109.8 F)	I Sy	rstern Status	a Logou
	Main	Admin Reporting	About							
	Reportin	ng Control Panel								
	Alarms	Logs	-				🎲 Configure			
	🔧 Refree	sh 📑 Clear 📑 E	lownload							
	Severity	Timestamp	Transition	Location	Message					
	0	2023-08-14 12:16:15	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:16:09	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					
	0	2023-08-14 12:16:07	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:16:03	0	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					
	0	2023-08-14 12:16:01	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:15:53	0	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					
	0	2023-08-14 12:15:51	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:15:47	0	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					
	0	2023-08-14 12:15:45	0	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:14:43	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					
	0	2023-08-14 12:14:41	٢	Unit	Transport Error Indicator OK					
	0	2023-08-14 12:14:27	0	Unit	Transport Error Indicator Errored					

Figure 14-15. Downloading the Logs to your PC

Once downloaded, the logs may be viewed using Notepad, or similar application:

🥘 log - No	otepad									
File Edit	Format View Help									
Date/Ti	me Created:	08/14/20	023-12:10	5:19						
Unit Al	ias:									
Unit Se	rial No.:	7073250	R11							
Unit IP	Address:	192.168	.1.201							
Index	Timestamp	Severity	y	Trans	sition	Locatio	n Me	essage		
1	08/14/2023-12:1	6:17	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
2	08/14/2023-12:1	6:15	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
3	08/14/2023-12:10	6:09	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
4	08/14/2023-12:10	6:07	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
5	08/14/2023-12:10	6:03	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
6	08/14/2023-12:10	6:01	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
7	08/14/2023-12:1	5:53	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
8	08/14/2023-12:1	5:51	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
9	08/14/2023-12:1	5:47	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
10	08/14/2023-12:1	5:45	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
11	08/14/2023-12:14	4:43	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
12	08/14/2023-12:14	4:41	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
13	08/14/2023-12:14	4:27	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
14	08/14/2023-12:14	4:25	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
15	08/14/2023-12:1	3:31	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
16	08/14/2023-12:1	3:29	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
17	08/14/2023-12:12	1:35	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
18	08/14/2023-12:12	1:33	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
19	08/14/2023-12:12	1:05	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
20	08/14/2023-12:12	1:03	Error	Went	Good	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	OK
21	08/14/2023-12:10	0:07	Error	Went	Bad	Unit	Transport	Error	Indicator	Errored
<b>)</b> )	08/14/2023-12:10	9:05	Frror	Went	Good	Unit	Transnort	Frror	Indicator	OK

Figure 14-16. Viewing the Logs Using Notepad

#### 14.11 Swapping the Groomer Cards

As received from the factory Groomer A is installed in slot 2, and Groomer B is installed in slot 8 (although the user may change these assignments if desired to customize the openGear frame). Whether these groomer slot assignments are changed or kept as received, each groomer card should remain in its assigned slot. The cards should not be swapped. If the cards are removed, the user should take care to reinstall the groomers in their correct slots.

Although it may be helpful to swap the groomer cards when troubleshooting an issue, care must be exercised. It is not as simple as just reconfiguring their IP addresses and groomer pair communication assignments. Swapping the groomer cards is not recommended without contacting D2D Customer Support.

#### 14.12 Viewing and Downloading the Groomer's Logs

### Note: The system date and time must be accurate for the log's time and date stamp to be accurate. Check the Date and Time configuration on the Systems Settings page.

Each Groomer's logs may be viewed on its **Logs** page. Ticking the box next to **Filter Enable** will open a window where the logged events may be filtered for display. Logged events may be filtered by selecting **Status Changes**, **Alarm Events**, etc., at the top of the Logs page. For example, ticking the box **Filter Enable**, and **Alert Inserted**, and then clicking on **Apply Filter and Refresh Log** will display each time a WEA message was inserted into the station's broadcast stream:

= D2MANA	GE Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4	admin ~ D2D
NAVIGATION	Logs	
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration     System Settings	Filter Selections Filter Enable 2 Alarm Events Alarm Events Alarm Events Alert Received Alert Inserted 2 Search String (case sensitive)	~
Firmware     Logs     Freatures	Apply Filter and Refresh Log Previous Entries Next Entries Download Unfiltered Log	
<ul> <li>Support</li> <li>Diagnostics</li> </ul>	Aug 15 09 00.32 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 09 00.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 59.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 59.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 59.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 59.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2322(0x911) inserting Status=Normal Aug 15 08 57.02 (none)	

Figure 14-17. Displayed Log Filtered to Show Only Those Times an Alert Message was Inserted

The **Previous Entries** box may be checked, followed by clicking on **Apply Filter and Refresh Log**, to show the previous one thousand entries. This is useful when there are many log entries, such as when heartbeats are logged. Ticking the **Next Entries** box will bring the list back up by one thousand entries.

≡	D2.MANAC	GE Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4	admin ~ D2D
NAVIG/	TION	Logs	
nn । ⊛	D2WARN Status D2WARN Configuration	Filter Selections     Filter Enable     Log File Selection @       Status Changes     Alarm Events     Alert Received     Alert Inserted     Search String (case sensitive)	~
8	System Settings		
	Logs		
+	Features	Apply Filter and Refresh Log Deveload Unfiltered Log	
0	Support		
0	Diagnostics	Aug 15 01:21:53 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=22321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal	
		Aug 15 U12124 (DRM) U2Fekgudz; WAVK mag inserted successfully with a 10 u1(xx 1) message type=rus hearbeat and priority class=recruit and priority (22/22)(00/1) inserting Sature-Horman	
		Aug 15 01.20.3 (0000) 22/PR(02), WAR mon stead subsection with a 10 Aug (0000) mascan backets Related and an intervention of the 22.2 (0201) intervention of t	
		Aug 15 011953 (none) 027/sels02: WARN may insert successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pl=2221(0x911) instrang successfully with id 1041(0x11) message type=PB9 Heartbeat and priority clas	
		ug 15 011923 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal	
		Aug 15 01.18.53 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PB8 Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal	
		Aug 15 01.18.23 (none) D2Flex[802]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal	
		A LIN YE NY Y Y RANNA NY REAR MAD IN MADER made incorrected in watch of INTY (Not Y) masses have been	

Figure 14-18. Previous One Thousand Entries Displayed

It may be necessary to download the log and send it to D2D for troubleshooting. This can be accomplished as follows:

• Click the **Logs** button on the left side of the GUI. This will open the log page. Select which log you wish to download from the drop down menu under **Log File Selection**. Either the current log, or a log up to 30 days old may be chosen:

= D2MANAG	E Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4	admin v DOD
NAVIGATION	Logs	
D2WARN Status     D2WARN Configuration	Filter Selections Filter Enable	Log File Selection @
System Settings		Current Log July 27 2023 July 26 2023
Logs	Apply Filter and Refresh Log Previous Entries Next Entries	July 24 2023 Dow July 24 2023 July 22 2023 July 21 2023
+ Features		July 20 2023 July 19 2023
Support	Jul 28 09:43:52 (none) D2Flex[801]; WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal	July 18 2023 July 17 2023 July 16 2023 July 15 2023
Diagnostics	Jul 28 09:43:52 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=4 and pid=2321(0x911)	July 14 2023 July 13 2023
	Jul 28 09:43:22 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg Inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) Inserting Status=Normal	July 12 2023 July 11 2023
	Jul 28 09:43:22 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=4 and pid=2321(0x911)	July 10 2023 July 06 2023
	Jul 28 09:42:52 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) Inserting Status=Normal	
	Jul 28 09:42:52 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=4 and pid=2321(0x911)	
	Jul 28 09:42:22 (none) D2Flex[801]: WARN msg Inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) Inserting Status=Normal	
	Jul 28 09:42:22 (none) D2Flex/801]: WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=4 and pid=2321(0x911)	

Figure 14-19. Select Which Log to Download

- Scroll to the bottom and click the **Download** button.
- Clicking on the **Download** button will download the unfiltered logs to your PC. From there you can send the file to D2D.

Note: The downloaded log will be unfiltered. Clicking on a filter will have no effect.

兰 Groomer-A	x 🐏 Groomer-B x 🖉 AG2600 x 🖉 AG2600 x +	• -	٥
← → C ③ 192.168	3.2.205/logs/edit		1
= D2MANAG	E Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot: 4	admin ~	
NAVIGATION	Logs		
101 D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Configuration	Filter Selections Filter Enable 2 Log File Selection  Status Channes Alarm Events A		
🖁 System Settings	Current Log		~
Firmware			
E Cogo	Apply Filter and Refresh Log Previous Entries Download Unfiltered Log		
+ Features			
Support			
Diagnostics	May 24 11:29 22 (none) D2Flex(800): WARN msg Inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal		
	May 24 11:29:22 (none) D2Flex[800]: WARIN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=2 and pid=2321(0x911)		
	May 24 11:28:52 (none) D2Flex[800]; WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2321(0x911) inserting Status=Normal		
	May 24 11:28:52 (none) D2Flex[800]: WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=2 and pid=2321(0x911)		
	May 24 11:28:22 (none) D2Flex[800]: WARN msg inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Hearbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2221(0x911) inserting Status=Normal		
	May 24 11:28:22 (none) D2Flex[80]; WARN msg Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=2 and pid=2321(0x011)		
	May 2411:27.52 (none) D2Flex[B00]: WARIN mag inserted successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for pid=2221(0x011) inserting Status=Normal		
	May 24 11:27:52 (none) D2FRex[000] VARIN msg Received successfully with (1404 (0x411) message type=PBS Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=2 and pid=2321 (0x911)		
	Mig 24112/22 (mon) U24eguog wave mg inserted successtupy with in U4 (1411) message byseves neutroext and visition for provide 222 (UVCH) inserting Status+kommai Mig 24112/22 (mon) U24eguog wave mg inserted successtupy with in U4 (1411) message byseves neutroext and visition inserted successful wave many status+kommai Mig 24112/22 (mon) U24eguog wave mg inserted successful with int 141/04/1411 message byseves U24eguog wave many status+kommai Mig 24112/22 (mon) U24eguog wave mg inserted successful with int 141/04/1411 message byseves U24eguog wave mg interview of the U24eguog		
	mg 2 + 1 + 2 + 2 mmg lost negos mente magnetization magnetiz		
	May 24 11:26:52 (none) D2Flex[800]. WARN mag Received successfully with id 1041(0x411) message type=PBB Heartbeat and priority class=Normal for port=2 and pid=2221(0x911)		
user (2).log		5	Show all
			_

Figure 14-20. Downloading the Log to your PC

#### 14.13 Groomer Log Alarm Messages and SNMP Trap Descriptions

Alarm Event: Broadcast Input not detected [SNMP Trap warnBroadcastInputSyncLoss 1010] Alarm Event: Broadcast Input detected [SNMP Trap warnBroadcastInputSyncLossClear 1011]

Alarm Event: Satellite Receiver Input not detected. Check receiver signal, alarms and logs [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrSyncLoss 1020] Alarm Event: Satellite Receiver Input detected [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrSyncLossClear 1021]

Alarm Event: Broadcast Input not detected [SNMP Trap warnBroadcastInputSyncLoss 1010] Alarm Event: Broadcast Input detected [SNMP Trap warnBroadcastInputSyncLossClear 1011]

Alarm Event: Satellite Receiver Input not detected. Check receiver signal, alarms and logs [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrSyncLoss 1020] Alarm Event: Satellite Receiver Input detected [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrSyncLossClear 1021]

Alarm Event: Alert message buffer overflow alarm cleared at startup or after configuration change [SNMP Trap warnWeaBufferOverflowClear 1061] Alarm Event: Alert message corruption alarm cleared at startup or after configuration change [SNMP Trap warnWeaMessageFormatErrorClear 1071]

Alarm Event: Video PID for inserting alarm cleared at startup or after configuration change [SNMP Trap warnNoVideoPidForInsertClear 1081] Alarm Event: Satellite communications alarm cleared at startup or after configuration change [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteCommClear 1111] Alarm Event: Groomer communication alarm cleared at startup or after configuration change [SNMP Trap warnGroomerPairCommClear 1121]

Alarm Event: Alert message buffer overflow alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnWeaBufferOverflowClear 1061] Alarm Event: Alert message buffer overflow, possible insufficient NULL packets[SNMP Trap warnWeaBufferOverflow 1060] Alarm Event: Alert message corruption alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnWeaMessageFormatErrorClear 1071] Alarm Event: Alert message corrupted. Check satellite receiver signal, alarms and logs [SNMP Trap warnWeaMessageFormatError 1070] Alarm Event: Alert messsage reception has failed. Check satellite receiver signal. alarms and logs [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrWeaMinTimeout 1040] Alarm Event: Alert message failure alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrWeaMinClear 1041] Alarm Event: Alert messages not detected, timeout warning alarm activated. Check satellite receiver signal, alarms and logs [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrWeaSecTimeout 1030] Alarm Event: Alert messages detected. Timeout warning alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteRcvrWeaSecclear 1031] Alarm Event: Groomer communication alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnGroomerPairCommClear 1121] Alarm Event: Cannot communicate with Groomer pair. Check IP addresses for both groomers [SNMP Trap warnGroomerPairCommFailure 1120] Alarm Event: Satellite communications alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteCommClear 1111] Alarm Event: Cannot communicate with satellite receiver card. Check receiver IP address, alarms and logs. [SNMP Trap warnSatelliteCommFailure 1110] Alarm Event: Video PID for inserting alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnNoVideoPidForInsertClear 1081] Alarm Event: Video PID for inserting not detected, Check PID replacement configuration [SNMP Trap warnNoVideoPidForInsertTimeout 1080] Alarm Event: Alert message detected in Primary broadcast input alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnWeaMsgInBroadcastClear 1131] Alarm Event: Alert message detected in Primary broadcast input [SNMP Trap warnWeaMsgInBroadcast 1130 Alarm Event: Bypass relay lock alarm is cleared [SNMP Trap warnBypassLockdownClear 1151] Alarm Event: System is locked into Bypass Relay Mode. Power reset of this Groomer is required. [SNMP Trap warnBypassLockdown 1150] Alarm Event: EIT/ETT missing alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnMissingEitEttPidClear 1161] Alarm Event: EIT and/or ETT PIDs for inserting not detected. Check PID replacement configuration [SNMP Trap warnMissingEitEttPid 1160] Alarm Event: EIT/ETT PID insert alarm cleared [SNMP Trap warnEitEttPidInsertingClear 1171] Alarm Event: EIT/ETT PID inserting activated. Broadcast input may have insufficient NULL packets. [SNMP Trap warnEitEttPidInserting 1170] Alarm Event: Video PID inserting alarm cleared. [SNMP Trap warnVideoPidInsertingClear 1181] Alarm Event: Video PID inserting activated. Broadcast input may have insufficient NULL packets. [SNMP Trap warnVideoPidInserting 1180] Alarm Event: Fans OK and openGear Door closed [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearFanClear 1101] Alarm Event: openGear Fans status set to OK at startup [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearFanClear 1101] Alarm Event: Fan alarmed or openGear door open [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearFanFailure 1100] Alarm Event: openGear Power Supply 1 OK [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearPowerSupply1Clear 1091] Alarm Event: openGear Power Supply 1 Alarm [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearPowerSupply1Failure 1090]

Alarm Event: openGear Power Supply 2 OK [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearPowerSupply2Clear 1095] Alarm Event: openGear Power Supply 2 Alarm [SNMP Trap warnOpenGearPowerSupply2Failure 1094] Alarm Event: Cannot communicate with openGear chassis, check IP address [SNMP Trap warnopenGearCommAlarm 1000] Alarm Event: openGear chassis communication OK [SNMP Trap warnopenGearCommAlarmClear 1001]

#### 14.14 System Fails Over to Backup Groomer

The Primary Groomer may occasionally fail over to the Backup Groomer for seemingly no reason. This can occur during a rain fade if Receiver A loses carrier lock for an extended length of time. Each receiver's logs can be viewed to determine if Receiver A has lost carrier lock. Instructions on how to view and download each receiver's log can be found previously in this Section under: **Downloading the Sencore Satellite Receiver's Diagnostics and Logs.** 

Reversing the L-Band cables into the receivers, so that the C/N and margin shown on Receiver A is higher than on Receiver B, may alleviate this issue.

#### **14.15 Groomer Diagnostics**

In the event of a problem each groomer has the ability to generate and download a diagnostic package. The diagnostic package may be downloaded and sent to D2D for analysis. Click on the **Diagnostics** button on the left side of the GUI. This will open up the **Diagnostic** page. From there you can click on the button **Build and Download the Diagnostic Package.** The diagnostic package will download to your PC, and you can send this to D2D for analysis.

👥 Groomer-A	X         M Groomer-B         X         ≤ AG2600	×   ≶ AG2600 ×   +	- 0 ×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\blacktriangle$ Not secure	192.168.1.164/diagnostic/		• Q 🖈 😫 :
= D2MANA	GE Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 2195	33130 Slot: 10	admin v DOD
NAVIGATION	Diagnostic		
D2WARN Status			
D2WARN Configuration	Diagnostic Package 🚱		
묾 System Settings	Build and Download Diagnostic Package		
Firmware			
Logs			
+ Features			
Support			
B Diagnostics	<u> </u>		
	1970-2 D2D Technologies		
d2mux3k_og-040gpg	$^{\sim}$		Show all 🗙

Figure 14-21. Downloading the Diagnostic Package of Groomer A

### 15 Fan Filter Maintenance

#### 15.1 Cleaning the Air Filter

Routine maintenance of the fan filter installed in the OG3-FR series frame is highly recommended to ensure proper airflow through the chassis. The OG3-FR series frame has a single air filter that is used to prevent dust and airborne particulates from contaminating the frame. This filter should be cleaned at least once a year; but may need to be cleaned more frequently in some environments.

To Clean the Air Filter follow the procedure, below:

1. Remove the Air Filter from the Frame as follows. Locate the four 3/16"screws (#850-091R) on the frame door faceplate. Refer to the figure, shown below, for screw locations.



Figure 15-1. Location of Faceplate Screws

- 2. Remove the four screws that secure the faceplate.
- 3. Ensure that the side door tabs are disengaged from the door.
- **4.** Remove the faceplate by gently pulling it towards you while avoiding the Diagnostic LED Display, the toggle buttons, and the monitoring LED
- 5. Gently remove the air filter off the metal protective screen that separates the filter from the fans.
- 6. Brush any loose dust off of the filter.
- 7. Place the filter under warm running water to remove any remaining dust. On one side of the filter is a foam filter material. When rinsing, water should flow out of this side
- 8. Remove the filter from the water and thoroughly pat dry with a towel to remove any moisture.
- **9.** Replace the clean, dry filter into the frame door as follows. Place the clean air filter across the metal protective screen, orienting it in the same position you found it in during step 1.
- **10.** Install the faceplate by gently fitting it back onto the frame door, ensuring the faceplate does not interfere with the Diagnostic LED Display, the toggle button, and the monitoring LED.
- 11. Verify that the side door tabs are seated properly in the cutouts on the frame door bracket.
- 12. Using a Phillips screwdriver, secure the faceplate using the four screws removed during step 1.

### 16 Cyber Security

#### 16.1 Overview

Both the Groomers and Sencore Satellite Receivers in the WARN system can be protected from unauthorized access by requiring passwords to access their GUI's. As received from the factory the Groomers have a default password, and the Sencore receivers have no password (unprotected). In addition to the GUI, SSH access is possible. It is therefore recommended that stations keep their WARN system(s) disconnected from the internet.

It is also recommended that stations change the default passwords, or set passwords, for additional security. In the case of the Sencore receivers, it is further recommended to turn off SSH access. Instructions for changing and setting passwords, and turning off SSH access are provided in this section. Also covered are changing SNMP communities.

#### 16.2 Changing the Groomer's GUI Password

Although the security risk is low, it is recommended that the GUI password for each Groomer be changed from the default as received from the factory. This is accomplished by logging into each Groomer, clicking on the **admin** drop down menu found on the GUI's banner, and selecting **Account Settings**:

≡	D2MANAG	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 219	533130 Slot: 4			admin ~	
NAVIG	TION	D2WARN Status				Welcomet	
<b>a</b> 0a	2WARN Status		Here below		University Press	옷 Account Settings	
٢	2WARN Configuration	internal Temperature: 61.52 C 🤂	Max Intern	ai Temperature: 66.44 C 🕑	uptime: 21 Days 23	[→ Logout	
8	system Settings	Groomer-A Role: Primary Status: Alert Message Inserti	ng	Groomer-B Role: Backup Status: Alert Message	Monitoring		
٥	irmware	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🚱	Broadcast Input 🚱	Broadcast Output 🚱		
8	ogs		19.058 0	338 (19.087	0.310 (19.089		0.310
+	eatures	19.396 Mbps	19.396 Mbps	19.397 Mbps	1	9.399 Mbps	
~		Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert Message Heartbeat 🔞	Input from Satellite Receiver 🚱	Satellite Receiver Alert	Message Heartbeat 🚱	
U	upport	0.065 66.	83	0.041	66.811		
0	liagnostics	66.848 Mbps	15s	66.852 Mbps		14s	
		Last Alert Message: NONE		Revert Back to Primary Groomer			

Figure 16-1. Changing the Groomer's Password

A window will open where you can assign a new Username and Password to that Groomer:

	Account Settings	3	<pre></pre>
	Login Username		
	admin		
	Current Password		
	New Password		Backup State
Broade			ut 😡
19.051	Confirm Password		
Satellit			19.399
	Cano	el Save changes	66.849
		NeverLibr	to Primary Groc
		Last Alert I	Message: NONE

Figure 16-2. Entering a new Password for the Groomer

This procedure should be repeated for the other Groomer.

#### 16.3 Setting or Changing the Sencore Satellite Receiver's GUI Password

As received from the factory a password is not required to log into the Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receivers. it is recommended as a best practice to set a strong password for the AG2600 GUI.

### Note: Some Sencore Receivers with newer firmware have a default Password set. The password on those receivers is: mpeg101.

Setting a GUI password can be accomplished by logging into the GUI and setting a password on the **Admin** page. Open a browser and enter the IP address of Receiver A. The main page will open. Click the **Admin** tab, and then click **Change Password**. A new box will open where you can enter a new password. Click on **Apply** to finish:

		1										
<b>Sencore</b>	AG260	0										
Logged in as: admin	Main Admi	in Reporting	About						Temperature:	44.5 C (112.1 F)	System Status	a Logoi
	Admin Contro	l Panel										
<	Change Pass	sword Profil	ies 🛛 💿 SNMP MI	Bs 💿 Diagnos	tics		📑 Update Unit	🛒 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Defaults	i 🔘 Enable UID		
	회 General S	Settings								Ô		
	Configure	General Settings										
	Unit Alias: Protect BISS-E I PID Display Mod	Injected ID: de:	(No Alias) Yes Decimal									
	💋 Unit Netv	work Configurat	ion							0		
	Configure I	Nameservers	Primary Namese	rver: 192.168.10	0.1 Secondary N	lameserver: 0.0.0.0						
	Mode	IP Address	Subnet Mask	Gateway	Hostname	MAC						
	🎲 Static	192.168.1.201	255.255.255.0	192.168.1.1	(none)	00:06:4D:01:CC:7B				_		
	🤌 TACACS	+ Configuration								0		
	Configure	TACACS+	Status: Disabled	Server 1 (Primar	y): 0.0.0.0 Se	erver 2 (Secondary): 0.0.0.0						
	🗐 License I	Information								0		

Figure 16-3. Changing the Password of the Sencore Receiver

	🔌 Change Password	1
ļ	New Password: Confirm Password:	
8.		Apply Cancel

Figure 16-4. Entering a new Password for the Sencore Receiver

This procedure should be repeated for the other receiver.

#### 16.4 Turning Off the Sencore Receiver's SSH Access

Nearly all Sencore AG2600 Satellite Receivers shipped in station WARN systems were delivered with a software version that does not require a password to access the root account (also known as Secure Shell or SSH), meaning it is possible to access the Linux system without using any password. While it is best practice to keep your WARN system disconnected from the internet (which mitigates the risk of this vulnerability), this SSH vulnerability should be remediated to ensure your WARN system and wider network remain secure. The most direct path to secure the root account is to turn off SSH access.

To turn off SSH access connect a PC running Windows 10 or later (see connection instructions in Section 1) and open the command line. Alternatively, you may opt to use Putty or some other command line application.

It is recommended to perform these steps on Receiver B (Backup) first. In the command line enter:

#### ssh root@ipaddress

where **ipaddress** is the IP address of the receiver for which you wish to turn off SSH. For example, to turn off SSH for receivers using the factory default IP address, use the following commands:

For Receiver B: ssh root@192.168.2.208 For Receiver A: ssh root@192.168.2.207

# Note: These IP address are the default IP addresses for receivers A and B as received from the factory. If you have changed an IP address, the new IP address must be used. Also, the PC must be configured to be on the same subnet.

If this is the first time accessing SSH, a warning may appear. Type yes, and then hit **Enter**. To log in simply hit **Enter** again, as there is no password:



Figure 16-5. Accessing SSH for the First Time

If a warning does not appear, simply hit Enter to log in:



Figure 16-6. Logging Into the Root Account with No Password

Note: If you discover that a password is indeed in place, you may skip this entire procedure, as your root account is secure.

Next, to turn off SSH type rm /etc/rc.d/B65ssh and hit Enter:



Figure 16-7. Turning off SSH

The receiver must now be rebooted for the change to take effect. Log into the receiver's GUI (enter the receiver's IP address in a browser window) and click the **Admin** tab. Next, click **Reboot**. A window will appear asking if you are sure you want to reboot the unit. Click **Yes**.

	AG2600										^ _
Logged in as: admin	Main Admin R	eporting About					1	Temperature:	43.5 C (110.3 F) 🛛 🔘	System Status	a Logout
	Admin Control Panel										_
	🔑 Change Password	Profiles 🔁 SNMP	MIBs 💿 Diagnos	stics		📑 Update Unit	📑 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Defaults	Enable UID		- 1
	🗊 General Settings	3							۵		- 1
	Configure General	Settings									
	Unit Alias: Protect BISS-E Injected I PID Display Mode:	(No Alias) D: Yes Decimal									. 1
	🔊 Unit Network Co	onfiguration							0		
	💮 Configure Nameser	vers Primary Nam	eserver: 192.168.1	0.1 Secondary N	lameserver: 0.0.0.0						
	Mode IP Add	ress Subnet Mask	Gateway	Hostname	MAC						
	Static 192.16	68.1.201 255.255.255.0	192.168.1.1	(none)	00:06:4D:01:CC:7B						
	🤌 TACACS+ Confi	guration							0		
	💮 Configure TACACS	+ Status: Disabl	ed Server 1 (Prima	ıry): 0.0.0.0 Se	rver 2 (Secondary): 0.0.0.0						
	-	<i>n</i>									
	License Informa	tion							0		

Figure 16-8. Rebooting the Sencore Receiver



Figure 16-9. Confirm Rebooting the Sencore Receiver

The receiver will reboot, and you can log into its GUI again. If the GUI is unresponsive, clear your browser cache. With Windows 10 and higher this may be accomplished by typing Ctrl + Shift + R, or Ctrl + F5. Either will clear the cache. If that does not work, then the cache may be cleared by using the browser's settings.

You can now confirm that SSH has been turned off by attempting to log into the root account. This can be done as shown above, either by using the command line and entering:

For Receiver B: ssh root@192.168.2.208 For Receiver A: ssh root@192.168.2.207

Alternatively, you may use Putty to attempt to log into the root account.

With SSH turned off, if you try to access the root menu using the command line you should not receive the error below:



Figure 16-10. Using the Command Line to Log Into the Root Account with SSH Turned Off

If using Putty to log into the root account with SSH turned off you should see the error message, below:



Figure 16-11. Using Putty when Attempting to Log Into the Root Account with SSH Turned Off

This procedure should be repeated for Receiver A (Primary).

Once you have confirmed that SSH has been turned off for both receivers, log into either Groomer A or Groomer B. Depending on the timing when rebooting the primary receiver (Receiver A), it is possible the groomers in your WARN system will have failed over from primary to backup. This will be indicated by the OpenGear frame lightbar flashing yellow. Normal operation can be restored by logging into either groomer and clicking "**Revert Back to Primary Groomer**."



Figure 16-12. Reverting Back to the Primary Groomer (If Necessary)

*Note: The WARN system will only fail over when the groomers are configured for ASI – Failover Role Primary, and ASI – Failover Role Backup.* 

#### 16.5 Changing the SNMP Settings

In addition to communicating with an external alarm and monitoring system, the two groomers also use SNMP to communicate with each other as well as their corresponding Sencore Satellite Receiver. Although the security risk is very low, the user may wish to change the community names.

To change the groomer's SNMP community names, log into the groomer's GUI and go to the **Systems Settings** page. The rocommunity named and rwcommunity names may be entered, and saved:

= D2Manag	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 215	7533130 Slot: 4			admin ~ D2D
NAVIGATION					
D2WARN Status	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway				
System Settings	General Settings Hostname 🕢	ASI Out Burst Mode 🚱			
Firmware	GroomerA	Enabled	~		
Logs	Save General Settings				
+ Features  G Support					
Diagnostics	rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 😡	trapcommunity	
	puone	private	192.108.1.107	public	
	Save SNMP Settings				

Figure 16-13. Changing the Groomer's SNMP Name

Each Sencore satellite receiver uses SNMP to communicate its status to its associated groomer. For this purpose, the Read-Only Community (rocommunity) is used. The rocommunity name may be changed if desired. To change the Read Only Community name on the Sencore receiver, open its GUI and click on the Admin tab:

Sencore	AG2600						
Logged in as: admin				Temperature: 3	19.7 C (103.5 F) 🛛 🔵	System Status	a Logout
	Main Admin Reporting About					_	
	Admin Control Panel						
	Achange Password 📄 Profiles 🛓 SNMP MIBs 🕑 Diagnostics	📑 Update Unit	🛒 Reboot	🤹 Reset to Defa	aults   🔘 Enable UID		
	🗊 General Settings				0		
	i Configure General Settings						
	Unit Alias: (No Alias) Protect BISS-E Injected ID: Yes PID Display Mode: Decimal						

Figure 16-14. Opening the Admin Page

Click the Settings icon, and a new window will open:

x SNMP Communities	۵
Configure SNMP Communities	
Read-Only Community: public	
Read-Write Community: private	

Figure 16-15. Configuring the SNMP Communities

Enter the new **Read-Only Community** name and click **Apply**:

≍ SNMP Community St	trings	
Read-Only Community:	public	
Read-Write Community:	private	
	Apply Cancel	

Figure 16-16. Changing the Read-Only Community Name

### Note: The Sencore receiver's SNMP Read-Write community is not used by the WARN system. This would only be used by the station's external monitoring and control system.

If the Sencore receiver's Read-Only SNMP community name is changed, it must also be changed on the corresponding groomer. To change the SNMP community name to match the community name configured on the receiver, log into the groomer's GUI and open the **D2WARN Configuration** page. The community name may be changed under: **Cards this Groomer Communicates With**. Enter the same community name that was entered for the Sencore receiver in the previous step:

= D2MANAC	Groomer-A o	penGear Frame ID: 219533130 Slot				
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration			/		
alt D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Commu	nicates With 😧				
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type	Device Name	IP Address 🕜	SNMP recomposity D	Connection Test (click Save before clicking Check)	
器 System Settings	Satellite Receiver	← Receiver-A	192.168.1.201	public	Check 192.168.1.201	
Firmware	Groomer	✓ Orobiner®	102.168.1.164	public	Check 192.168.1.164	
Logs						
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and	Failover Settings for This Groomer				
<ul> <li>Support</li> </ul>	Standard Configurations 🕜					
	ASI Flow - Fallover Role Primary					
<ul> <li>Diagnosics</li> </ul>	Broadcast Stream Input 🚱					
	4014					

Figure 16-17. Changing the Read-Only Community Name for the Sencore Receiver

Scroll to the bottom of the page and click Save, or simply hit Enter on the PC.

With WARN systems configured to operate with a Primary and Backup Groomer (ASI – Failover Role Primary, and ASI – Failover Role Backup), SNMP is used to communicate the status of one groomer to its corresponding groomer. Note that his only applies to systems running ASI with internal failover.

Each groomer in a WARN system has a SNMP rocommunity name which is entered on its **Systems Settings** page:

≡	D2Manage	Groomer-A openGear Frame ID: 234582075 Slot: 2					
NAVIGA	TION	192.168.1.1					
oŪ0 (	2WARN Status						
© [	2WARN Configuration	Save Rear Panel Eth1 and System Gateway					
88 8	system Settings	General Settings					
@ F	irmware	Hostname 🚱	ASI Out Burst Mode 🚱				
Ξ.	ogs	d2warn-40390	Enabled				
+ 1	eatures	Save General Settings					
0 5	support						
0 (	liagnostics	SNMP Settings rocommunity	rwcommunity	trapsink 🚱	trapcommunity		
		public	private	192.168.1.199	public		
		Save SNMP Settings					

Figure 16-18. In this Example the rocommunity Name for Groomer A is Set on its Systems Settings Page

For WARN systems with internal failover, that same rocommunity name must be entered on the <u>other</u> groomer's **D2WARN Configuration** page, under **Cards This Groomer Communicates With**:

= D2MANAG	Groomer-B openGear Frame ID: 234582	075 Slot: 8		admin ~ D2D
NAVIGATION	D2WARN Configuration			
alla D2WARN Status	Cards this Groomer Communicates With			
D2WARN Configuration	Device Type Device Name	IP Address 🚱	SNMP rocommunity 🕜 Connection Test (click Save b	efore clicking Check)
😽 System Settings	Satellite Receiver ··· Receiver-B	192.168.1.204	public Check 192.168.1.204	
Firmware	Groomer V Groomer-A	192.168.1.165	public Check 192.168.1.165	
Logs				
+ Features	Broadcast Stream Flow and Failover Settings for This	roomer		
Support	Standard Configurations 🚱			
Diagnostics	ASI Flow - Failover Role Backup		~	
• Didghobildo	Broadcast Stream Input 🚱			

Figure 16-19. The Read-Only Community Name must also be Entered on Groomer B

If a groomer's SNMP rocommunity name is changed on its **Systems Settings** page, it must also be changed on its associated groomer's **D2WARN Configuration** page under **Cards this Groomer Communicates With**.

Note that a groomer's rocommunity name may also used by a station's monitoring system. The rocommunity name on a groomer's **Systems Settings** page, and on its associated groomer's **D2WARN Configuration** page under **Cards this Groomer Communicates With**, and the stations monitoring system (if used) must all match.

### 17 FAQs

Why are there two User Interfaces (GUIs): one for Groomer A and one for Groomer B? Are they the same?

Each groomer has its own GUI because that GUI may be configured as the Primary or Backup. Each GUI shows the status of both groomers when configured for internal failover (Primary and Backup), however any **Configuration** or **System Settings** changes to a groomer must be made via that groomer's GUI.

Is it possible to reboot the system remotely?

You can reset the groomers by pressing the **Restart Unit** button on the **System Settings** page.

Can I use the empty openGear slots for other (non-WARN) modules?

Yes, the frame's power supplies can support a fully loaded frame. Make sure there is adequate space for cooling.

Can the WARN system be operated in bypass mode?

Yes. Bypass mode can be configured using the D2WARN Configuration page, or by simply powering down the unit.

How does Bypass mode work?

When configured for Bypass, the groomer's bypass relay will deenergize connecting the ASI input directly to the ASI output. This also happens if the WARN system is unplugged or powered down. Note that Bypass does not work in any of the IP configurations.

On the ASI version, does the ASI signal pass if the groomer card is removed?

No, if one of the groomer cards is removed it will not pass the ASI signal. The bypass relay is located on each groomer card. The system would need to be "jumpered around."

Should I use a Windows PC or Mac to access the system's GUIs?

You may use either, however an issue existed with early firmware releases which may cause the groomer to not upload firmware when using a Mac. Firmware released in June 2021 corrected this issue.

Why is it recommended that the D2WARN system be installed immediately after the encoder and any PSIP generation, prior to any other data inserting devices (Datacasting, Water-markers, Nielson boxes, etc.)?"

The WARN system is designed so that the station can meet their FCC requirements with minimal impact on its broadcast stream. This recommended equipment order was chosen to prioritize what is important to the station. Video and guide information is the highest priority.

If the WARN system is not first in line, it is not installed as designed. The WARN system is designed to have as little impact as possible on the station's broadcast stream. It opportunistically replaces null packets when they are available. WARN equipment is designed to be first in line after the encoder and guide information. If it is installed downstream it can't work in the least impactful way.

If the WARN system is installed downstream, after Datacasting services, Water-markers, Nielsen, etc., there may not be sufficient null packets available to insert alert messages as required by the FCC. In this case the WARN system will start dropping ETT, EIT, and video information (in that order).

Why does my system fail over to the backup groomer?

The Primary Groomer may occasionally fail over to the Backup Groomer for seemingly no reason. This can occur during an extended rain fade if the signal level feeding Receiver A is slightly lower than that feeding Receiver B. Reversing the L-Band cables into the receivers, so that the C/N and margin shown on Receiver A is higher than on Receiver B, will alleviate this issue.

Where and when would we look for PID 0x911?

A transport stream analyzer at the output of the WARN system may show PID 0x911. However, many analyzers cannot capture PID 911 because it is not constant and is a very low data rate burst. The absence of PID 911 on a transport analyzer is not necessarily an indication that the WARN system is not inserting. Contact D2D Support for assistance if you would like verification that your WARN system is inserting PID 911.

Our system is on line and everything looks good with green lights on both groomers, both satellite receivers locked, and a blue light bar on the openGear frame. However, our Transport Stream Analyzer doesn't see a 0x911 PID inserted into our table.

Depending on your TS analyzer, the PID may show up as "Private Data," "unknown," or a ghost PID. It is also possible that it could show up as decimal 2321. There is also the likelihood that it may not show up at all, and if it does show up it may be for less than a second due to its bursty nature and low data rate.

Where and when should we look for alert messages?

The D2WARN Status page will display the priority level of alert messages being inserted.

As far as timing, there are two different kinds of "heartbeats" as follows:

- (1) Every 30 seconds the WARN system in the PBS NOC broadcasts a single 188-byte MPEG packet with a header flag indicating that the packet is a heartbeat. The 30 second heartbeats do contain a payload. The payload is simply ASCII text that says "Heartbeat Message." If this heartbeat packet is not received at a member station every 40 seconds, the local member station equipment will throw an alarm.
- (2) Every 60 seconds, FEMA (usually) transmits something they call a "Link Test". This is a multi-packet XML message of around 3kBytes with a payload that basically says "I'm a Link Test, Your Connection to FEMA is alive". Unfortunately, FEMA doesn't guarantee Link Tests will always be every 60 seconds. Sometimes it is once every 120 seconds.

Will the system accept an external reference?

No, and external reference is not required.

Can the video processor add the ATSC PSIP descriptor to properly ID PID data? Currently WARN PID 0x911, when monitoring a TS analyzer, will display a 'ghost,' or "unknown" PID.

That feature is not currently envisioned, but we can add that to the list of possible future features

Can the WARN system be controlled by the DashBoard?

No. The main user interface will be each Groomer's or Satellite Receiver's web GUI. DashBoard may only be used to set or change IP addresses. The Dash Board system requires Java, and we are attempting to deliver a solution that does not require member stations to install Java.

If someday PBS decides to drop satellite delivery, does this end the WARN program?

No, it does not. WARN will be supported on any new distribution platform used by PBS. From a hardware standpoint, the new system can also accept data from any IP or ASI source in place of satellite.

Can the new system feed the WARN message into multiplexer (mux), without passing the station's program?

Yes. This is called No Input Mode and can be configured from the groomer's **D2WARN Configuration** page. In this mode WARN messages are inserted at a rate that will not exceed 150 kbps. The output of the groomer will also be capped at approximately 150 kbps. This mode is typically used when the output of the system is fed into a multiplexer along with the station's broadcast feed. The groomer's output is a low data rate, unreferenced PID. Consult your equipment manufacturer's Technical Support for assistance configuring your station's mux.

What is the data rate of the WARN messages as transmitted with our program stream?

WARN messages are seldom transmitted. When a message is transmitted it is of very short duration, resulting in an average data rate of less than 1 kbps.

Can the groomer cards be swapped? That is, put Groomer A in Groomer B's slot and vice versa?

Yes, although care must be exercised. It is not as simple as just reconfiguring their IP addresses and groomer pair communication assignments. Do not attempt to swap the groomer cards without contacting D2D Customer Support.